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2. Performance Report
2.1

Overview

Who We Are
Dorset HealthCare is responsible for all community and mental health services across Dorset. We
serve a population of almost 700,000 people, employing around 5,000 staff covering a range of
expertise and specialisms. The Trust’s income is approximately £253 million.
The Trust has a large and geographically spread estate, providing services from over 300 sites
ranging from village halls and GP surgeries to small to medium-sized mental health in-patient
hospitals to single ward community hospitals located in market towns. The services provided by the
Trust are diverse and constantly evolving to meet the changing needs of the local population.
We run Dorset's 12 community hospitals and the minor injuries units - as well as providing adult and
children's community and mental health services, healthcare in Devon and Dorset's prisons,
specialist learning disability services, community brain injury services, addiction services and
community dental services.
Our community health services encompass: district nurses, health visitors, school nursing, end of
life care, sexual health promotion, safeguarding children, diabetes education, audiology, speech
and language therapy, dermatology, podiatry, orthopaedic services, wheelchair services, anticoagulation services, pulmonary rehab, Early Discharge Stroke services, Parkinsons, community
oncology and breastfeeding support services.
Dorset HealthCare became a Foundation Trust on 1st April 2007. We are regulated by NHS
Improvement (the body formed from the merger of Monitor and the NHS Trust Development Agency
from 1 April 2016), which authorises and regulates NHS Foundation Trusts and supports their
development, ensuring they are well-governed and financially robust.
The arrangements by which the Trust is governed are reviewed in section 3.1 of this Report.
Overview of 2015/16
It has been a challenging and eventful year for the Trust and the NHS in general.
The well-publicised financial challenges affecting the NHS, the ever-increasing demand for services
and the continuing shortages in key groups of staff have set the context for a demanding year for
the Trust. However, the Trust has risen to the challenge. The CQC inspection in June reflected the
overall progress being made in improving service quality in many areas, whilst setting a clear
agenda for change and improvement in those areas where we have to do better. The external
governance review against the Well-Led Framework charted the progress that we have made in
developing the infrastructure of the organisation.
One of the key challenges, and risks, that we identified for the year was the delivery of the financial
plan for the year. The Trust delivered a deficit of £1.9m which was less than planned for the year
(£2.2m), despite a considerable investment in service quality and the infrastructure of the
organisation. Investment plans will need to continue over the coming year as we improve patient
environments that are no longer fit for purpose. The continuing financial challenges facing the NHS
will, however, continue to impact on what the Trust can achieve.
Despite these financial challenges the Trust continued to deliver high standards of care. Difficulties
in recruiting staff, and the potential impact that this could have were recognised as a key risk over
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the year. Whilst recruitment challenges continued throughout 2015/16 in certain key staff groups,
the internal assurance systems enabled continued oversight of the quality of care provided.
Recruiting sufficient staff across all employee groups will continue as a challenge in 2016/17.
The landscape is likely to become even more challenging and uncertain for the Trust. The Dorset
Clinical Commissioning Group’s (CCG) Clinical Services Review on the future of the NHS in the
county and the first Sustainability and Transformation Plan for Dorset will progress during the
coming year. Both have the potential to change the landscape of public services in the County.
The progress that the Trust has made gives every confidence that the commitment of our staff will
ensure services of high quality continue to be provided now and into the future. On this basis, after
making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Trust has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they
continue to adopt the ‘going concern’ basis in preparing the accounts.
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2.2 Performance Analysis
The Trust has, over the last 12 months, continued its journey towards its goal of becoming an
exemplary organisation delivering high quality services.
The last year has seen an important test of the progress that we are making, with two major
inspections of the Trust.
The CQC inspection in June 2015 gave the Trust an important opportunity to receive an
independent view of the quality of its services, benchmarked against national standards. A team of
113 inspectors visited Trust services over a week, producing an overarching inspection report and
16 individual reports focussing on core and specialist services. The inspection reports were
published in October 2015.
The Trust received a rating in each of the CQC’s five domains as well as an overall rating. In terms
of the rating for each domain, the Trust received the following
Safe
Effective
Caring
Responsive
Well-Led

Requires improvement
Requires improvement
Good
Requires improvement
Requires improvement

In overall terms, the Trust was rated as ‘requiring improvement’.
Of the 16 individual reports published on core and specialist services, two were rated as
‘outstanding’, four as ‘good’ and 10 as ‘requires improvement’. No service was rated as
‘inadequate’.
The key points in the inspection reports included:


the two areas of concern identified in respect of CAMHS in Weymouth and Portland
and Bournemouth and Christchurch, and the Minor Injuries Units in Weymouth,
Portland and Bridport



the prompt response of the Trust in responding to these concerns and the confidence
that this had given the inspection team that it was an organisation that would act
when issues were identified



the significant variation and inconsistencies in the planning and delivery of some
services



the inconsistent quality of records in some of the community services



the high levels of detentions in mental health rehabilitation services



41 areas of good practice that had been identified and an ‘outstanding’ rating
awarded to the inpatient mental health service



A recognition of Trust staff as being caring, enthusiastic and committed



the positive, passionate and energetic approach of the new Board, demonstrating a
positive attitude and commitment to driving clinical improvement across the Trust
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the positive engagement with stakeholders, which was a significant improvement on
the historic relationships



the high quality governance system in place within the Trust.

Reflecting on the conclusions of the review, the Trust recognised that improvements needed to be
made in five key areas:






CAMHS
The Minor Injuries Units
The Mental Health Crisis Service
Older People’s Mental Health Services / Community
End of Life Care.

The Trust has put in place plans to address the comments made by the inspection team. Further
details on the inspection and the action taken by the Trust are set out in Chapter 4 of this documentQuality Account and Report 2015/16.
The CQC re-visited the Trust in March 2016 to gauge the progress being made on the action plans
in these key areas. At the time of writing, the report of the visit is awaited.
Action to be taken to address a number of the issues identified by the CQC form an integral part of
our investment priorities. The Board concluded during the year that early investment was required in
patient environments that were not fit for purpose. Early priorities were agreed as:






investment in the psychiatric intensive care unit at St Ann’s Hospital in Poole
developing a sustainable solution for the Trust’s older people’s services
addressing acute mental health inpatient services in the west of the county
investigating the possible expansion of acute beds
resolving the issue of shared bedrooms for women at St Ann’s Hospital, Poole

These were all considered by the Board to be unavoidable commitments that are essential to
address those patient environments not fit for purpose. The Board agreed these investments must
be the first call on the Trust cash balances.
The Trust also commissioned a review of its governance arrangements against the Monitor Well-led
Framework. This review is required under the regulatory arrangements set by Monitor and provided
an opportunity for the Trust to receive an independent assessment of the enhanced governance
processes and systems introduced over the last 18 months.
The report on the review, published in October 2015, identified 17 recommendations. In concluding
that there were no material concerns, the report commented that:
‘The Trust has built a good governance structure that is conceptually sound, incorporating
leading edge practices in risk management and board assurance’.
Oversight of the quality and effectiveness of the services inspected, and others delivered by the
Trust, is monitored through the performance management framework of the organisation (which is
addressed in more detail in section 3.1). Key to this is the consideration by the Board, on a monthly
basis, of an integrated corporate dashboard. This sets out the key performance measures that have
been identified by the Board and tracks progress over the course of the year.
The dashboard sets out performance measures and progress under each of the CQC domains:whether or not the Trust is
11







safe
effective
caring
well-led
responsive

Core measures within the dashboard reflect the three domains of quality-patient experience, patient
safety and clinical effectiveness.
The Trust is increasingly turning its attention to considering its impact on the environment and the
challenge of sustainability.
During the year, the Trust published the first sustainability policy for the organisation. This sets out
key considerations, responsibilities and areas for attention by the Trust in respect of energy and
carbon management, procurement and food, travel and transport, water, waste, building design,
organisation and workforce development, partnerships and networks, governance and finance.
During 2016/17 this will be taken forward through the delivery of a sustainable development
implementation plan.
The Trust has continued to develop its contribution to equality, diversity and human rights issues
both within the organisation and the County as a whole. Details of the action taken and the relevant
Trust policies are set out in Section 3.3 of this report. The Trust continues to be committed to
delivering equality and diversity in the organisation and Dorset. The Trust has set clear goals to
continue to work with national and local partners to achieve the best outcomes for patients, staff and
the local community.
In recognition of the progress made, the Access and Equalities Development Team were awarded
an Outstanding Achievement Award for their contribution to the BME Community of Bournemouth
and Poole. This award was particularly valued by the Trust as it was voted for by the community.
The Trust has continued to develop the services that it offers and invest in new facilities. We have
been able to develop a range of initiatives and services over the year for the benefit of patients.
These have included:


New care ‘hub’ transforms services for people in Weymouth and Portland
A pioneering partnership project is helping to deliver faster, more joined-up care for the frail,
the elderly and people with long-term health problems in the Weymouth area.
The Weymouth and Portland Integrated Care Hub, based at Westhaven Hospital, was
established by Dorset Healthcare, in partnership with NHS Dorset CCG, local GPs, Dorset
County Council, Dorset County Hospital and the South Western Ambulance Trust. Based at
Westhaven Hospital, it promotes closer working to deliver the right support to people at the
right time – and as close to home as possible.



New services unveiled at Westminster Memorial Hospital in Shaftesbury
Westminster Memorial Hospital unveiled its new and improved facilities, following an
extensive refurbishment made possible by funding from the Trust and generous support from
the League of Friends. The improvements included an upgraded group therapy room with a
kitchenette and a day room overlooking the Melbury Beacon and Fontmell Downs for all
patients to access. An additional one-on-one therapy room and a new consulting room
named the ‘Wellbeing’ room for all clinicians to access were also opened.
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New therapy suite opened for children in East Dorset
An innovative new therapy suite has opened at Dorset HealthCare’s Seastone House in East
Dorset to provide therapeutic treatment for children with learning disabilities.
The new therapy room is a multi-purpose space and has been developed for sensory
integration treatment sessions for children with physical or learning difficulties. The approach
guides the child through fun activities that are subtly structured so they are constantly
challenged to develop both the way they move their body and how they solve problems.



Improved mental health care facilities in Poole
A major revamp of the mental health ward for women at St Ann’s Hospital, Poole, was
completed in February 2016. Extra space and more modern facilities, offering patients
greater freedom and privacy have been provided. Work on the £1 million refurbishment
project began in August 2015, to provide a much-needed overhaul of the 17-bed unit for
women in Dorset with acute, short-term mental health problems.



Integrated community teams
Physical and mental health and social care teams have been co-located in several hospitals
during the year, including Shaftesbury, Sherborne, Bridport and Blandford. This is a vital
step towards improving integrated community team working reducing the hand-offs between
teams.

The new governance structure introduced in April 2015 drew a distinction between the role of the
Board and Board Committees in seeking assurance and the remit of the Executive in managing the
Trust. This principle has been reflected in the oversight of performance during the year.
The role of the Board, Board Committees and the key Executive Groups is addressed in section 3.1
of this Report. Key to the monitoring of performance is the Board to ward system of dashboard
reporting, which was commented on positively in the CQC inspection report. At Board level, the
integrated corporate dashboard is submitted to the monthly meeting. The dashboard provides a
focus for discussing exception reports where performance is off plan.
In terms of regulatory performance, the Trust achieved its planned performance for the year, with a
Financial Sustainability Risk Rating of 3 and a Governance rating of green. The performance over
the year is set out below (and covered in more detail in section 3.5 of this Report):
2015/16
Continuity of
Services Risk
Rating
Financial
Sustainability
Risk Rating
Governance
rating

Annual
Plan
4

Q1

Q2

Q4
(draft)

4

3

Green

Q3

Green

2

4

3

Green

Green

Green

In terms of our financial performance, the Trust delivered a deficit of £1.9 million in 2015/16. This
was less than the planned deficit of £2.2 million.
The Trust’s financial performance history for the past 3 years is summarised below:
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3. Accountability Report
3.1

Directors’ Report

Board of Directors; Composition; Committees, Interests
Board Composition
The Board of Directors is responsible for managing the Trust, ensuring delivery of financial
performance, quality of services and ensuring all standards are achieved and targets are met.
The Trust has a unitary Board, comprising the Chair, seven other independent Non-Executive
Directors (NEDs), five Executive Directors and five (non-voting) Associate Directors.
Upon appointment to the Board of Directors, Board members receive a comprehensive induction.
Director training is reviewed and undertaken to ensure the Board is regularly refreshed and
Directors update their skills and knowledge.
The figure below summarises the formal roles of the Directors as part of a unitary Board and when
acting collectively in the Boardroom or undertaking distinctive Executive/Non-Executive roles
outside of formal meetings:All directors acting collectively as a unitary Board
Establish and communicates the values and behaviours underpinning organisational culture.
Determine the organisation strategy from amongst options provided by the Executive.
Allocate resources using budgets.
Monitor performance.
Hold the Executive to account.
Executives / Executive Groups
Establish the operational controls by which
organisational objectives are met.
Hold management to account.

NEDs / Non-Executive-led Assurance
Committees
Using a risk based approach, acquire and
scrutinise assurances that the operational
controls are designed well and operating
effectively.

Directors participate in a variety of activities, such as visits to service areas, and learn about the
Trust in multiple ways. This provides content, insight and triangulation of information to support
evidence-based decision making.
The Board meets at least ten times per year in monthly formal Board meetings and also undertakes
other activities. The Board generally holds its meetings in public but there are some occasions when
the public are excluded from a ‘Part 2’ meeting in which matters of a confidential nature are
discussed. Regular reports from the Chief Executive and other Executives are provided to ensure
that the Board has an accurate and balanced assessment of the Trust’s position and progress
towards its objectives.
Workshops are held in most months throughout the year to raise Board effectiveness, to discuss the
development of strategic options and threats to their achievement. They are used for building
consensus for support of strategic options such as major business cases, submissions to tendering
exercises, or significant transactions. The Non-Executive Directors also meet together from time to
time without the Executive Directors present.
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Careful consideration has been given to the composition of the Board and the experiences required
for managing an NHS Foundation Trust. This resulted in specific experience, values and
competencies being sought when appointments were made to the Board during the year. This is to
ensure that the Board of Directors is balanced and has the skills needed to meet the objectives of
the Trust. Currently our Non-Executive Directors have a wide range of experiences including
healthcare governance; strategy; social care, finance and technology, which match the Trust’s
needs well.
The Board regularly assesses its performance and its development needs. In 2015/16 the Board
invited an external reviewer to undertake a ‘well-led governance’ review based on Monitor’s model
guidance. No material governance concerns were raised during this review. Board Committees
review their performance annually by way of self-assessment against best practice criteria, such as
– in the case of the Audit Committee – the toolkit in the NHS Audit Committee Handbook published
by the Healthcare Financial Management Association.
All of the Trust’s Non-Executive Directors are believed to be free of any connection to the Trust
which might be perceived to be likely to bias their judgement in their roles.
The Chair is responsible for the leadership of the Board of Directors and Council of Governors. She
ensures the effectiveness in all aspects of their roles whilst at the same time ensuring they work
together effectively and constructively. The Chair regularly reports to the Board the views
expressed by Governors and by the Council as a whole.
The Chair is also responsible for ensuring that both the Board and Council receive accurate, timely
and clear information to enable them to undertake their roles and responsibilities. The Chair has
disclosed her other interests which could impact on her time available to perform the role which
requires about three days a week of her time. These are set out, along with those of all Directors, in
the register of interests, which appears later in this chapter.
All Directors have signed declarations to abide by the Trust’s Code of Conduct for Directors. They
have each also made declarations as to compliance with Monitor’s fit and proper persons criteria.
The Board takes seriously the duties and responsibilities of its members, both individually and
collectively. Annual appraisals of the Chair, other Non-Executive Directors and Executive Directors
are carried out to review and develop performance.
Board Members
Ann Abraham, Non-Executive Director and Chair
(Appointed December 2013 as NED; Chair from April 2014 until April 2017)
Ann Abraham was Parliamentary Ombudsman for the UK and Health Service Ombudsman for
England from 2002 to 2011. During her time in office she published a number of high profile reports
that identified failings in NHS care, including the care of older people (Care and compassion?) and
people with learning disabilities (Six lives).
Ann was Legal Services Ombudsman for England and Wales from 1997 to 2002 and Chief
Executive of the National Association of Citizens Advice Bureau (now Citizens Advice) from 1991 to
1997. Her earlier career was spent in local government and the Housing Corporation, where her
particular focus was on housing and services for people with special needs.
Ann served on the UK Committee on Standards in Public Life from 2000 to 2002 and was Chair of
the British and Irish Ombudsman Association (now the Ombudsman Association) from 2004 to
2006.
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From 2012 to 2014 Ann was a Non-Executive Director of Health Education England, an ArmsLength Body of the Department of Health, which provides national leadership, and funding, for the
education and training of the healthcare workforce. She is currently a Trustee of the Picker Institute
Europe, a not-for-profit organisation that works with patients, professionals and policymakers to
make patients’ views count in healthcare.
Lynne Hunt, Non-Executive Director, Deputy Chair
(Appointed December 2013 until December 2016; Deputy Chair from May 2014)
Lynne qualified as a nurse in Dorset and after completion of her training she moved to London. She
worked in a range of clinical roles including as a Charge Nurse and Modern Matron. She was the
Associate Clinical Director of Forensic Services in Ealing. As Director of Nursing and Quality at
West London Mental Health NHS Trust, Lynne’s role included responsibility for services at
Broadmoor Hospital. She worked in this role for a number of years, leaving the organisation in 2001
to take up the role of Executive Director of Nursing and Service Development at Barnet, Enfield and
Haringey Mental Health NHS Trust and she also took on the remit of Deputy Chief Executive in this
organisation.
After three years Lynne moved into the role of Deputy Chief Executive, Director of Nursing and
Partnerships and Chief Operating Officer at East London NHS Foundation Trust. Lynne now lives in
Dorset.
David Brook OBE, Non-Executive Director, Quality Governance Committee Chair
(Appointed January 2014 until January 2017)
David joined the RAF in 1982 and held early roles as an Engineering Officer. He served in the UK,
the Middle East and Sierra Leone.
After completing his MA in Defence Studies, David led the formulation and development of RAF
engineering strategy and policy, including Quality Management.
In 2004, David was appointed to RAF Odiham as Officer Commanding Forward Support Wing. Two
years later, David moved to HQ Strike Command where he was responsible for the procurement of
technical accommodation, upgrade of runways and aircraft operating services, security systems,
domestic accommodation, upgrade of electrical, water and drainage systems for a major upgrade to
a front line flying station.
In 2007 he joined the RNLI as Engineering and Supply Director. As a member of the Executive
Team he led the technical department of over 400 personnel dispersed throughout the UK and
Republic of Ireland.
In 2015 David took on the role of Managing Director and Bursar of Canford School.
John Hughes, Non-Executive Director
(Appointed 1 July 2015 until July 2018)
After graduating as a doctor from St George’s Hospital, London, John worked as a principal in a GP
practice for 33 years and was involved in the development of a successful practice in South East
Hampshire. He was Medical Director of Hampshire Community Care Health between 2007 and
2010. In 2006 he became a Fellow of the Royal College after being nominated by colleagues for his
work in Primary Care. In 2009 he moved from clinical medicine to concentrate solely on medical
management and strategic development. Since 2010 he has been Group Medical Director of Sue
Ryder.
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John McBride, Non-Executive Director, Audit Committee Chair
(Appointed 1 August 2014 until July 2017)
John trained and qualified in accounting with Broxtowe Borough Council. He progressed through a
number of financial roles, including within treasury, before then taking on wider leadership roles
including as Chief Accountant at the City of York. He moved to Poole in the mid-80s and was
appointed Deputy Chief Executive of West Dorset Council in 1990. John then rejoined Poole as
Policy Director and was appointed Chief Executive in 2002. John has now retired from the Council.
Sarah Murray, Non-Executive Director
(Appointed 1 August 2014 until July 2017)
Sarah began her career as a lawyer working for major London firm, Clifford Chance within property
and wider corporate areas. She then moved to a smaller firm in Bristol before relocating to Brussels
with her husband. On returning to the UK, Sarah set up her own software/events business which
she ran successfully for a number of years. Alongside this work, Sarah was Chair of Hampshire
Ambulance Service from 1998 to 2003 and a member of the Prison Service Review Body from 2004
to 2008. Sarah is currently a lay member of the Royal College of Surgeons Independent Review
body and of the Society for Cardiothoracic Surgery. She is also the Events Coordinator for the
European Maritime Law Organisation.
Peter Rawlinson, Non-Executive Director
(Appointed 1 October 2014 until September 2017)
After graduating in electrical engineering, Peter began his career in technology and
telecommunications, working for major businesses such as Plessy and Motorola where he became
Sales and Marketing Director and a member of the UK Board. In 1992 Peter then joined BT Global
Services, BT’s corporate and industrial service provider. This role then moved into Vice President of
Strategy and Development. Peter retired from executive employment and has since held nonexecutive positions with a number of NHS Trusts, a group of Academies where he is Chairman, the
University of Bournemouth and the Stroke Association where he is Vice Chair.
Nick Yeo, Non-Executive Director
(Appointed 1 August 2014 until July 2017)
Nick joined the NHS as a management trainee and spent a number of years moving through
management and director level roles with the NHS and the Department of Health. He took on his
first Chief Executive role with North Surrey PCT in 2002 and then moved over to East Sussex PCT
and then Hampshire Partnership NHS Trust, a mental health and social care service provider. Nick’s
final role in the NHS was as Director of Provider Development for NHS South of England.
Ron Shields, Chief Executive Officer
(Appointed Interim Chief Executive October 2013; substantive appointment March 2014).
Ron brings a wealth of leadership experience in the NHS with more than 36 years’ experience in
healthcare, including 25 years as a director in acute, community and mental health trusts, 17 of
which have been as Chief Executive. His experience includes managing large scale service
redesign and organisational mergers.
Jackie Chai, Executive Director of Finance
(Appointed to interim position February 2014; substantive appointment September 2014)
Jackie is a Fellow of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (FCCA) and was appointed
Director of Finance in September 2014, after holding the post of Interim Director of Finance and
Performance for the previous year. Jackie has worked for the Trust since 2008.
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Jackie previously acted as the Director of Finance and Performance Management for the Trust from
April 2011 to August 2011, during the period when the Trust expanded with the acquisition of the
Community Health Services across Dorset and the West Dorset Mental Health services.
Jackie’s career in the NHS spans 19 years, with varied experience in both financial and
management accounts, and in both provider and commissioner NHS organisations. She was the
Deputy Director of Finance at Poole Primary Care Trust.
Jackie also had 6 years’ accountancy experience in the private sector (accountancy practice and
publishing sectors). Prior to accountancy, she was a General Registered Nurse having completed
her training at the Royal Victoria Hospital (which subsequently became the Royal Bournemouth and
Christchurch Hospitals), Poole Hospital and at Herrison Hospital, the mental health hospital formerly
located near Dorchester.
Colin Hague, Executive Director of Human Resources
(Appointed in 2009 as Director of Human Resources)
Colin has spent his career in HR management. He was Head of HR at the Borough of Poole Council
between 1996 and 2009 responsible for leading HR service provision for over 5,000 employees,
and responsible for HR arrangements at times of major organisational change including Local
Government Reorganisation.
Prior to that he was Head of HR Provider Services at the London Borough of Havering where he
worked between 1983 and 1996 providing a lead HR role for 8,500 staff. Colin also undertook HR
roles wIth Essex County Council and Basildon Council.
Fiona Haughey, Executive Director of Nursing and Quality
(Appointed to interim role February 2014, substantive appointment July 2014)
Fiona is passionate about the NHS and driving quality in all that we do. She has been in senior
leadership roles for the past 14 years and is the Director of Nursing and Quality. Fiona has been
employed by the NHS since qualifying as a general nurse in 1984 going on to register as a mental
health nurse and a health visitor. She has more than 17 years’ clinical experience in general
nursing, acute and community psychiatry and public health/health visiting. Fiona completed a MSc
in Leading for Quality with Ashridge Business School and the Health Foundation in 2012 under the
GenerationQ programme, achieving a distinction. Fiona is committed and dedicated to improving
the services we deliver to our patients and service users to ensure they experience high quality care
delivered with kindness and compassion.
Nick Kosky, Executive Medical Director
(Appointed 1 July 2016)
Nick has been a member of the Royal College of Psychiatrists since 1991, and a Fellow since 2011.
He has a longstanding interest in clinical audit, clinical governance and supporting clinical
colleagues to deliver the best services they can. Nick has chaired 2 NICE guideline development
groups and has undertaken various other roles at a national level.
Associate Directors holding non-voting Board roles:
Linda Boland, Locality Director (Poole/East Dorset) from October 2014
After achieving her Dip HSM Ireland, Linda spent nine years gaining General Management
experience within acute hospitals in the Republic of Ireland before embarking on an EU
Development Scholarship in Health Service Management based in the UK and France in 1998.
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Since then she has held General/Senior Management posts within Mental Health Services in
Dorset. Linda was also formerly a Health Advisory Service Assessor, Trustee of the National
Children’s Bureau and Parent Governor at Corfe Hills School in Poole, Dorset.
Sally O’Donnell, Locality Director (Dorset) from October 2014
Sally originally joined the NHS as a Management Trainee. Having worked in the NHS for a few
years, she then spent nearly 10 years as managing director of a number of family food and leisure
businesses, including a company manufacturing pizzas for supermarket chains.
In 1990, she returned to the NHS and has since managed across a variety of health sectors,
including mental health, acute hospitals, learning disability and adult and children’s community
services and offender healthcare. She has held positions as a Director with Dorset County Hospital
and Dorset HealthCare for over 10 years.
Nicola Plumb, Director of Organisational Development, Participation & Corporate Affairs
from March 2014
Nicola is passionate about the NHS and has spent her career in the public sector since graduating
from Durham University with a Politics degree in 2000.
Nicola has held a variety of communications and development roles in the NHS and Department of
Health including working at NHS Bournemouth and Poole, Communications Advisor to the NHS
Chief Executive and most recently, working as Head of Brand for NHS England.
Eugine Yafele, Locality Director (Bournemouth/Christchurch) from October 2014
Eugine completed his MBA at Warwick Business School in 2013 and has significant clinical
leadership and operational management experience gained in both the NHS and the independent
sector. He has broad experience of partnership working and the development of new models of care
and clinical pathways to improve the experience of people using health and social care services.
Directors serving in year but who have now left their Board roles:
Gill Fozard, Non-Executive Director
(Appointed August 2001, left 31 May 2015)
Laurence Mynors-Wallis, Executive Medical Director
(Appointed 2000, left 30 June 2015)
Steve Hubbard, Director of Strategy & Business Development
(Appointed September 2014, left 31 March 2016)
Attendance at Board of Directors’ Meetings 2015/16
The table which follows shows the number of meetings attended by each Board Member and the
maximum number of meetings that they could have attended:-
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Name

Title

Attendance /
maximum attendance

Directors in post as at 31 March 2016
A Abraham

Non-Executive Director, Chair

11/11

L Hunt

Non-Executive Director, Deputy Chair

10/11

D Brook

Non-Executive Director

9/11

J Hughes

Non-Executive Director

5/7

J McBride

Non-Executive Director

10/11

S Murray

Non-Executive Director

9/11

P Rawlinson

Non-Executive Director

11/11

N Yeo

Non-Executive Director

10/11

R Shields

Chief Executive Officer

10/11

J Chai

Executive Director of Finance

11/11

C Hague

Executive Director of HR

9/11

F Haughey

Executive Director of Nursing & Quality

11/11

N Kosky

Medical Director

6/7

Associate Directors holding non-voting Board roles in post as at 31 March 2016
L Boland

Locality Director (Poole/East Dorset)

9/11

S O’Donnell

Locality Director (Dorset)

10/11

N Plumb
E Yafele

Director of Organisational Development,
Participation & Corporate Affairs
Locality Director
(Bournemouth/Christchurch)

9/11
10/11

Directors no longer in post as at 31 March 2016
Gil Fozard

Non-Executive Director

2/3

L Mynors-Wallis

Executive Medical Director

2/4

S Hubbard

Director of Strategy & Business
Development

10/11

Board Committees
The Board approves, annually, a schedule of matters which it reserves to itself. These include the
power to set the vision, strategic aims., objectives and budget for the Trust.
Other matters are delegated to Board Committees, which operate within defined terms of reference.
The Board has had a new Committee structure in place since April 2015. Details are set out below.
Audit Committee
Comprising independent Non-Executive Directors, the Committee provides the Trust with the means
of independent and objective review of all internal control systems and risk management. The
Committee discharges its responsibilities through the consideration of reports generated by
management and also from independent sources including Internal Audit services provides by TIAA;
External Audit services provided by PwC and Counter Fraud services.
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Audit Committee Attendance 2015/16
Member

John McBride (Committee Chair), Non-Executive Director
Lynne Hunt, Non-Executive Director
Nick Yeo, Non-Executive Director
Peter Rawlinson Non-Executive Director

Attendance /
maximum
attendance
5/5
4/5
5/5
5/5

The significant issues that the Audit Committee considered during the year related to:


the Board’s assurance framework which sets out information relating to the controls over the
greatest risks faced by the organisation. The framework received significant attention in
2015/16 as the Committee and the Board sought to embed the revised structure and
reporting arrangements.



Significant findings arising from the work of internal audit, including limited assurance
reports in respect of the Trust cost improvement programme, medical device management
and controlled drug and drug fridge management



matters discussed with the external auditors during the year, including their annual audit
plan, which sets out the key areas of focus for the external audit, and their report to the
Audit Committee following completion of the external audit, risks associated with income
and expenditure recognition, the valuation of the Trust’s estate and the impact on the
outcome of the CQC inspection on the ‘use of resources’ element of the external auditor’s
year end opinion.



Matters discussed with the external auditors during the year, including their annual audit
plan, which sets out the key areas of focus for the external audit and their report to the Audit
Committee following completion of the external audit.



the financial challenge faced by the Trust over the medium term



organisational resilience in the context of a competitive environment characterised by
change and uncertainty



fraud and whistle blowing. Reports on cases and investigations are received from the
Trust’s Local Counter Fraud Specialist. The Committee has considered the learning and
actions that the Trust has taken to strengthen process and procedures to minimise the risk
of reoccurrence and increase prevention.

The Trust’s external auditors are appointed by the Council of Governors. The appointment process
includes a report and recommendation from the Trust’s Audit Committee. The current auditor is
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (‘PwC’). The appointment commenced in 2013/14 and was due to
expire at the end of the 2015/16 audit. Following an assessment by the Audit Committee, and a
recommendation to the Council of Governors, the Council agreed to a contract extension of two
further years. The Trust did not contract with PwC for any non-audit work in 2015/16.
The fee payable to PwC for external audit services in 2015/16 was £86,000.
The Audit Committee continues to consider auditor independence and objectivity throughout the
year.
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More information about the Committee’s role is given in the Annual Governance Statement later in
this Annual Report.
Quality Governance Committee
The Committee acquires and scrutinises assurances that the organisation has a combination of
structures and processes at and below Board level that equip it to deliver high-quality services.
The Quality Governance Committee (QGC) focusses on providing assurances in respect of quality
governance in the Trust. In doing so, this approach takes account of both the Quality Governance
Framework and the Well-Led Framework. It meets quarterly. It seeks assurance that internal
controls over quality are designed well and operating effectively.
Quality Governance Committee Attendance 2015/16
Member
D Brook (Committee Chair), Non-Executive
Director
N Yeo, Non-Executive Director
J Hughes, Non-Executive Director
S Murray, Non-Executive Director
R Shields, Chief Executive Officer
L Hunt, Non-Executive Director
L Mynors-Wallis, Medical Director (until June
2015)
F Haughey, Director of Nursing & Quality
N Kosky, Medical Director (from July 2015)

Attendance / maximum
attendance
5/5
5/5
2/3
4/5
3/5
4/5
1/1
5/5
2/4

The Trust’s quality governance structure and performance for the year is explained in depth within
our Quality Report in chapter 4 of this Annual Report.
The framework within the Trust for overseeing quality governance is set out below.
The Board retains ultimate responsibility for service quality and quality governance in the Trust.
The Board receives an Integrated Performance report including a quality dashboard covering all
three domains of quality: patient experience, patient safety and clinical effectiveness.
The Quality Governance Committee, which reports to the Board, provides further scrutiny in
respect of the quality of services.
This Committee is supported by, and receives reports from, the Executive Quality and Clinical
Risk Group which meets monthly to examine the internal quality and clinical processes and
provide an in-depth review of the data in order to assure the QGC as to the adequacy of the
systems operated by the organisation.
Alongside this, performance against the Trust quality priorities is monitored by the Board on a
quarterly basis.
The Board also monitors performance against the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation
(CQUIN) targets as agreed with our commissioners. This information is also set out in our Quality
Report. In 2015/16, whilst we did not achieve the 90% threshold for cardio metabolic assessment
and treatment for patients with psychoses, the commissioner is looking at our other work and
innovative practice in regard to the physical health and wellbeing of patients with a mental health
condition and will not withhold payment.
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The Quality Report also sets out performance against key health care targets. Our performance
against a core set of indicators set by the Department of Health and Monitor is reported showing
comparison where applicable against the Q4 position 2014/56.
The Trust arrangements in respect of quality governance were subject to reviews by the CQC and
against the Monitor Well-Led Framework in 2015. Following the CQC comprehensive inspection of
our Trust undertaken in June 2015 the Trust now has a quality improvement plan to address the
findings. Progress is reported monthly to the Trust Board and supported at an operational level by
the Programme Management Office which monitors that all actions are being implemented including
those which are not yet due. The core services are supported by Quality Assurance Visits which
monitor progress to ensure the actions being implemented are achieving the required outcomes.
Formal reporting through this structure is supplemented by Non-Executive and Executive Director
visits to wards and teams to hear and observe first-hand the quality of care being delivered. This
enhances the line of sight from Board to ward and allows the opportunity for the triangulation of
information.
Complaints provide a further opportunity for triangulation. The Trust welcomes complaints as
constructive feedback to enable us to continually improve our services. We are committed to
responding to complaints in a fair, impartial and open way and within a reasonable timeframe.
Complaints provide a real barometer of what happens in the Trust, how the public feel about the
services they receive and the extent to which professionals and services are genuinely responsive
to the patient’s needs. Complaints provide a real opportunity for us to learn and to drive
improvement in our services. The Trust’s performance in respect of complaints management is
considered through a quarterly report to the Quality Governance Committee.
Alongside this, a Complaints Review Group is in place. This involves service users and others (such
as Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group, Dorset Advocacy, Healthwatch Dorset, local patient
groups) who are in a position to comment on or influence our services. The Group takes a case
study approach to reviewing issues worthy of in-depth study. They are also given the opportunity to
meet with Board Directors and clinicians directly involved in care to review particular themes that
arise from complaints.
Mental Health Legislation Assurance Committee and Mental Health Act Panel Members
In January 2015 the Board established this Committee as a specialist arm of the Quality
Governance Committee.
The Trust operates a clear separation of the Non-Executive role in acquiring and scrutinising
assurances as to quality governance in mental health services (by the Committee) and that of
conducting the review process for detained patients in accordance with the required provisions of
Mental Health legislation, undertaken by Mental Health Act Panel Members. Four Non-Executive
Directors have been trained, alongside other independent lay people, in mental health legislation,
and will act as a pool, from which a panel of three will be drawn to consider any individual case.
Mental Health Legislation Assurance Committee
Member

Attendance / maximum
attendance

G Fozard(Committee Chair until 31 May 2015), Non-Executive
Director
S Murray (Committee Chair from 1 June 2015), Non-Executive
Director
A Abraham, Trust Chair
L Hunt, Non-Executive Director
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1/1
4/4
4/4
2/4

Appointments and Remuneration Committee
Details of the role and membership of the Committee are set out in section 3.2 of this Annual
Report.
Charitable Funds Committee
The Board is the Corporate Trustee of the Trust charity. The Charitable Funds Committee has been
established by the Board to make and monitor arrangements for the control and management of the
Charitable Fund investments of the Trust and to allocate funds to appropriate projects.
Charitable Funds Committee
Member
L Hunt (Committee Chair), Non-Executive Director
A Abraham, Trust Chair
P Rawlinson, Non-Executive Director
J Chai, Director of Finance

Attendance / maximum
attendance
4/4
4/4
4/4
4/4

Register of Interests of Directors 2015/2016
The Register of Interests declared by Board Directors in 2015/16 follows on the next page:
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Name
Ann Abraham (Chair)
David Brook (Non-Executive Director)
Lynne Hunt (Non-Executive Director)

John McBride (Non-Executive Director)
Sarah Murray (Non-Executive Director)

Nick Yeo (Non-Executive Director)
Peter Rawlinson (Non-Executive Director)

John Hughes (Non-Executive Director)
Ron Shields (Chief Executive)
Jackie Chai (Director of Finance)
Fiona Haughey (Director of Nursing & Quality)
Nicholas Kosky (Medical Director)

Colin Hague (Director of Human Resources)

Nicola Plumb (Director of Organisational
Development, Participation & Corporate Affairs)
Steven Hubbard (Director of Strategy &
Business Development)
Sally O’Donnell (Locality Director) - Dorset
Linda Boland (Locality Director) – Poole/East
Dorset
Eugine Yafele (Locality Director) –
Bournemouth/Christchurch

Interest Declared
Trustee of the Picker Institute Europe
Managing Director & Bursar, Canford School
Specialist advisor to the Care Quality
Commission
Director of Lynne Jay Hunt Consulting
None
Lay reviewer on the Independent Review
Process of the Royal College of Surgeons
Lay advisor to the Society for Cardiothoracic
Surgery
None
Trustee, CfBT Education Trust
Chairman & Trustee, CfBT Schools Trust
Chairman & Director, Harbour Watch Residents
Association
Vice Chairman & Trustee, the Stroke
Association
Independent Board Member, Bournemouth
University
Medical Director – Sue Ryder Charity
Wife is an NHS Director of Specialist Service
Commissioning
None – other than the Trust’s Charity – Dorset
HealthCare Charitable Funds
None
Chair of Guideline Development Group at NICE
(MH adults in contact with CJS (Criminal Justice
System)
Member of Guideline Development Group at
NICE (physical health, people in prison)
Sits on the Health Education Wessex Local
Training Board as a Board Member
Member of Editorial Board of CIPFA – Technical
Information Service for HR and Employment
Law
Partner is a Trust employee
Left Trust on the 31 March 2016 to become a
Director in a ‘Start Up’ Nursing Home and
Community Services Company
None
Husband is National Clinical Lead for Help for
Heroes
Husband has a contract with Dorset County
Council
Wife is employed as a Nurse practitioner in the
Trust

26

Council of Governors
Composition of the Council of Governors
At the end of 2015/16 the Council of Governors comprised 27 Governors under the
leadership of the Trust Chair and the elected Lead Governor:





14 Public Governors:
o 8 from Dorset/rest of England Constituency
o 3 from Bournemouth Constituency
o 3 from Poole Constituency
5 Staff Governors
8 Partner Governors.

The composition of the Council was adjusted during 2015/16 to allow representation from
Bournemouth and Poole Councils.
The role of the Council is set out in the law, in the Constitution and in the Trust’s own
Governance Manual, including terms of reference for the Council and its Committees.
The Council periodically assesses its own performance and did so in 2015/16 through an
externally facilitated self-evaluation.
Council Roles and Responsibilities
The Council of Governors has some statutory responsibilities. These include:
 Appointing and if required removing the Trust Chair
 Appointing and if required removing the other Non-Executive Directors
 Approving the appointment of the Chief Executive
 Appointing and if required removing the Trust’s Auditors
 Holding the Non-Executive Directors to account for the performance of the Board
 Representing the interests of Members
 Receiving the annual report and accounts.
Some other key roles include:




Approving any amendments to the Constitution
Approving any significant transactions
Approving any plans to increase the Trust’s non-NHS income by more than 5% of its
current level, whatever that may be.

The Council commissioned, from Folio Partnership, an externally facilitated self-assessment
of its performance in 2015. The report, published in September 2015, concluded that:


The Council has made great progress in establishing clarity on its role, mechanisms
for fulfilling that role, and a positive and productive relationship with the Board of
Directors.



The key area in which performance falls short is that of linking with member
constituencies. This is recognised by all Governors as a priority area for attention.



In addition, it is of concern that there are a number of vacancies on the Council, and
that finding numbers of individuals willing to stand for election is challenging.
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There are also a number of ways in which the mechanisms for holding NEDs to
account for the performance of the Board could be sharpened and strengthened.

Nominations and Remuneration Committee
The Council has a Nominations and Remuneration Committee which meets, as and when
required, to advise on the appointment and remuneration of Non-Executive Directors.
The Committee periodically reviews the numbers, structure and composition of NonExecutive Directors, to reflect the expertise and experience required, and then makes
recommendations to the Council of Governors. The Committee also develops succession
plans for Non-Executive Directors, taking into account the challenges and opportunities
facing the Trust. It keeps the leadership requirements of the Trust under review, to ensure
the continued ability to provide cost effective, high quality and appropriate health services.
The members of the Committee during the year were Ann Abraham, Chris Balfe, Scottie
Gregory, Jan Owens, Steve Clark, Karen Parker and Patricia Scott.
The Committee met on one occasion in 2015/16 at which it:


recommended the appointment of John Hughes as a Non-Executive Director



reviewed and recommended an adjustment to, in the light of appropriate benchmark
information, the remuneration of Non-Executive Directors (details of which are set out
in the Remuneration Report).

Lead Governor
Chris Balfe was re-elected by the Council as the Lead Governor in September 2015 for a
period of one year, renewable for a maximum of three terms in total.
The Trust has developed a role description for the Lead Governor which goes above and
beyond the ‘point of contact’ role described by Monitor in the Code of Governance. At
Dorset HealthCare the role also includes the following:
1. Encouraging positive engagement by Governors to respond to Board reports, plans,
consultations and proposed actions when required;
2. Building trust and confidence within the Council of Governors;
3. Ensuring there are effective systems to welcome and induct new governors, in
conjunction with Dorset HealthCare;
4. Encouraging all governors to engage in training and development;
5. Working with the Chair, ensuring that all Governors are aware of their collective
responsibilities;
6. Representing the views of the Council of Governors where necessary and provide
constructive challenge to the Chair and other Non-Executive Directors;
7. Preparing for meetings of the Council of Governors with the Chair and Trust
Secretary to ensure agendas are appropriately focussed;
8. Working with the Senior Independent Director in collating the input of Governors to
the performance appraisal of the Chair;
9. Working with the Trust Chair in collating the input of Governors to the Performance
Appraisal of Non-Executive Directors;
10. Be a member of the Nominations Committee in the process of appointing the Chair
and other Non-Executive Directors;

28

11. Act as point of contact with Monitor where it would not be appropriate for other
channels to be used (not normally required);
12. Raise with Monitor any Governor concerns that the Foundation Trust is at risk of
significantly breaching the terms of its authorisation, having made every attempt to
resolve any such concerns locally (not normally required)
Links with the Board of Directors
The Board of Directors and Council of Governors work closely together to improve the
quality and flow of information and to aid transparency.
The Board and Council have agreed a policy for engagement which sets out how the Council
will hold the Board to account, the communication flow between the two bodies and the
process for managing disagreements. During the year there have been no substantive areas
of disagreement between the Board and the Council.
The CQC inspection in June 2015 and, in particular, the external review of the Trust against
the Monitor Well-led Framework both recognised the healthy relationship of support and
constructive challenge between the two bodies.
All Governors have been able to participate in Non-Executive Director appraisals by way of
feeding information into the process. They are informed of the outcome of the appraisals.
Governor Elections and Appointments
The Electoral Reform Service Ltd (‘ERS’) acts as the Returning Officer for all of the Trust’s
Staff Governor and Public Governor elections.
A number of Governors resigned during the year





Julie Brettingham
Lance Williams
Guy Patterson
Colin Davidson

Bournemouth
Bournemouth
Dorset and the Rest of England
Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group

The following Governors were elected in 2015/16 to fill vacancies.




Sue Howshall
Jan Turnbull
Justine McGuinness

Dorset and the Rest of England (August 2015)
Dorset and the Rest of England (November 2015)
Dorset and the Rest of England (November 2015)

Vishal Gupta was appointed as the Local Government Partner Governor for Poole Council.
Meetings of the Council of Governors
The Council of Governors meets a minimum of four times a year on a quarterly basis. The
meetings are held in public and are advertised on the Trust website.
The table below lists all the Governors in 2015/16, their constituency, term of office and the
number of meetings attended from the maximum they could have attended, depending upon
time of appointment or leaving the Council.
Governors are asked to declare any interests of note in a Register of Interests at the time of
their appointment and changes are notified to the Trust secretary during the year. The
Register is available for inspection by members of the public and is available via the Trust
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website. All Governors have signed declarations to abide by the Trust’s Code of Conduct for
Governors.
Council of Governors’ attendance, and Register of Interests of those in post at 31 March
2016
Details of attendance and Governor interests are as follows:Name

Interest Declared

Patricia Scott
Sue Evans-Thomas
Anna Webb
John Bruce

Speakability Charity
None
Dorset Mental Health Forum
Wife is Admin Assist for AECC &
Bourmri
None

Rosemary Scottie
Gregory
Sue Howshall
Justine McGuinness
Angela Reed
Chris Balfe

Jan Turnbull
Jan Owens
Steve Clark
Peter Kelsall
Pat Cooper
Teresa North

Angela Bartlett
Michael Bevan
Karen Parker
Simon Thorneycroft
Becky Aldridge
Bill Batty-Smith
Vishal Gupta

Locum Pharmacist
None
None
Director & Chair, The federation Coffee
Co Ltd
Chair, Salon (Brixton) Ltd
Trustee, Dorset Mental Health Forum
Volunteer, Citizens Advice Bureau,
Weymouth
Chair, League of Friends Swanage
Hospital
Trustee, Dorset Mental Health Forum
None
Wife is Assist Director, Weldmar
Hospice Care Trust
Sec, Friends of Swanage Hospital
Ctte Member, Community Hospitals
Association
Member, Wimborne Ferndown Lions
Club
Cttee Member, The Ferns (Mgment Co)
None
None
None
None
Chief Executive, Dorset Mental Health
Forum
None
None

The terms of office of all Governors expires in 2017.
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Meetings
Attended
2015/16 (and
maximum
possible)
7/7
6/7
6/7
6/7
7/7
2/3
1/2
6/7
7/7

2/2
6/7
4/7
7/7
7/7
5/7

7/7
4/7
3/7
1/7
5/7
3/7
1/3

The Trust Membership: Public and Staff Constituencies
It is the Trust’s policy that the Membership will be representative of the community we serve.
Anyone living in Bournemouth, Poole and Dorset (or the rest of England) and who is aged at
least 11 years is welcome to become a Public Member of the Trust.
The three Public Constituencies are:




Poole (the electoral area covered by Poole Borough Council)
Bournemouth (the electoral area covered by Bournemouth Borough Council)
Dorset /rest of England & Wales (the electoral area covered by Dorset County Council
and the rest of England and Wales).

The table below shows the number of members in each constituency area:
Membership sub/constituency

31 March 2016

31 March 2015

938

960

2,291

2,348

1,221

1,240

4,450

4,548

7,139

6,234

11,596

10,782

Poole
Dorset /rest of England and Wales
Bournemouth
Total
Staff Members
Grand total

The Trust recognises a ‘ladder of engagement’ amongst its Members, starting with the
passive receipt of information sent out by the Trust and, at its height, being exemplified by
an active, representative, committed elected staff or public Governor. In between there are
those who respond to information and surveys; some who come to meetings and events or
vote in elections; others who express an interest in nominating themselves for election; and
a few who do so and who may win an election, becoming a Governor.
The benefits to the local community and to the Trust include:






We can listen to and respond to the voice of local people
We strengthen links with our local communities
We can reduce stigma through effective information provision
We can consult with local people about future developments
We can raise the profile of the needs of people with mental health problems, a
learning disability or a brain injury.

The Trust aims to increase the number of Public Members it has. A Membership Strategy
and engagement plan were developed in 2015, and agreed in April, to achieve these
objectives.
Canvassing the opinion of the Trust’s Members
The Trust uses its corporate resources and the Governors themselves to collect information
by way of surveys, listening to staff, patients, carers and other stakeholders; participation in
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multi-organisation forums and using established and newer social media channels to
understand what Members want.
We encourage our members to make contact with their elected Governors through the
membership office and our website. Opportunities to make contact on specific areas of
potential interest to members are made available through the publication of Next Steps, the
quarterly newsletter produced for all Trust members.
Members are invited to the Council of Governors meetings, where they can talk informally
with Governors and also observe the meeting’s business. The formal link for members who
wish to contact their representative Governors, or the members of the Board is via the Trust
Secretary, who can be contacted on 0808 100 3318 or via email:
membership@dhuft.nhs.uk.
To become a member of the Trust, simply visit the Trust website:
www.dorsethealthcare.nhs.uk
Alternately, write to us at:
FREEPOST RTGL-YAKR-CLGZ
Dorset HealthCare
4-6 Nuffield Road
Nuffield Industrial Estate
Poole BH17 0RB
Directors’ Report Disclosures and Statements
The Trust is required to include in this report certain statements and disclosures. These are
set out below:
Political Donations
The Trust made no political donations in 2015/16.
Better Payment Practice Code
The Better Payment Practice Code requires the payment of undisputed invoices by the due
date or within 30 days of receipt of goods or a valid invoice, whichever is later for 95% of all
invoices received by the Trust. The Trust has not achieved the 95% target in 2015/16. Our
infrastructure and systems for the processing of invoices are no longer sustainable based on
the volumes now received. We have plans in place to address this during 2016/17 and
expect to see an improvement in performance during the year with a return to target in
2017/18.
Non-NHS Trade Creditors
Measure of Compliance

Number

£000s

Total Non-NHS trade invoices paid in the year

65,759

71,498

Total Non-NHS trade invoice paid within target

47,572

53,645

Percentage of Non-NHS trade invoices paid within target

75%

78%

2014-15 comparable figures

88%

90%
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NHS Creditors
Measure of Compliance

Number

£000s

Total NHS trade invoices paid in the year

1,661

47,396

Total NHS trade invoice paid within target

958

43,942

Percentage of NHS trade invoices paid within target

60%

94%

2014-15 comparable figures

71%

96%

The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
The Trust was required to make payments of interest under the Late Payment of
Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998 amounting to £7,000 (2014/15 £3,000).
Income disclosures required by Section 43(2A) of the NHS Act 2006
The Trust’s income for 2015/16 was £253 million (2014/5: £246 million) arising from the main
contracts with Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group, NHS England and Dorset County
Council.
Income received for activities other than the provision of healthcare services amounted to
4.5% of total income (2014/15: 4.2%). The Trust has met the requirement, as set out in
Section 43(2A) of the NHS Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012),
that the income from the provision of goods and services for the purposes of the health
service in England must be greater than income from the provision of goods and services for
any other purposes.
Cost Allocation and Charging Guidance
The Trust has complied with the cost allocation and charging guidance issued by HM
Treasury.
Statement as to the Disclosure to Auditors
For each individual who is a Director at the time this report is approved:


So far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the
NHS foundation trust’s auditor is unaware and



The Director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a Director in
order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish
that the NHS foundation trust’s auditor is aware of that information.

The Board has done this through:
 making enquiries of fellow Directors and of the Trust’s auditors for that purpose
 taking such other steps (where required) as are required as a Director of the Trust to
exercise reasonable care, skill and diligence.
The Annual Governance Statement in section 3.7 of this Report set out the risks to the
business and our future developments.
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The Chief Executive, as Accounting Officer, is responsible for the regularity and propriety of
the Trust’s financial management. These responsibilities and the responsibilities for the
financial accounts are detailed in the Statement of Accounting Officers Responsibilities set
out elsewhere in this Annual Report. The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual
Report and Accounts in accordance with laws and regulations under directions issued by
Monitor. The financial statements meet the accounting requirements of Monitor’s NHS Trust
Financial Reporting Manual. The accounting policies follow International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) and HM Treasury’s Resource Accounting Manual to the extent that they
are meaningful and appropriate to the NHS. The accounts represent a true and fair position
of the Trust.
The Directors consider the Annual Report and Accounts, taken as a whole, are fair,
balanced and understandable and provide the information necessary for patients, regulators
and other stakeholders to assess the NHS Foundation Trust’s performance, business model
and strategy.
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3.2

Remuneration Report

The Remuneration Report is not subject to audit, except the elements specifically identified
as being subject to audit.
This remuneration report is prepared in compliance with the relevant sub-sections of the
Companies Act 2006 s420-422; Regulation 11 and Parts 3 and 5 of Schedule 8 of the Large
and Medium Sized Companies and Group (Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008; Parts
2 and 4 of Schedule 8 of those Regulations as adopted by Monitor within the Annual
Reporting Manual and also, elements of the NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance.
The Remuneration Report discloses information on those persons in senior positions having
authority or responsibility for directing or controlling the major activities of the Trust. The
Board has determined that such persons are those who routinely attend Board meetings and
which, at the end of the year under review, comprise the Chair, seven Non-Executive
Directors, five Executive Directors and five Associate Directors. All are identified in section
3.1. The Director of Strategy and Business Development resigned his position and left the
Trust on 31 March 2016 and the future of this post is under review.
The Remuneration Report comprises three sections:




Annual statement on remuneration by the Appointments and Remuneration
Committee Chair
Senior managers’ remuneration policy
Annual report on remuneration (of which some information is subject to audit).

Annual statement on remuneration by the Appointments and Remuneration
Committee Chair
The major decisions on senior managers’ remuneration;
The Appointments and Remuneration Committee decided not to agree a general cost of
living pay award increase for the Chief Executive or Directors during 2015/16. This decision
took account of national pay decisions for senior managers in the NHS which did not provide
for a cost of living uplift. Whilst most Agenda for Change staff received a cost of living
increase, taking account of financial pressures, it was felt appropriate not to make an award
to the Executive Team and their response in accepting this was appreciated.
There was no claim from any Director for an increase and in the circumstances no general
cost of living increases were agreed.
Dr. Nick Kosky was appointed as Medical Director following a competitive selection and
interview process involving stakeholders. The role attracts an allowance in addition to the
Medical Director’s clinical salary and this allowance remained unchanged from that paid to
Dr. Kosky’s predecessor in the role.
Any substantial changes relating to senior managers’ remuneration made during the year;
The remuneration of the Director of Nursing & Quality was reviewed by the Appointments
and Remuneration Committee following a benchmarking exercise involving comparative
roles nationally and was increased to £117,500 p.a. with effect from 1 November 2015. In
addition to the data before the Committee, which indicated that the salary was an outlier, the
Director of Nursing and Quality had taken on significant additional responsibilities, most
notably in respect of the Trust Bank and the Mental Health Act Office. It was noted that the
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previous post holder had been on a higher salary than the current Director of Nursing and
Quality.
The context in which those changes occurred and decisions have been taken;
The Appointments and Remuneration Committee reviewed the Trust’s approach to Very
Senior Manager/Executive Director pay in July 2015 and considered that it was consistent
with the Monitor Code of Governance. All Executive Directors in the Trust are appointed
through a process of open competition.
Peter Rawlinson, Chair, Appointments and Remuneration Committee
Senior Managers’ Remuneration Policy
The following information constitutes the senior managers’ remuneration policy of the Trust.
Future Remuneration Policy
The Appointments and Remuneration Committee recognise the merits of the Trust being
part of the national Agenda for Change framework. One reason for this has been the
concern to ensure that equal pay principles apply. The Committee has broadly concluded
that, with the exception of Executive Directors, the Trust pay strategy should be to remain
within the national Agenda for Change scheme. Discretion beyond Agenda for Change rates
is, however, an area where attention may be appropriate to help ensure suitability of staffing
and attract and retain high quality staff. An overriding consideration has been the
importance of ensuring that the Trust’s approach to pay and decisions regarding pay is
consistent with the performance of the organisation.
A pay policy was agreed during 2015/16.
Senior Manager remuneration components

Role
Chief Executive
Medical Director*
Director of Nursing & Quality
Director of Finance
Director of HR
Locality Directors
Director of Organisation Development &
Participation
Director of Strategy & Business Development

Basic
salary

Pension

Board
allowance

* The Medical Director retains a Consultant salary under national pay and conditions
of service for doctors and receives an allowance for Board responsibilities.
Basic salary - Salaries for Very Senior Managers in the Trust have been determined by
the Appointments and Remuneration Committee taking into account the weight and
range of their responsibilities and involving consideration of benchmarking data of
Director roles against those in comparable Trusts, and also the differential between the
direct reports of Directors who are subject to Agenda for Change national pay rates in
the context of the level of additional responsibility and accountability of Directors.
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Account was also taken of trends in the public sector, austerity measures, equitable
pay, competition for talent within the NHS sector and the relative size and complexity of
competitor provider organisations.
Pension – Pension contributions are made by both the senior managers and the Trust in
accordance with the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme.
Board allowance – the Medical Director retains a clinical component to the role and, as such,
receives a full-time Consultant salary in accordance with national terms and conditions for
doctors, and receives an allowance for Board responsibilities.
The Trust does not operate a performance related pay framework.
The only Very Senior Managers whose pay exceeds £142,000 a year are the Chief
Executive and the Medical Director.
The remuneration of Very Senior Managers (Chief Executive and Executive, Operational and
Locality Directors) is determined by the Appointments and Remuneration Committee of the
Trust Board which makes decisions based on consideration of benchmarking data, market
influences and comparison of rates of pay for similar posts in NHS organisations nationally,
together with the scope and complexity of roles and responsibilities. The Committee
reviewed the Trust’s approach to Very Senior Manager pay in July 2015 and considered that
it was consistent with the Monitor Code of Governance.
Non-Executive Director remuneration components
Non-Executive Directors receive remuneration in the form of an annual payment and, in
some cases, an allowance for additional responsibilities. Details are set out below:-

Remuneration
£ pa

Additional
allowances
£ pa

Allowance title

Ann Abraham

44,250

-

-

David Brook

13,000

2,000

Quality Governance Committee Chair

John Hughes

13,000

Name

Lynne Hunt

13,000

-

No committee chair responsibilities

5,000

Deputy Chair

2,000

Charitable Funds Committee Chair

John McBride

13,000

2,000

Sarah Murray
Peter
Rawlinson

13,000

2,000

Audit Committee Chair
Mental Health Legislation Assurance Committee
Chair

13,000

2,000

Appointments & Remuneration Committee Chair

Nick Yeo

13,000

2,000

Senior Independent Director

Service Contract Obligations
Contracts of employment for the Chief Executive and Directors were reviewed and re-issued
in the year to take into account changes which had been made to the standard contract for
staff subject to Agenda for Change national conditions of service. This was to ensure that, in
compliance with the G4 (3) Monitor Condition for Board appointments, contracts for Directors
contain a provision permitting summary termination in the event of a Director being or
becoming an unfit person.
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Contracts do not make provision for individual entitlements for any termination payments,
other than pay in lieu of six months’ contractual notice pay. Entitlements to payment for
outstanding annual leave in accordance with the individual contract provisions can also
apply.
Policy on Payment of Loss of Office
The Trust seeks to support and retain staff who are affected by organisational change
wherever possible. Where suitable alternative employment cannot be found at an equivalent
pay grade and seniority, the provisions of the Trust’s protection policy may apply if
alternative mutually acceptable work is found at a lower pay grade. If redundancy is the only
option, payments are made in accordance with Agenda for Change national conditions of
service. There is provision for pay in lieu of notice when appropriate where there is a
contractual provision for this. Notice periods for all grades of staff, including Directors, have
been subject to consultation and agreement with trade union representatives.
In cases of redundancy of Directors, the Trust will apply provisions equivalent to Agenda for
Change national conditions of service, including the application of any salary caps, and
payments will not be expected to exceed contractual entitlements. There were no
redundancies amongst Directors in 2015/16.
In cases of capability arising from performance concerns, the Trust will seek to apply the
provisions of the Disciplinary & Capability Policy and Procedures to support a return to full
performance wherever possible. Where continued performance issues do not support
continuation in the senior post, this may involve redeployment to an alternative post at the
same or a lower pay grade, or a managed exit from the organisation which may include the
exercise of discretion in respect of notice and garden leave within contractual provisions.
In the event of gross misconduct, the Trust may summarily terminate a Director’s
employment (subject to investigation and consideration in accordance with the Disciplinary &
Capability Policy). Notice pay will also not normally apply where termination of employment
arises in connection with the fit and proper person provisions. There were no dismissals
among Directors in 2015/16.
Assessment of the continued fitness of Directors to perform their duties and responsibilities
is undertaken annually via the appraisal process. All senior managers with the exception of
the Chief Executive are reviewed by the Chief Executive. The Chief Executive’s
performance is reviewed by the Trust Chair in conjunction with the Appointments and
Remuneration Committee with Governor and partners’ input in 2015/16. The review of the
Chair’s performance is facilitated by the Senior Independent Director on behalf of the
Council of Governors who gathers views from the other members of the Board of Directors
and the views of Governors. The other Non-Executive Directors are reviewed by the Trust
Chair with views being collated from all Governors and Directors. There were no recorded
performance concerns relating to Very Senior Managers during 2015/16.
Statement of considerations of employment conditions elsewhere in the Trust
It is the Trust’s policy to remunerate senior managers at the rate necessary to attract and
retain the talent required to deliver the Board’s objectives, without needlessly diminishing
finite public resources.
The basis on which the Appointments and Remuneration Committee has determined the pay
for senior managers is set out above in the section ‘senior management remuneration
components’.
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Annual Report on Remuneration
Service Contracts
Details of service contracts are set out below:-

Job Title
Chief Executive
Medical Director (Board allowance only)
Director of Finance
Director of HR
Director of Nursing & Quality
Locality Director (Bournemouth & East Dorset)
Locality Director (Dorset)
Locality Director (Poole)
Director of Organisation Development & Participation
Director of Strategic Development

Date of
latest
contract
1.12.15
1.12.15
1.12.15
1.12.15
1.12.15
1.12.15
1.12.15
1.12.15
1.12.15
1.12.15

Notice
Unexpired term
period
n/a permanent appointment 6 months
n/a permanent appointment 6 months
n/a permanent appointment 6 months
n/a permanent appointment 6 months
n/a permanent appointment 6 months
n/a permanent appointment 6 months
n/a permanent appointment 6 months
n/a permanent appointment 6 months
n/a permanent appointment 6 months
Voluntary resignation 31.3.15 6 months

Appointments and Remuneration Committee
The Board has an Appointments and Remuneration Committee which, as its core role



Appoints senior staff
Considers recommendations on Executive Director remuneration

All Non-Executive Directors are members of the Committee. The Chief Executive has a right
to be in attendance as a member of the Committee when other Executive Director
appointments are being determined and may be invited to attend when the remuneration of
the other Executive Directors is under discussion.
The Committee made one senior appointment in 2015/16-the appointment of Dr. Nick Kosky
as Medical Director.
Appointments and Remuneration Committee
Member
P Rawlinson (Committee Chair) Non-Executive Director,
A Abraham, Trust Chair
D Brook, Non-Executive Director
J Hughes, Non-Executive Director
L Hunt, Non-Executive Director
J McBride, Non-Executive Director
S Murray, Non-Executive Director
N Yeo, Non-Executive Director
R Shields, Chief Executive
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Attendance / maximum
attendance
8/8
8/8
7/8
3/7
5/8
6/8
6/8
6/8
7/8

Expenses Paid to Directors, Senior Managers and Governors
Director and Senior Manager Travel & Expenses 2015/16
The Trust had a total of 19 Directors in office over the year and 16 received expenses in
2015/16. The aggregate sum of expenses paid to directors in the reporting period was
£19,932.73. This compares to £18,469.71 paid in 2014/15 when the Trust had a total of 21
Directors in office and 19 received expenses in the year.
Expenses Paid to Governors
During 2015/16 eight Governors claimed expenses, which in total amounted to £3171.32
(compared to 2014/15 when 12 Governors claimed expenses amounting to £3,766.71).
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Senior Managers’ Remuneration (information subject to audit)

2014-15

Names
R Shields
Chief Executive

J Chai
Director of Finance

L Mynors-Wallis
Medical Director
(Leaver 30/06/15)

2015-16

Salary &
Fees

Taxable
benefits

Annual
performancerelated
bonuses

TOTAL

Salary &
Fees

Taxable
benefits

Annual
performancerelated
bonuses

(bands of
£5,000)

(nearest
£100)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£5,000)

(nearest
£100)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

180-185

1900

0.00

0.00

37.5-40

215-220

180-185

2000

0.00

0.00

0

180-185

105-110

0.00

0.00

0.00

75-77.5

185-190

110-115

0.00

0.00

0.00

85-87.5

195-200

210-215

900

0.00

0.00

27.5-30

240-245

50-55

100

0.00

0.00

0-0

50-55

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

180-185

400

0.00

0.00

160-162.5

345-350

95-100

0.00

0.00

0.00

27.5-30

125-130

95-100

0.00

0.00

0.00

20-22.5

115-120

95-100

0.00

0.00

0.00

10-12.5

110-115

95-100

0.00

0.00

0.00

10-12.5

105-110

95-100

0.00

0.00

0.00

2.5-5.0

100-105

95-100

0.00

0.00

0.00

5-7.5

105-110

95-100

400

0.00

0.00

190-195

105-110

0.00

0.00

0.00

2.5-5

1101115

(1)

Long-term
performancerelated
bonuses

Pension
–related
benefits

N Kosky
Medical Director
(Joiner 01/07/15)

(1)

Long-term
performancerelated
bonuses

Pension
–related
benefits

TOTAL

C Hague
Director of Human
Resources

L Boland
Locality Director

S O’Donnell
Locality Director

F Haughey
Executive Director of
Nursing

92.5-95
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2014-15

2015-16

TOTAL

Salary &
Fees

Taxable
benefits

Annual
performancerelated
bonuses

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£5,000)

(nearest
£100)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

0.00

0

45-50

95-100

0.00

0.00

0.00

0-0

95-100

0.00

0

90-95

95-100

0.00

0.00

0.00

15-17.5

105-110

Director of Strategy
115-120 95-100
55-60
0.00
0.00
0.00
57.5-60
and Business
Development
(1) Salary and Fees is combined remuneration of Medical director Salary and Consultant Salary and allowances

0.00

0.00

0.00

72.5-75

170-175

Names
E Yafele
Locality Director

Salary &
Fees

Taxable
benefits

Annual
performancerelated
bonuses

Long-term
performancerelated
bonuses

Pension
–related
benefits

(bands of
£5,000)

(nearest
£100)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£5,000)

45-50

300

0.00

90-95

0.00

0.00

Long-term
performancerelated
bonuses

Pension
–related
benefits

TOTAL

N Plumb
Director of Org Dev
& Corp Affs

S Hubbard
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Non-Executive Directors Remuneration (information subject to audit)
2014-15

2015-16

TOTAL

Salary
& Fees

Taxable
benefits

Annual
performan
ce-related
bonuses

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£5,000)

(nearest
£100)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£2,500)

(bands of
£5,000)

0.00

0.00

40-45

40-45

1300

0.00

0.00

0.00

45-50

0.00

0.00

0.00

10-15

10-15

1500

0.00

0.00

0.00

15-20

400

0.00

0.00

0.00

5-10

5-10

600

0.00

0.00

0.00

10-15

5-10

100

0.00

0.00

0.00

5-10

10-15

400

0.00

0.00

0.00

10-15

10-15

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

10-15

10-15

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

10-15

15-20

1700

0.00

0.00

0.00

20-25

15-20

2400

0.00

0.00

0.00

20-25

(Leaver
31/05/15)

15-20

200

0.00

0.00

0.00

15-20

0-5

200

0.00

0.00

0.00

0-5

P
Rawlinson

5-10

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

5-10

10-15

100

0.00

0.00

0.00

10-15

5-10

1100

0.00

0.00

0.00

5-10

10-15

3100

0.00

0.00

0.00

15-20

Taxable
benefits

Annual
performancerelated
bonuses

Long-term
performancerelated
bonuses

Pension
–related
benefits

(bands
of
£5,000)

(nearest
£100)

(bands of
£5,000)

(bands of
£5,000)

40-45

700

0.00

J McBride

5-10

800

John
Hughes

0-5

Salary
&
Fees
NonExecutive
Board
Members
A Abraham

(Joiner 01/07/15)

S Murray
D Brook
L Hunt

Long-term
performance
-related
bonuses

Pension
–related
benefits

TOTAL

G Fozard

N Yeo

Taxable Benefits (benefits in kind) relate to mileage expenses and car allowances & Pay as you earn settlement agreements (PAYSE)
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Payments for Loss of Office (information subject to audit)
There were no payments for loss of office to Senior Managers in 2015/16. No other payments have been made to individuals in connection with
the termination of services as a senior manager, including outstanding long term bonuses that vest on or follow termination.
Pension Disclosure of Senior Managers (information subject to audit)
2014-15

Pension disclosure
of Senior Managers

Real Increase in
Pension at age
60

Real Increase in
lump sum at age
60

Total accrued
pension at age 60
at 31/03/15

Lump sum at age 60
related to accrued
pension at 31/03/15

Cash equivalent
transfer [CETV] at
01/04/15

Real increase in CETV
as funded by
employer
(2015)

Cash equivalent
transfer [CETV] at
31/03/15

bands of £2,500

bands of £2,500

bands of £5,000

bands of £5,000

Nearest £1,000

Nearest £1,000

Nearest £1,000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

R Shields
Chief Executive

2.5-5

7.5-10

65-70

205-210

1,423

103

1,526

J Chai
Director of Finance

2.5-5

10-12.5

20-25

65-70

333

80

413

L Mynors-Wallis
Medical Director

0-2.5

5-7.5

90-95

280-285

1,865

106

1,971

C Hague Director of
Human Resources

0 – 2.5
(at age 65)

0
(at age 65)

5–10
(at age 65)

0

107

34

141

F Haughey
Director of Nursing

2.5-5

12.5-15

35-40

110-115

621

110

731

S O’Donnell
Locality Director
(Joined 01/04/2014)

0-2.5

0-2.5

30-35

90-95

640

35

675

0

0

40-45

N/A

N/A

N/A

Names

V Graves
Director of
Community Health
Service
(Retired 30/04/2014)

120-125
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2014-15
Pension disclosure
of Senior Managers

Names

Real Increase in
Pension at age
60

Real Increase in
lump sum at 60

Total accrued
pension (payable
at 60)

Lump sum (payable at
60) relating to accrued
pension at 31/03/15

bands of £2,500

bands of £2,500

bands of £5,000

bands of
£5,000

£000

£000

£000

Cash equivalent
transfer [CETV] at
01/04/15

Nearest £1,000

Real increase in CETV
as funded by employer
(2015)

Cash equivalent
transfer [CETV]
at 31/03/15

Nearest
£1,000

Nearest £1,000

£000

£000

£000
£000

L Boland
Locality Director
S Hubbard
Director of Strategy
and Bus Dev
(Joined 01/09/14)
N Plumb
Director of Org Dev
& Corp Affs
(Joined 22/04/14)

J Elson
Director of mental
Health (Leaver
30/09/2014)

0-2.5

0-2.5

25-30

75-80

462

33

495

0-2.5

2.5-5

10-15

30-35

162

35(1)

222

0

10-15

35-40

155

1

156

0-2.5

20-25

70-75

379

9

397

0

0-2.5

Salary and Other Remuneration excludes employers' costs of National Insurance and Pension contributions which are payable in respect of the above officers' employments.
(1) Denotes increase based on part year basis
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2015 /2016

Pension
disclosure of
Senior
Manager

R Shields

Real Increase in
Pension at
Pension Age

Real Increase in
lump sum at
Pension age

Total accrued
pension at
Pension age at
31/03/16

Lump sum at
Pension age
related to accrued
pension at 31/03/16

Cash equivalent
transfer [CETV]
at 01/04/15

Real
increase
in CETV

Cash equivalent
transfer [CETV]
at 31/03/16

Employers
Contribution to
Stakeholder
Pension

bands of £2,500

bands of £2,500

bands of £5,000

bands of

Nearest £1,000

Nearest
£1,000

Nearest £1,000

Nearest £1,000

£000

£000

£000

£5,000
£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

0-2.5

0-2.5

70-75

210-215

1,526

26

1,570

0

2.5-5

12.5-15

25-30

80-85

413

86

504

0

0-2.5
(at age 65)

0
(at age 65)

10-15
(at age 65)

0.00

141

28

171

0

0-2.5

2.5-5

25-30

80-85

496

32

534

0

0-2.5

0-2.5

35-40

115-120

731

23

763

0

5-7.5

0

75-80

230-235

1,216

211

1,442

0

0

0

80-85

250-255

1,971

0

1,778

0

Chief Executive

J Chai
Director of Finance

C Hague
Director of Human
Resources

L Boland
Locality Director

F Haughey
Director of Nursing

N Kosky
Medical
Director(Joiner
01/07/15)

L Mynors-Wallis
Medical Director
(Leaver 30/06/15)
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2015 /2016

Pension
disclosure of
Senior
Manager

N Plumb

Real Increase in
Pension at
Pension Age

Real Increase in
lump sum at
Pension age

Total accrued
pension at
Pension age at
31/03/16

Lump sum at
Pension age
related to accrued
pension at 31/03/16

Cash equivalent
transfer [CETV]
at 01/04/15

Real
increase
in CETV

Cash equivalent
transfer [CETV]
at 31/03/16

Employers
Contribution to
Stakeholder
Pension

bands of £2,500

bands of £2,500

bands of £5,000

bands of £5,000

Nearest £1,000

Nearest
£1,000

Nearest £1,000

Nearest £1,000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

£000

0-2.5

0

10-15

35-40

157

10

169

0

2.5-5

0
15-20

45-50

222

76

301

0

30-35

95-100

676

26

710

0

Director of Org Dev
& Corp Affs

S Hubbard
Director of Strategy
and Business
Development

S O’Donnell
Locality Director

0-2.5

2.5-5

On 16 March 2016, the Chancellor of the Exchequer announced a change in the Superannuation Contributions Adjusted for Past Experience
(SCAPE) discount rate from 3.0% to 2.8%. This rate affects the calculation of CETV figures in this report.
Due to the lead time required to perform calculations and prepare annual reports, the CETV figures quoted in this report for members of the
NHS Pension scheme are based on the previous discount rate and have not been recalculated.
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3.3

Staff Report

Introduction
Our ambition is to provide high quality care, first time, every time and this means the Trust
needs a workforce which is empowered to take action for patients with staff who feel able to
take responsibility for the outcome of the decisions that they make. We want our staff to feel
engaged and well-motivated and able to deliver excellent care because they feel proud
about where they work and passionate about the role they play within the Trust. At the core
of our HR Strategy is the attraction, recruitment and retention of an expert, diverse and
compassionate workforce that is single minded in its patient focus.
Our organising principle is to be Better Every Day and we know we need an empowered
workforce to achieve this. We want to be the employer of choice and for our staff to be proud
of what they do for the people of Dorset.
The HR Strategic Goals are:
Goal 1: To become a recognised employer of choice so that we attract and recruit to meet
our workforce needs.
Goal 2: To retain a compassionate, expert workforce that is proud to work at Dorset
HealthCare, and feels developed and supported to make decisions, innovate and improve
the lives of our patients.
There are five key themes for activity woven throughout our HR strategy - Attraction,
Recruitment, Retention, Recognition and Development - and these support delivery of
our objectives.
Staff engagement is a priority from day one of employment and we are working to redesign
the corporate induction, workplace induction and preceptorship programmes as appropriate,
to ensure they align with, and embed, the Trust’s new Vision, Values and Behaviour
framework, and support staff feeling valued from the day they join the Trust.
We believe that learning is truly life-long and we are developing and embedding a diverse
portfolio of flexible learning opportunities for staff to access anytime, anyplace, and which
cater for different learning styles, thus enhancing the knowledge, skills, behaviours and
confidence of the existing, new and future workforce, to support the Trust's Better Every Day
aspirations. We want to build on the patient voice within learning and development
programmes by co-designing and co-delivering learning activities with patient and carer
groups
We recognise that we are in competition with other local and regional organisations to attract
and retain excellent staff and we also know that we have a particular set of dynamics with
regard to our geography and aging workforce. With well evidenced national shortages in
some occupations, we are seeking ever more innovative and unique approaches to
recruitment and our cross-directorate Recruitment and Retention Project Group has been
working hard to support this aim during 2015/16. We take heed of the reasons why people
leave the Trust and, in addition to views gathered through the annual staff survey, use this
information to fuel our consideration of retention measures, such as increased opportunities
for flexible working. Recruitment and retention go hand in hand and we are working hard to
maximise both for the benefit of patients and service users and make Dorset HealthCare an
organisation where people want to work.
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Our Staff Profiled
The tables below provide an overview of the composition of our workforce.
Analysis of average substantive staff numbers (information subject to audit):-

STAFF GROUP
Administration and Estates
Ambulance Staff
Healthcare Assistants and Other
Support Staff
Healthcare Scientists
Medical and Dental
Nursing, midwifery & health visiting
learners
Nursing, midwifery & health visiting staff
Scientific, Therapeutic and Technical
Staff
Grand Total

Average
fte
996.73
2.46
316.45
17.67
108.45
34.43
2354.77
678.6
4509.56

Breakdown of male and female employees
ROLE

Gender

Headcount

Director

Female
Male

5
5
10

Female
Male

30
8
38

Female
Male

All other staff total

4653
945
5598

Grand Total

5646

Director total
Senior Manager
Senior Manager Total
All other staff

Sickness absence data
The sickness absence rate for the 12 months April 2015-March 2016 was 4.56%.
Engaging with our Staff
In 2015/16 the Trust has focussed on strengthening arrangements for engaging with our
staff.
As well as utilising the feedback from the Staff Friends and Family Test and Annual NHS
Staff Survey, a number of formal feedback initiatives have been undertaken to gather
feedback from staff and develop actions on how to improve their experience. Informal and
formal engagement initiatives throughout 2015/16 included:


Behaviours Workshops
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Staff Conferences
Appraisal Focus Groups
Annual Members’ Meeting
Air and Share drop in sessions
Quality Matters Conference
Health Visitors Conference
Leadership Forum
HealthRoster Forum
Heroes Awards
Road to Wellness Awards.

Actions from feedback have included:






Development of a Behaviours Framework to set out the behaviours which are
important to demonstrate across the organisation,
Induction redesign
Introduction of an Induction Catch-up for new starters, to offer further support
and gather feedback about the Induction process,
Development of a staff awards scheme to recognise the contribution and
achievement of people within the organisation,
Health and Wellbeing initiatives including the introduction of Wednesday
Walks.

Further engagement opportunities are going to be developed throughout 2016/17, with a
focus on engagement within teams, developing engaging managers, innovation and
communications.
Supporting Our Staff
Staff policies and actions

The Trust employed 20 people during 2015/16 who had declared a disability in their
application, representing just over 5% of all successful applicants for jobs.
The Trust has successfully completed its 5-year review as part of the Mindful Employer
programme and has also met the requirements to continue to use the JobCentre Plus
kite mark for being positive about its approach to employing and staff with disabilities
who meet the person specifications for employment. The maintenance of these kite
marks allows the Trust to be transparent about what it has achieved in these specific
areas and at the same time identify areas for further development.
Recruitment training, incorporating training in equality and diversity, has been carried out for
staff involved in recruitment and interviewing panels. A trained member of staff sits on each
interview panel. The Trust has also introduced a Management Development Programme
that incorporates workshops covering equality and diversity, and diversity in Recruitment and
Employment.
The Trust takes a supportive and positive approach with staff whose capability may be
affected as a result of disability in line with the provisions of the Health, Wellbeing and
Attendance Policy and our responsibilities under the Equality Act 2010 to protect staff who
develop health conditions. We recognise that some conditions may not preclude individuals
from working and making a valid contribution, albeit that it may not be in the staff member’s
normal capacity. In these circumstances, the Trust will make all reasonable efforts to support
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employees who wish to work in an adjusted way. We know the impact of workplace stress
and acknowledge the importance of preventing, identifying and reducing workplace
stressors. The purpose of the Managing Stress at Work Policy is to promote positive
attitudes towards health at work and recognises the importance of promoting good mental
health of staff for the safe and efficient delivery of quality services.
An example of the Trust’s positive approach is shown by the case of a recently appointed
staff member who is a wheelchair user. After following the normal protocols during the
recruitment process staff undertook a workplace assessment of not just the individual’s
working area but also their approach to work from the accessible car parking area. This
identified a number of reasonable adjustments that were put in place and also made the new
staff member feel appreciated by the Trust for recognising and providing support where it
was identified as a need.
The work did not stop there. As part of a recent CQC report on the Trust it was identified that
some of the CAMHS team locations were not fully accessible for staff or service users. The
CQC requested that the Trust identified which areas were not accessible and have a plan to
deal with them. After a consultation with local managers the Health & Safety Team
developed an accessible audit tool which they used on all CAMHS Team locations.
Where possible actions were taken that would be beneficial to all staff and service users, not
just those with a disability. All other areas for improvement have been added to an overall
improvement plan. This demonstrates not only to staff within the Trust but also to those with
a disability looking for employment that the Trust values every member of staff and where
possible reasonable adjustments will be made to support individuals to stay in work.
Policies applied
The Health, Wellbeing and Attendance Policy and Procedure has been applied during the
financial year for continuing the employment of employees who have become disabled
persons during the period, supported by the Learning and Development Policy and Appraisal
Policy for reviewing, identifying and implementing training needs.
The following policies have been applied during the financial year for the training, career
development and promotion of disabled employees:
Recruitment and Selection Policy and Procedures
Appraisal Policy
Learning and Development Policy
Mandatory Training Policy

The Trust communicates with staff on a regular basis in a variety of ways, including:







Trust Link – a monthly newsletter published on the Intranet and in hard
copy highlighting news and achievements around the Trust
Weekly Roundup – a weekly email bulletin with a focus on information for
staff, including training events, systems upgrades, current vacancies
HR Matters – a monthly email bulletin with the latest employment related
news for line managers
Payroll Bulletin – a periodic bulletin giving staff information on pay matters
Quality Matters – a monthly quality and professional matters newsletter
published on the Intranet
All user emails from the Chief Executive providing important updates on
matters such as CQC inspections, Staff Survey engagement events, etc.
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engagement events
bi-monthly leadership forum for line managers
A weekly induction programme welcoming new staff which provides
essential information about the Trust, its aims and values, mandatory
training, etc.
electronic surveys.

The Trust engages with representatives of trade unions via the Trade Union Partnership
Forum which meets bi-monthly, and the Doctors & Dentists Joint Negotiating Forum
which meets quarterly. The Trust will consult on all matters relating to the employment
of staff and values the input and support provided by its Trade Union colleagues.
Health & Safety
The Trust is committed to protecting and promoting the health, safety and wellbeing of all
staff, service users, carers, visitors and others who may be affected by its activities. We
aim to foster a positive and proactive occupational health and safety culture, where safety is
everyone’s responsibility and is supported by effective communication, training, employee
involvement and adequate consultation.
In the period covered by this report, no visits have been made by the Health and Safety
Executive (HSE) and no enforcement action has been taken.
Over the course of the year, the Trust has strengthened its health and safety capability
through:
 developing, reviewing and updating a rage of Trust-wide health and safety
policies
 providing training through a range of health and safety courses
 focussing on addressing violence and aggression as a key area of concern. In
2011 the Trust recorded over 1100 assaults which by 2015 have reduced to
565 (48.6% reduction). This is compared to a national increase over the
same period of 18.8%
 introducing an intranet-based online Workplace Assessment of Safety and
Health (WASH) declaration form to assist staff in monitoring their level of
health and safety compliance in their workplaces.
Alongside this, our Occupational Health and Wellbeing Service (OHWS) provides a
comprehensive occupational health service across Dorset to the Trust and its employees.
The service protects, promotes and improves the health of the workforce with the aim of
contributing to the delivery of the Trust Strategy. The service has an important role to play in
the overall delivery of patient care, safety and outcomes.
The range of services offered by the OHWS includes pre-employment/placement health
assessments, occupational vaccination programmes, fitness for work assessments and
medicals, health surveillance programmes (audiometry, spirometry, skin, hand arm
vibration), workplace and ergonomic assessments, incident management, policy and
procedure development and training.
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The OHWS largest customer is the Trust. In addition, the OHWS provides services to over
150 companies annually across Dorset.
Over the course of the year, the service has:


developed a ‘Health and Wellbeing’ intranet resource for staff



recruited more than 30 Health and Wellbeing Champions across the
organisation to assist with promoting campaigns and supporting colleagues to
improve their health and wellbeing



encouraged support for a range of health awareness days, e.g. World Mental
Health Day, Stoptober, Dry January, Time to Change, World Health Day
(diabetes)



facilitated health awareness events for staff (measuring blood pressure, heart
rate, etc)



promoted NHS Health Checks among staff via intranet, Weekly Roundup and
posters, with link to local GPs/pharmacies who will carry out the free check



raised the profile of staff health and wellbeing in Trustlink – articles have been
submitted and included in every issue since December. One of these
focussed on Care First, the Trust’s Employee Assistance Programme



produced a range of posters, as well as intranet resources, to encourage staff
to take their shift work and rest breaks.

Equality and Diversity
Equality and diversity training is delivered to all staff as part of the mandatory induction
package and course evaluation is extremely positive. In addition, the Trust ran an
Unconscious Bias workshop for managers.
The Trust has had a commitment to the PREVENT agenda, which places a duty on public
bodies in the exercise of their functions, to have “due regard to the need to prevent people
from being drawn into terrorism. PREVENT awareness training is delivered as part of the
Trust induction and Level 1 and 2 Safeguarding training, using material supplied by the
Home Office. The Trust has produced a PREVENT policy.
The Equality and Human Rights Implementation Scheme has been updated to reflect the
new Trust principles and vision. This includes updated information about the Trust and
outline plans for the Equality Delivery System 2 and the Workforce Race Equality Scheme
Action Plans.
The Trust was selected as a pilot by NHS England to demonstrate commitment to ensuring
that patients and service users who are non-English speakers for whom English is a second
language or who have communication needs relating to a disability, receive the support and
information they need to access services and healthcare staff and make informed decisions
about their care and treatment. The Trust continues to lead on the Multi-agency Accessible
Information Standard for public sector organisations in Dorset.
The Trust has been pleased with the improvements it has made on the Stonewall Health
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Workplace Equality Index and in 2015 achieved its highest position at 11th on the Index. The
support from Stonewall and the increased focus on the Lesbian, Gay and Bisexual
community has brought improvements to workforce data on disclosures as well as overall
patient experience. The top three areas were in engagement and communication with LGBT
patients and communities, health promotion, and patient policy and practice.
The Trust continues to engage in work across Dorset to meet the legislative requirements of
equality and diversity, specifically the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) in compliance with
the Equality Act 2010’s general equality duty and extra specific duties, including:
 eliminating unlawful discrimination and other conduct prohibited by the
Equality Act 2010;
 advancing equality of opportunity by removing or minimising disadvantage,
taking steps to meet needs;
 fostering good relations by tackling prejudice and promoting understanding.
The Trust has recognised that it needs to continue to strengthen control measures to ensure
that all the organisation’s obligations under equality, diversity and human rights legislation
are complied with. The Trust has an Action Plan in place which it is implementing and
monitoring. This is in conjunction with the Equality delivery System 2 objectives and the
Workplace Race Equality Standard (WRES) reporting.
This work undertaken within the Trust reflects a wider contribution to supporting equality and
diversity in the County. The Trust has been engaged on a number of on-going projects
during the year which have involved partnership working and support by local authorities, the
Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group and local community volunteer groups including:


Veterans, Families and Carers
This project aims to raise the awareness and improve access to NHS
services by veterans, families and carers across Dorset as it is known that
health inequalities faced by serving and military personnel and their families is
increasing. The Trust has signed up to the Military Covenant and has set up
a Staff Veterans Network that meets bi-monthly.

 Coffee and Chat Bovington
This group of military wives meets every week as a support group to discuss
wellbeing in a relaxed setting. The group has become self-sustaining and has
raised over £2,000 from fund raising events for Rethink Mental Health (Time
to Change). There have been a number of successful media stories on the
local radio and in the local press about the group and the support from Dorset
HealthCare.
 African and Caribbean Lunch Club
This community group meets monthly for the benefit of older people in the
BME community who would otherwise experience isolation.
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 BME Panel
This panel operates as an information tool, visiting services to find out
information and taking that information back to community to improve
knowledge and understanding and reducing myths.
 BME Carers Advocacy Project
This community group was set up with the support of the Dorset Race
Equality Council and new groups have formed in Dorchester and Weymouth
as well as the original Bournemouth group. They have delivered training to
community members raising awareness of health care services in Dorset and
how to access support.
The members of the Access and Equalities Development Team were awarded an
Outstanding Achievement Award for their contribution to the BME Community of
Bournemouth and Poole. This award was particularly valued by the Trust as it was voted for
by the community.
We remain totally committed to delivering equality and diversity in Dorset and believe that
partnership working is the way forward. The Trust has clear goals to continue to work with
national and local partners to achieve the best outcomes for patients, staff and the local
community.
What Our Staff Say; The Annual Staff Survey
The response rate for the NHS Staff Survey, although still significant, dropped from 46% in
2014 to 33% in 2015, primarily due to the fact that, for the first time, the Trust conducted the
survey primarily by email with only ancillary, estates and community based staff receiving a
paper survey form. Significant numbers of staff do not log on to Trust systems to check
email regularly. A more targeted approach will be taken to the survey methods in 2016 to
maximise our response. We will also review communications to encourage employee
confidence in the confidentiality of the survey. The national response rate was 41%.
For those questions with a direct comparator in 2014, two-thirds of responses (67.4%)
showed improvement. For example, respondents who look forward to going to work
increased by 6%, and those who feel enthusiastic about their job rose by 8%. The
percentage of staff who feel able to contribute towards improvements at work was up 5% on
the previous year, and is now above the national average for similar healthcare trusts. Some
90% of respondents felt their work made a difference to patients/service users.
This better performance was also reflected in the Key Findings scale summary scores, with
an overall staff engagement score of 3.81 – up from 3.7 in 2014, and in line with the national
average. In particular, a number of individual scores indicate a growing confidence in
leadership around the Trust. The key finding on support from immediate managers rose from
3.75 to 3.88, while those who would recommend the Trust as a place to work or receive
treatment increased from 3.52 to 3.66. Respondents who feel there is good communication
between senior management and staff was up 6%, while those who feel pressure to attend
work when feeling unwell dropped by 9%.
The survey does highlight some areas for improvement. Respondents who experienced
harassment, bullying or abuse from staff increased up from 18% to 22%, and while the
percentage of people working extra hours rose by 5%. The score for effective use of
feedback from patients and services users is also below the national average.
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On the whole, the survey results indicate a more positive staff experience overall and that
the changes made to the running of the Trust in recent years may be starting to have an
impact. Some staff comments do however show that there are individuals who are
dissatisfied and disaffected. Overall the results are more mediocre than we aspire to.
Top 4 ranking scores in 2015
2014/15
Response
rate

Trust
46%

2015/16

National
average
42%

Trust
33%

2014/15
Top 4
ranking
scores
KF28 %
staff
witnessing
potentially
harmful
errors, near
misses or
incidents in
last month
KF23 %
staff
experiencing
physical
violence
from staff in
last 12
months
KF18 %
staff feeling
pressure in
the last 3
months to
attend work
when feeling
unwell
KF22 %
staff
experiencing
physical
violence
from
patients,
relatives or
the public in
last 12
months

Trust improvement/
deterioration

National
average
41%

2015/16

Decrease of 13 % points.
Trust improvement/
deterioration

Trust

National
average

Trust

National
average

22%

26%

19%

22%

Improvement of 3 % points.
Better than average.

2%

3%

1%

2%

Improvement of 1 % point.
Better than average.

61%

20%

52%

60%

Improvement of 11 %
points.
Better than average.

14%

18%

12%

15%

Improvement of 2 % points.
Better than average.

The impact of action taken over the year has resulted in fewer staff witnessing potentially
harmful errors, near misses or incidents compared against the national average.
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The percentage of staff feeling pressure in the last three months to attend work when feeling
unwell was in the bottom five ratings for the Trust last year. The position has improved
significantly due, in part, a revised absence management procedure being in place and
attendance management support for managers and staff.
Managing violence has been a focus for attention in 2015/16. Targeted work by the Security
Advisory Group and the Security Management Specialists team has produced a marked
decrease in the number of violent incidents year on year.
Bottom 4 ranking scores in 2015
2014/15
Bottom 4
ranking
scores
KF29 % staff
reporting
errors, near
misses or
incident
witnessed in
the last
month
KF16 % staff
working
extra hours
KF15 % staff
satisfied with
the
opportunities
for flexible
working
patterns
KF19
Organisation
and
management
interest in
and action
on health
and
wellbeing

2015/16

Trust improvement/
deterioration

Trust

National
average

Trust

National
average

90%

92%

89%

92%

Deterioration of 1 % point.
Worse than average.

71%

71%

76%

72%

Deterioration of 4 % points.
Worse than average.

Question
not asked
in 2014

Question
not asked
in 2014

53%

56%

No comparator.
Worse than average.

Question
not asked
in 2014

Question
not asked
in 2014

3.59

3.69

No comparator.
Worse than average.

The position in respect of the reporting of errors, near misses and incidents is under review.
In the past, the Trust has had a high reporting of incidents.
The high numbers of staff working extra hours can be attributed, in part, to continuing staff
shortages in some key service areas of the Trust, such as mental health and registered
nurses. Medical and dental staff and adult nurses are the groups reporting the highest % of
staff working extra hours.
Research shows that the ability to work flexibly to achieve a good balance between home
and work is highly valued by employees and can impact positively on motivation,
performance and productivity. For the second year running the Trust is running a salary
sacrifice scheme to enable staff to purchase additional annual leave and it is hoped that ongoing work to make full use of the eRoster system functionality will support more staff
working flexibly.
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The most significant areas of improvement and deterioration are as follows:2014/15
Most improved
scores and
2014/15 figures
KF10 Support
from immediate
managers
KF7 % staff able
to contribute
towards
improvements at
work
KF4 Staff
motivation at
work
KF18 % staff
feeling pressure
in the last 3
months to attend
work when
feeling unwell
KF1 Staff
recommendation
of the
organisation as
a place to work
or receive
treatment

2015/16

Trust

National
average

Trust

National
average

3.75

3.81

3.88

3.86

Improvement of 0.13
points.
Average.

71%

72%

76%

74%

Improvement of 5 %
points.
Better than average.

3.86

3.84

3.96

3.94

Improvement of 0.1
points.
Average.

61%

20%

52%

60%

Improvement of 11 %
points.
Better than average.

3.52

3.57

3.66

3.7

Improvement of 0.14
points.
Average.

2014/15
Where
experience
deteriorated
and 2014
figures
KF26 % staff
experiencing
harassment,
bullying or
abuse from
staff in last
12 months
KF16 % staff
working
extra hours
KF21 % staff
believing
that the
organisation
provides
equal
opportunities
for career
progression
or promotion

Trust improvement/
deterioration

2015/16

Trust improvement/
deterioration

Trust

National
average

Trust

National
average

18%

21%

22%

21%

Decrease of 4 % points.
Worse than average.

71%

71%

76%

72%

Increase of 5 % points.
Worse than average.

92%

86%

88%

89%

Decrease of 4 % points.
Average.
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The Trust is developing its response to these results. Central to this will be action planning
and the development of a staff engagement strategy which will enable staff to contribute and
make improvements to the organisation through initiatives such as:




staff conferences
listening into action events
Air and Share events.

It is recognised that with the survey response there are individuals who are dissatisfied and
disaffected. Some of the results of the survey may also reflect people not being aware of
what is going on, rather than dissatisfaction with engagement. Improvement of internal
communications through the development of an internal communications strategy should
help address this. Directorates and localities will also be offered support to develop and
implement localised action plans, and these will be monitored to ensure we stay on track.
Themes for action planning in 2016, in response to the staff survey, will include:
 communication and engagement
 flexible working
 health & wellbeing.
Expenditure on consultancy
The Trust has systematically reviewed its use of external consultancy resource during
2015/16 to reduce costs and mitigate against any equal pay challenges which might arise.
We have introduced a Professional Register of people with a range of skills and experience
in fields such as operational management, human resources, and project management, who
are able to undertake short- and medium-term assignments as and when required, working
within a pay framework aligned to Agenda for Change rates. This has enabled the Trust to
reduce its use of more expensive agency contractors whilst establishing a supply of suitably
qualified and available workers. The total expenditure on consultants in 2015/16 was
£622,000.
Counter Fraud Service
The Trust’s Local Counter Fraud Specialist undertook 19 investigations in total in 2015/16, of
which

3 investigations were carried over from last year

16 new investigations raised this year

16 investigations closed this year

3 investigations remain open at 31 March 2016
From these investigations there have been three disciplinary sanctions, identified losses on
closed cases of £62,270.67 and 11 recommendations made to address system
weaknesses.
In addition, 44 fraud awareness presentations have been delivered to 1036 employees and
117 pieces of miscellaneous work which fall into prevention or deterrence activity.
There have been Local ProActive Exercises in the areas of continence product provision in
residential/nursing homes, travel guidance, E Roster, E Travel, procurement, pool car log
books and over-payment of salary.
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The LCFS has issued 22 Fraud Alerts to the Trust and 3 Local Prevention Notices. No
material or significant frauds were identified in the year.
Off-payroll engagement
The data below covers highly paid and / or senior off-payroll engagements between 1 April
2015 and 31 March 2016:
Table 1: For all off-payroll engagements as of 31 Mar 2016, for more than £220 per day
and that last for longer than six months:-

No. of existing engagements as of 31 Mar 2016
Of which:
Number that have existed for less than one year at the time of reporting
Number that have existed for between one and two years at the time of
reporting
Number that have existed for between two and three years at the time of
reporting
Number that have existed for between three and four years at the time of
reporting
Number that have existed for four or more years at the time of reporting
Confirmation:
Please confirm that all existing off-payroll engagements, outlined above, have at
some point been subject to a risk based assessment as to whether assurance is
required that the individual is paying the right amount of tax and, where
necessary, that assurance has been sought.

24
10
9
3
1
1

Yes

Table 2: For all new off-payroll engagements, or those that reached six months in duration,
between 01 Apr 2015 and 31 Mar 2016, for more than £220 per day and that last for longer
than six months:Number of new engagements, or those that reached six months in duration
between 01 Apr 2015 and 31 Mar 2016
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Number of the above which include contractual clauses giving the trust the right
to request assurance in relation to income tax and national insurance obligations
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Number for whom assurance has been requested
Of which:
Number for whom assurance has been received
Number for whom assurance has not been received
Number that have been terminated as a result of assurance not being
received

53
53
0
0

Table 3: Off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or, £: senior officials with
significant financial responsibility, between 1 April 2015 and 31 March 2016:No. of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or, senior officials
with significant financial responsibility, during the financial year
No. of individuals that have been deemed "board members and/or senior
officials with significant financial responsibility" during the financial year*
*includes Executive Directors, Associate Directors and Non-Executive Directors.
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0
20

The Trust obtained confirmation that the providers of off-payroll engagements either
deducted tax and national insurance at source for all workers; or where workers are
engaged through a Limited Company, that assurance has been received that the individual
is complying with their tax and national insurance obligations.
Exit packages (information subject to audit)
Details of exit packages agreed during the year are as follows:Exit package cost band

Number of
compulsory
redundancies

Number of
other
departures
agreed

Total number
of exit
packages by
cost band
5

<£10,000

5

£10,00 – £25,000

4

4

£25,001 – £50,000

4

4
1

£50,001 – £100,000

0

£100,000 – £150,000
£150,001 – £200,000

1

1

1

etc.
Total number of
exit packages by
type
Total resource cost

14

1

15

377

50

427

Agreements
Number
Voluntary redundancies including early
retirement contractual costs

Total Value
of
Agreements
£000

Mutually agreed resignations (MARS)
contractual costs
Early retirements in the efficiency of the
service contractual costs
Contractual payments in lieu of notice

1

50

1

50

Exit payments following Employment
Tribunals or court orders
Non-contractual payments requiring HMT
approval
*
Total
Of which:
non-contractual payments requiring HMT
approval made to individuals where the
payment value was more than 12 months
of their annual salary
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3.4

NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance
The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation has applied the principles of the
NHS Foundation Trust Code of Governance on a comply or explain basis. The NHS
Foundation Trust Code of Governance, most recently revised in July 2014, is based on
the principles of the UK Corporate Code of Governance issues in 2012.
The Trust currently complies with all Code provisions.

3.5

Regulatory Ratings
Monitor used the Continuity of Services Risk Rating (CoSRR), which incorporated two
key criteria; capital service cover and liquidity. The scale was 1 to 4 with 4 being the
lowest risk/highest performance. From August 2015, Monitor changed the criteria for
measuring financial risks to the Financial Sustainability Risk Rating (FSRR). This
incorporated four key criteria, capital service cover, liquidity, I&E margin and variance
from plan. The available scale has remained as 1 to 4 with 4 being the lowest
risk/highest performance.
In the table below the Trust’s ratings are shown for the year under review and also the
previous year. The Trust ended the year with a FSRR of 3 as planned. The Trust was
rated Green for governance throughout 2015/16.

2015/16
Continuity of
Services Risk
Rating
Financial
Sustainability
Risk Rating
Governance
rating
2014/15

Continuity of
service rating
Governance
rating

Annual
Plan

Q1

4

Q2

Annual
Plan

Q4
(draft)

4

3

Green

Q3

Green

Q1

2

4

3

Green

Green

Green

Q2

Q3

Q4

3

4

4

4

3

Green

Green

Green

Green

Green
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3.7 Annual Governance Statement
Scope of responsibility
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of internal control
that supports the achievement of the NHS foundation trust’s policies, aims and objectives,
whilst safeguarding the public funds and departmental assets for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned to me. I am also responsible for
ensuring that the NHS foundation trust is administered prudently and economically and that
resources are applied efficiently and effectively. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as
set out in the NHS Foundation Trust Accounting Officer Memorandum.
The purpose of the system of internal control
The system of internal control is designed to manage risk to a reasonable level rather than to
eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only
provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal
control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify and prioritise the risks to the
achievement of the policies, aims and objectives of Dorset HealthCare University NHS
Foundation Trust, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks being realised and the impact
should they be realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.
The system of internal control has been in place in Dorset HealthCare University NHS
Foundation Trust for the year ended 31 March 2016 and up to the date of approval of the
annual report and accounts.
Capacity to handle risk
Risk Management Leadership and Training
The Trust has continued to improve risk management processes in the Trust. These
processes are overseen by coherent and comprehensive management structures and roles.
Non-Executive Directors are aware of their responsibilities in relation to risk management
and chair all Board Committees. All Board Committees and Executive Groups have defined
Terms of Reference setting out responsibilities for risk management where appropriate.
Two Executive groups-the Executive Quality and Clinical Risk Group and the Executive
Performance and Non-Clinical Risk Group-receive details of all risks scoring 10+,
information relating to material changes to the significant risk profile and progress in
mitigating risks, together with action plans.
A Risk Management Policy is in place, supported by comprehensive training and
communication plans. This, together with the Ulysses electronic risk management system,
enables the Trust to effectively manage its clinical and non-clinical risks.
As Chief Executive I am the Chief Risk Officer ultimately responsible for risk. High level
operational responsibility for risk has been delegated to the Director of Nursing & Quality for
clinical risk and to the Trust Secretary for non-clinical risk.
All Executive, Clinical, Locality and other Associate Directors have a specific responsibility
for the identification and prudent control of risks within their sphere of responsibility. In
addition, Executive Directors, Clinical and all other Associate Directors are responsible,
where required, for the provision of specialist advice to the Board of Directors. This
acknowledges that all Directors are subject matter experts and have specific responsibilities
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for interpreting and applying national policy, legislation and regulations in respect of their
specific areas of expertise.
The Head of Patient Safety, reporting to the Director of Nursing and Quality, has day to day
responsibility for the clinical risk management process. This encompasses the development
of risk management policy, administration of risk management systems and oversight of
clinical risk exposures facing the organisation, ensuring the provision of risk management
training, supporting Localities, carrying out checks within and across Localities to monitor the
management of risk and triangulating lessons for learning from clinical risks, ensuring
defects alerts or changes in practice are conveyed to front line teams promptly.
The Head of Regulation and Compliance monitors the quality of services against CQC
standards and progress against Quality Priorities, advises on and escalates risks relating to
regulatory standards and patients, monitors risks relating to medical devices and leads on
the implementation of CQUIN targets to improve quality.
The Trust Secretary has day to day responsibility to lead on corporate, ie non-clinical risk
management processes across the Trust and for managing the Board Assurance
Framework.
In addition the capacity to provide leadership to and deliver the risk management function is
underpinned by a number of other key roles including:








Head of Clinical Effectiveness and Audit
Lead managers for safeguarding children and adults
Health and Safety Manager
Local Security Management Specialist
Fire Safety Officer
Caldicott Guardian
Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO).

Staff are provided with guidance on risk management through the Risk Management Policy
which clearly sets out why it is essential to manage risk well and communicate openly with
one another. It references that the Trust makes evidence based decisions and that risk
management should focus on the uncertainties that could impair the achievement of the
Trust’s purpose and objectives.
The Policy sets out a framework that:


reduces harm for patients, carers, staff, volunteers, contractors, any other
stakeholders and the Trust itself



continuously improves patient safety, experience, and quality performance



protects everything of value to the Trust (such as reputation, market share,
exemplary clinical outcomes)



promotes the success of the Trust.

The risk and control framework
The Trust aims to keep patients and staff safe at all times. Risk is therefore anything that is
stopping or might stop it from keeping them safe whilst in its care.
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To help identify risks, consideration is given of the Trust’s historical operational performance
and trends, previous events, current challenges, new innovations from inside and outside the
Trust, changes in practice identified by external organisations and the needs of the people
who use the Trust’s services.
The risk analysis involves estimating risk severity (the impact the risk has on the people in
the Trust’s care and the Trust itself) and likelihood (the probability of that impact happening
within 12 months). The scores are multiplied to give an overall risk rating of between 1-25.
The risk rating is used to determine risk management priorities and monitor acceptable
levels of risk. The Trust actively encourages constructive challenge of assumptions made
regarding severity and likelihood.
To manage these risks, there is a combination of prevention, detection and contingency
controls. Prevention controls are part of a system of internal controls designed to prevent a
risk from occurring at all. They typically involve policies, procedures, standards, guidelines,
training, protective equipment/clothing and pre-procedure checks. Detection controls
provide an early warning of control failure, such as an alarm, incident reports, complaints,
performance reports, audits. They tell the Trust how well the prevention controls are
working. Contingency controls help prepare for an effective reaction in response to a major
control failure, shocks or an overwhelming event. Contingency controls are designed to
maintain resilience. They include reserves of time and money.
The process for managing risk is clearly defined in the Risk Management Policy in six steps
as follows:
Step 1: Determine priorities
Step 2: Identify risk
Step 3: Assess risk
Step 4: Respond to the risk-seek, accept, avoid, transfer, modify
Step 5: Report Risk
Step 6: Review Risk
With regard to reviewing risks, specific reports are generated from Ulysses, depending on
the current risk score as follows:
 ≥15 – Board of Directors; significant risk report (ie 15+); monthly;
 ≥15 – Board of Directors; Board assurance framework (BAF) quarterly;
 ≥15 – Audit Committee and the Quality Governance Committee: Board assurance
framework (BAF) quarterly;
 ≥10 – Executive Quality & Clinical Risk Group monthly;
Executive Performance & Corporate Risk Group monthly;
 ≥8 – Specialty/Locality Management Groups monthly;
 ≥6 – Ward/Departmental Management;
The Trust Board receives, quarterly, the Board Assurance Framework and summary reports
on any other significant risks, the nature of controls and action plans. The Executive Quality
& Clinical Risk Group and the Executive Performance & Non-Clinical Risk Group receive
reports to inform them of the distribution of risk across the Trust, details of all risks scoring
10+, material changes to the significant risk profile and progress in with action being taken to
mitigate the risk.
The Audit Committee will scrutinise assurances on the entire risk management system to
ensure it remains fit for purpose and, at the Committee’s discretion, will examine assurances
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on the operation of controls for all significant corporate risk exposures or any other risk of
interest to the Committee.
The Quality Governance Committee examines assurances on the operation of controls for
significant clinical risk exposures or any other risk of interest to the Committee.
Localities will review the identification of risks within their wards, departments and specialties
and check that adequate controls are in place and actions are being effectively implemented.
In the event of a significant risk being identified it will be thoroughly assessed, reviewed by
the relevant manager and Executive Director and reported to the Chief Executive within 24
hours. The Chief Executive, with support from relevant members of the Executive Team and
advisors, will determine the most appropriate course of action to manage the risk. He will
assign responsibility to a relevant Executive Director for the management of the risk and the
development of mitigation plans. The risk will be formally reviewed by the Executive Team at
their next weekly meeting.
The Board identified six risks to the Trust strategic objectives and compliance with the Trust
Licence, in 2015/16:







inadequate planning or provision of care
ineffective clinical leadership
inadequate staffing levels
transition to locality governance management structures
financial challenges
competitive forces.

These have been reviewed over the course of the year by the Board, the Quality
Governance Committee, the Executive Committee, the Executive Quality & Clinical Risk
Group and the Executive Performance & Corporate Risk Group.
The system of risk reporting, and governance in the Trust in general, has formed part of two
major reviews in the Trust in 2015/16:


the CQC inspection in June 2015



a review, undertaken by PM Governance, of the Trust against the Monitor Well-led
Framework.
.
No material issues were raised in respect of the risk reporting or governance systems in
either review. The Board has taken assurance from this that the risks to compliance with the
Trust Licence, set out above, and Foundation Trust governance arrangements, are being
effectively mitigated.
Quality Governance Arrangements
The foundation trust is fully compliant with the registration requirements of the Care Quality
Commission.
Quality performance is reported to the Directorate Management Groups and the Executive
Quality and Clinical Risk Group on a monthly basis. Scrutiny and assurance is obtained
through the Quality Governance Committee. Quality performance is also monitored by the
Clinical Commissioning Group at the monthly contract review meetings.
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With regard to data quality, a sample is checked monthly to ensure that it is accurate and
reliable.
Compliance with Care Quality Commission (CQC) registration has, over the course of the
year, been an area of considerable focus. The CQC undertook a major planned inspection in
June 2015 to assess the position of the Trust in respect of each of its five domains.The Trust
received a rating in each of these domains as well as an overall rating.
In terms of the rating for each domain, the Trust received the following
Safe
Effective
Caring
Responsive
Well-Led

Requires improvement
Requires improvement
Good
Requires improvement
Requires improvement

In overall terms, the Trust was rated as ‘requiring improvement’.
Details of the outcome of the inspection and an explanation of the ‘requires improvement’
rating awarded to the Trust are set out in Chapters 2 and 4 of this Annual Report.
The outcome of these inspection reports has been a focus for activity and review over the
remainder of the financial year. The Board receives a monthly progress report on the
implementation of action plans developed following the inspection. Action is being taken to
address those areas in which progress in implementing plans needs to be improved.
Waiting time information is included in the Clinical Commissioning Group Performance report
which is submitted monthly and gives detail to speciality level. All breaches of this
performance indicator are investigated and detail of why breaches occurred is issued.
Directors also receive information at Super-locality level to show compliance levels towards
the Monitor physical health elective waiting targets. Currently, the assurance of this
information is followed up with regular dialogue between analysts and clinical leads to
identify how patient pathways have developed and the proper use of the system in question.
Risks to accuracy are reduced by ensuring this dialogue continues between support services
and clinical services.
Data Security Risk process
Staff are encouraged to report all information security incidents, whether suspected or actual
so that they can be investigated, appropriate actions taken to address the incident and
lessons learnt to prevent reoccurrence. They are reported using Ulysses, with the risks
being graded in accordance with the risk matrix in the usual way.
The Information Governance Manager and Caldicott Guardian are alerted of all data security
incidents. All level two incidents will be reported via the IG Toolkit Incident Reporting Tool
which informs the Department of Health, HSCIC and the Information Commissioner’s Office
of data breaches. This would be done within 24hrs of the incident and investigated and the
incident closed within five days.
The Trust has established an Information Governance Group (IGG) to promote a consistent
approach to information governance. This is responsible for developing and sharing good
practice across and ensuring that information governance standards are included in other
work programmes and projects. It co-ordinates the review of the Trust’s information
governance management and accountability arrangements and produces and monitors the
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annual information governance work programme. Any matters of concern are escalated to
the Executive Performance & Corporate Risk Group.
The Trust will, under its duty of candour, inform service users if there has been a breach in
respect of their personal information.
Incident Reporting
The Trust uses an online reporting system, Ulysses, for all types of incidents (clinical and
non-clinical). The system enables real time notifications to be sent to identified people.
These are centrally set up and relate to the type or severity of the incident ensuring that the
correct people are aware when an incident has occurred.
The Trust encourages staff to report incidents and near misses and sees reporting as a sign
of a healthy safety culture. The Trust remains in the top third of the highest reporters to the
National Reporting and Learning System for patient safety incidents in the reporting cluster.
Training in incident reporting is embedded in various training programmes such as the
prevention and management of violence and aggression, induction, health and safety and
clinical risk training. Samples of clinical records are reviewed to see whether incidents
recorded in the clinical record are reported via the incident reporting system.
In 2015/16 there were 10,370 Trust related incidents categorised as follows:







6147 No harm
3249 Minor (non-permanent harm)
494 Moderate (Semi-permanent harm)
11 Major (major permanent harm)
154 Catastrophic (death)
315 Preventable harms.

The top five reported types of incident for 2015/16 were:






Violence/assault - 1747
Slips, trips and falls - 1495
Pressure Ulcers - 1203
Medication related - 809
Security - 783.

The lessons learned from serious incidents are captured in real time on the intranet via the
lessons learnt booklet and details are included monthly in the Quality Matters newsletter and
within the locality quality reports. Learning is also incorporated into clinical training. Poor
care planning and risk assessments have been identified as contributory to factors to
incidents in 2014/15. A dashboard has been set up to monitor training and adherence to
care planning and risk assessment requirements, to address this.
As an employer with staff entitled to membership of the NHS Pension Scheme, control
measures are in place to ensure all employer obligations contained within the Scheme
regulations are complied with. This includes ensuring that deductions from salary,
employer’s contributions and payments into the Scheme are in accordance with the Scheme
rules, and that member Pension Scheme records are accurately updated in accordance with
the timescales detailed in the Regulations.
Under the pension auto enrolment legislation, we also use NEST as our alternative scheme
for those not eligible to access the NHS Pension scheme.
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Control measures are in place to ensure that all the organisation’s obligations under equality,
diversity and human rights legislation are complied with. The Trust has a Diversity and
Human Rights implementation Scheme which details the Trust’s commitment to Equality and
Diversity in the provision of services and the support for all staff. Training, communication
and equality impact assessment, consultation and involvement strategies to address health
inequalities and improve equality outcomes are all outlined within the scheme.
Equality and Diversity Training is carried out by all staff that join the Trust as part of the
Trust’s mandatory induction process. In addition there is a Level 2 Face to Face Equality and
Diversity Course for Front Line Clinical Staff, an online Level 2 course and a Level 3 Course
for managers and leaders which sets out how to carry out Equality Impact Analysis.
Whilst the Trust has undertaken risk assessments, currently Carbon Reduction Delivery
Plans are not in place in accordance with emergency preparedness and civil contingency
requirements, as based on UKCIP 2009 weather projects, to ensure that we comply with our
obligations under the Climate Change Act and the Adaptation Reporting requirements.
Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness and the use of resources
The Trust has an established system of financial control which is led by the Director of
Finance. The annual budget setting process for 2015/16 was approved by the Trust Board
before the start of the financial year and was communicated to all managers in the
organisation.
The Director of Finance and her team have worked closely with managers throughout the
year to ensure robust financial management across the Trust.
The Integrated Corporate Dashboard covers Quality, Operational, Workforce and Financial
performance and is reported to the Trust Board on a monthly basis. It is set against updated
quality metrics as well as overall Trust performance which is tracked with trend analysis over
a 13-month period. From April 2015 the previous month’s data has been reported to the
Trust Board as part of the work that has been undertaken to improve Board reporting.
All staff have a responsibility to identify and assess risk and to take action to ensure controls
are in place to reduce and/or mitigate risks, whilst acknowledging the need for economy,
efficiency, and effectiveness of the resources.
All budget managers have a responsibility to manage their budgets and systems of internal
control effectively and efficiently. The processes to achieve this are reviewed on an ongoing
basis by managers themselves and are also examined by internal and external audit as part
of their annual activities.
The Audit Committee receives reports from Directors of the Trust as well as internal and
external audit and Counter Fraud and Security Management, on the work undertaken to
review the Trust's systems of control including economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the
use of resources. Action plans are agreed from these reports to improve controls where
necessary.
The Trust external auditors give an opinion on the economy, efficiency and effectiveness
and the use of resources. For 2015/16, the external auditors have commented that:“Under the Code we are required to report to you if we are not satisfied that the Trust has
made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of
resources for the year ended 31 March 2016.
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The Care Quality Commission (CQC) performed a full inspection of the Trust in June 2015
and issued the inspection report in October 2015 with an overall rating for the Trust of
“Requires Improvement”. The report noted that the Trust was in the process of deploying
effective systems, which indicates that the Trust did not have proper arrangements in place
for the whole of 2015/16.
Except for the matters described above, where we have been unable to satisfy ourselves
that the Trust has made proper arrangements for securing effectiveness in its use of
resources for the year ended 31 March 2016, we have no other matters to report.”
Information governance
The Trust has not had any serious incidents relating to information governance including any
incidents classified as Level 2 in the Information Governance Incident Reporting Tool and
has not had to report anything to the Information Commissioner.
Annual Quality Report
The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service
(Quality Accounts) Regulations 2010 (as amended) to prepare Quality Accounts for each
financial year. Monitor has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and
content of annual Quality Reports which incorporate the above legal requirements in the
NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual.
The Board is able to assure itself that the Quality Report represents a balanced view and
that there are appropriate controls in place to ensure the accuracy, completeness and
timeliness of the data by the process detailed below.
Progress against the agreed priorities and indicators in the 2015/16 Quality Report have
been reported to the Executive Quality and Clinical Risk Group, the Quality Governance
Committee and the Trust Board, quarterly throughout the year.
As part of the consultation for the priorities and indicators for the 2016/17 Quality Report the
Trust consulted with staff and stakeholders including at the Quality Matters Conference in
January 2016, and at the Council of Governors.
Feedback from staff has informed the proposed quality priorities and indicators, which have
been provided to external stakeholders including the Trust’s Commissioners and
Healthwatch for consultation.
In line with Monitor guidance, the Trust commissions external auditors to carry out an
assurance review of the Quality Report. This review includes reviewing the content of the
Quality Report for consistency with what has been reported internally to the Trust Board
throughout the year, feedback from Commissioners, Governors and other external
stakeholders. The Trust’s External Auditors have issued a limited assurance report, limited
by scope, which is included in the final Quality Report.
All policies and procedures are produced in line with the NHS Litigation Authority
requirements, which are still deemed to be best practice, although the formal risk
management assessments do not now take place. The effectiveness of policies in ensuring
quality of care provided is monitored through a variety of mechanisms including:




as part of root cause analysis
by undertaking audit
by monitoring incident and complaint data.
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Should the Trust wish to explore a particular aspect in the quality of care in more detail a
focussed ‘deep dive’ review will be undertaken.
The Trust wide Clinical Audit programme includes topics from priority areas such as CQC
inspection reports, NICE guidance, and contractual requirements. The Trust audit database
is a key tool in ensuring monitoring of action plans and that audit activity is effective.
During 2015/16 the Board has utilised a revised integrated corporate dashboard. The
metrics are used to populate team level dashboards. All staff will have access to the same
information and insights as the Board. These metrics will be monitored by the Executive
Quality and Clinical Risk Group.
The data used to support the integrated corporate dashboard comes from various sources
including clinical audits, surveys, information management systems, incident reports and
internal and external audits. All of these are used to produce the monthly Integrated
Dashboard. Data in relation to performance and quality is collated and reviewed by the
Directors of Finance, Human Resources and Nursing and Quality. These Directors are
responsible for ensuring reliable information is produced on a timely basis.
Review of effectiveness
As Accounting Officer, I have responsibility for reviewing the effectiveness of the system of
internal control. My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed
by the work of the internal auditors, clinical audit and the executive managers and clinical
leads within the NHS foundation trust who have responsibility for the development and
maintenance of the internal control framework. I have drawn on the content of the quality
report attached to this Annual Report and other performance information available to me. My
review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in their management
letter and other reports. I have been advised on the implications of the result of my review of
the effectiveness of the system of internal control by the Board, the audit committee and a
plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous improvement of the system is in place.
There are a number of components which form our system for maintaining and reviewing the
system of internal control.
The Trust Board
The Board has overall responsibility for the activity, integrity and strategy of the Trust. Its
role is largely supervisory and strategic and has six key functions:







to set strategic direction, define objectives and agree plans for the Trust
to monitor performance and ensure corrective action
to ensure financial stewardship
to ensure high standards of corporate and clinical governance
to appoint, appraise and remunerate executives
to ensure dialogue with external bodies and the local community.

Audit Committee
The role of the Audit Committee is to provide the Trust Board with the assurance that
adequate processes of corporate governance, risk management, audit and internal control
are in place and working effectively. It provides assurance to the Board in respect of an
effective system of internal control being in place throughout the organisation.
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It ensures that there are effective internal audit arrangements in place that meet mandatory
NHS Internal Audit Standards and provides independent assurance to the Trust Board. The
Committee reviews the work and findings of External Audit and provides a conduit through
which their findings can be considered by the Trust Board.
It reviews the Trust's annual statutory accounts before they are presented to the Trust
Board, ensuring that the significance of figures, notes and important changes are fully
understood.
The Committee maintains oversight of the Trust's Counter Fraud arrangements. It also
provides assurance over the Trust's risk process ensuring that risk is dealt with consistently
throughout the organisation.
Internal Audit
Internal Audit is currently undertaken by TIAA who produce an annual internal audit plan,
produced in discussion with the Trust to enable high level scrutiny of the effectiveness of the
processes and procedures that the Trust has in place.
The 2015/16 internal audit plan detailed 31 reviews of which 26 were assurance reviews. Of
the 26, six had substantial assurance, 17 reasonable and three limited. Five operational
reviews were undertaken (where no assurance opinion is provided).
The Trust Internal Auditors have concluded that reasonable assurance can be given that
there is a generally sound system of internal control, designed to meet the organisation’s
objectives, and that controls are generally being applied consistently. However, some
weaknesses in the design and/or inconsistent application of controls put the achievement of
particular objectives at risk, particularly in respect of medical devices management, the Trust
cost improvement programme and controlled drug and drug fridge management.
Conclusion
This Annual Governance Statement highlights the continuing improvements made within the
Trust. The inspection undertaken by the CQC and the review of the Trust against the
Monitor Well-Led Framework, undertaken by PM Governance, have given an indication of
the continuing progress being made by Dorset HealthCare.
The Board has absolute clarity of purpose on the priority of moving the Trust’s governance
structures to an ‘exemplary’ standard and will continue to make improvements over the
course of 2016/17.
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PART ONE:
STATEMENT ON QUALITY OF THE HEALTHCARE SERVICES
PROVIDED FROM THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OF THE TRUST

At Dorset HealthCare we are absolutely committed to
ensuring we deliver high quality, constantly improving
care; first time, every time. At the heart of this is
nurturing a culture that supports and empowers staff
and patients alike, so that our care is kind,
compassionate, safe and effective.
We know our staff want to deliver high quality care to
patients every day and it is the role of the organisation
as a whole to give them the support and freedoms to
do this.
We care when people are unwell, we support their recovery and we give them the
knowledge and confidence to stay as healthy as possible. We must do all of this while
ensuring that we do our patients no harm and that we deliver care and interventions
based on the best clinical evidence and guidance available.
Every member of staff is critical to delivering excellence to the people who use our
services - investing in our people and developing an organisation where people are proud
to work is central to this.
The quality of our services must be the measure by which our Trust is judged. This
Quality Report for 2015/16 is an annual evaluation of the quality of services we provide
and the programmes in place to continually improve our services.
We describe the work we have been doing to improve patient safety, clinical effectiveness
and the experiences of people using our services. We share our performance against our
quality priorities over the last year, describe our priority areas for 2016/17 and showcase
innovative practice across our services.
In the last year we developed and approved our Quality Strategy which sets our
ambitions and objectives for high quality services at Dorset HealthCare and how we are
going to achieve them. It signals our determination to make quality - and quality
improvement - our organising principles and to continue our drive for excellence with the
patient at the heart of all we do.
In June 2015 the Care Quality Commission (CQC) carried out a comprehensive inspection
of our services. Their report was published on 16 October 2015 and focused on sixteen
major service lines of which:
o Two services are rated as Outstanding
o Four services are rated as Good
o Ten services are rated as Requires Improvement
o No service was rated as Inadequate
The overall Trust rating is ‘Requires Improvement’.
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PART TWO:
PRIORITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT & STATEMENTS OF ASSURANCE
FROM THE BOARD

PRIORITIES FOR IMPROVEMENT 2015/16
Lord Darzi established a single definition of quality in his 2008 review High Quality Care for
All. This definition comprises three dimensions of quality, all of which are required for a
high-quality service:




Care that is safe
Care that is clinically effective; and
Care that provides the best possible experience for patients

Every year we identify a set of priority areas for improving quality. One focuses on patient
experience, one on patient safety and one on clinical effectiveness. The priorities are
selected using a variety of information sources including patient incidents, feedback from
patients and carer’s, complaints, and internal performance measures as well as national
initiatives such as the Sign Up for Safety campaign. National best practice guidance such
as that produced by NICE also informs the quality priorities. The proposed quality
priorities go through a consultation process with our staff, public and stakeholders and the
Trust Board finalises the priorities for the next year.
We support each priority with three indicators of quality which set milestones to measure
the progress of our improvements over the coming year. These measurements are
reported quarterly to the Executive Quality and Clinical Risk Group which monitors the
levels of progress and ensures quality improvement is achieved and sustained. The
indicators themselves are identified alongside the priorities as part of the consultation with
our stakeholders.
We start this section by reporting on our achievement against the Trust quality priorities we
set ourselves for 2015/16.
The table overleaf outlines the priority and level of achievement against the outcome
during this period. This is followed by a more detailed analysis of progress made and
further action to be taken going forward.
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Objective achieved Objective partially achieved X Objective not achieved
Priority

Intended Outcome

Patient Experience
Lessons learned from the findings
from local investigations and
reviews will be shared beyond the
team involved to improve the
experience of our patients

Learning from experience is critical to
improving the quality of services and
the experiences of the patient and is
an area the Trust wants to further
develop and improve.

Patient Safety
To promote safe and therapeutic
staffing levels within community
mental health teams (including
home treatment) and community
nursing teams.

Clinical Effectiveness
Support staff to implement the
National Institute for Health and
Care Excellence (NICE) quality
standards with accessible, user
friendly guidelines and policies to
enable the provision of high quality,
evidence based care to our patients

The Trust recognises the importance of
adequate staffing with the appropriate
skill mix to ensure patients receive
efficient and safe care across its
services. The Trust will work to ensure
that there are appropriate levels of
community staff, in order to ensure
patients are receiving the care they
need.
The Trust is committed to delivering
high quality care, each time, every
time. We recognise that robust and
effective policies, guidelines and
standard operating procedures are key
to supporting our staff to achieve this.
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Outcome







PATIENT EXPERIENCE
Lessons learned from the findings from local investigations and reviews will be
shared beyond the team involved to improve the experience of our patients.

Rationale for selection
The Trust is committed to listening, learning and acting on feedback to enable us to
continually improve the care we provide. Learning from patients’ and carers’ experience is
critical to improving the quality of our services and an area the Trust wanted to develop
further. We recognised that lessons learnt from local investigations are owned by the
teams directly involved and improvements were being made. However, we knew more
needed to be done to improve and strengthen the way this learning is shared and
understood across teams and disciplines. This would also help reduce variation in the
quality of delivery across teams and services and improve the patient experience.
Our Trust vision is:
To lead and inspire through excellence, compassion and expertise in all that we do.
Underpinning our vision is the belief that we can be ‘Better Every Day’. This can only really
be achieved if we are a learning organisation that shares ideas, best practice and learning
across the Trust.
Progress against the priority
During 2015-16 we have taken a proactive approach to seek out opportunities to learn and
explore innovative methods for effectively sharing our learning. Progress has been
monitored through regular reporting at team, directorate, sub-committee and Board level
on the following three indicators:
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1. Introduce new ways to share learning
2. All teams across the organisation are aware of learning from lessons that have arisen
outside of their own service
3. There is evidence of changes in practice as a result of lessons learned.
There have been 23 learning events, attended by more than 400 staff from services across
the Trust, run by the Nursing and Quality Directorate in 2015/16.
A series of roadshows was held during 2015/16. We shared information in an interactive
way about:


the Trust’s quality priorities



the national ‘Sign up to Safety’ campaign



lessons learnt from serious incidents



patient stories



the way the Nursing and Quality team can support teams in making service
improvements.

These have been successful events and helped staff to understand their services from a
patient’s/carer’s perspective. Respondents recorded a 93 percent highly relevant or
relevant satisfaction rating for these roadshows.
We held 15 half-day learning from serious incident events throughout the Trust in 2015/16,
which were facilitated by the Medical Director or Director of Nursing and Quality. The staff
feedback from these events was positive and focussed on the value of providing time and
space where teams could share their own learning experiences with peers working in
different clinical settings.
Feedback highlighted that staff liked the combination of different methods that were used
for sharing information at these events which included presentations, video clips, podcasts
and group working. Attendees like the interactive approach and saw it as a valuable way to
learn.
The positive approach in
regard to learning and sharing
rather than blame was really
good……….
.

I think the podcast idea is
great; the videos defuse fears
re blame and criticism and
promote the aim of
excellence.

The feedback has facilitated active reflection on practice and enabled participants to
consider how their own experiences could be improved in the future through shared
learning.
Alongside this the Trust has been sharing lessons learned and common trends arising
from complaints. These are shared every three months with locality teams through quality
reports, focussed thematic reviews, dashboards and the monthly Quality Matters
newsletter. We are doing more work to focus on specific service areas, for example
complaints from patients in prison, so that an in-depth analysis identifies what
improvement and changes in practice we can make. The findings are available on the
Trust website. (http://www.dorsethealthcare.nhs.uk/trust/quality/complaints.htm )
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Over the year the Trust has developed a Complaints Review Group. The group is chaired
by the Trust Chief Executive and is attended by service users, frontline clinicians,
managers and other stakeholders, including members of Dorset Mental Health Forum and
Bournemouth Older People’s Forum. The quarterly meeting focuses on a number of
selected anonymised case studies, which are analysed for key learning points. Crucial to
this learning is the feedback from service users.
During quarter four (01/01/2016 to 31/03/16) the Patient Experience and Complaints Team
carried out a review of the effectiveness of the Complaints Review Group in sharing
learning and changes in practice. A total of 29 representatives were asked to complete
the survey (those who are standing members and those who are invited to discuss their
specific complaint). At the time of writing this report we have received nine responses.
Below provides a brief overview of some of the results so far:
Question

Results

Comments

Do you find the panel useful
and meaningful

89% yes
11% no

“Helpful input from those involved
in complaints/investigations, also
from third parties such as
Advocacy and Healthwatch”

Does the panel focus
enough on the learning from
complaints?

56% yes
33% unsure
11% no

“Whilst learning is evident in
many individual cases reviewed,
I think there needs to be a
greater focus on how learning is
followed up…”
“I think the panel does focus on
learning but not sure what then
happens to the learning and how
it’s spread across the Trust”

Sharing information from
Complaints Review Panel
meetings is important to
improve service user
care. Please indicate who
you share information with
(please select all that apply)

Six respondents
shared information
learnt from the panel
with their own team
and three with their
line manager

The majority of respondents did
this verbally on a one to one
basis and verbally at meetings.
One respondent shared the
learning during an away day.

Any suggestions on how the
meeting could be improved?

N/A

“Wider promotion of the issues
discussed, use in appraisals /
team meetings and other forums
as relevant”
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There have also been developments in demonstrating changes in practice and service
improvements as a direct result of lessons learned, in particular feedback received from
patients, carers, complaints received and through the national patient satisfaction survey.
Improvements that have been made as a result of feedback or complaints received are
shared on the Trust website (http://www.dorsethealthcare.nhs.uk/trust/quality/complaints.htm). A
sample selection of examples of changes made as a result of feedback and complaints is
shown in the table below:

Description of complaint
Mother does not feel that her daughter is
getting the treatment that she needs and
should be sectioned and placed in a
secure unit

Action taken as a result
Acknowledgment that we needed to give
more time to the process with parents to
discuss risk assessments and leave plans.
Make use of parents’ evening sessions, with
the support of parent and peer specialists, to
discuss how the process could be better
managed when young people, parents or
carers may disagree with regards to risk.
A ward round feedback form has been
developed for parents to input into the ward
round discussion and is another format for
parents to express their views.

Lack of support through transition from
Child and Adolescent Mental Health
Services (CAMHS) to adult Community
Mental Health Teams.

A more robust care plan will be developed for
young people during the period of transition
from Pebble Lodge to adult inpatient settings.
In future three key people will be identified to
support the transition plan and any barriers to
this transition will be identified before transfer
so that alternative options can be explored.
The Trust is also currently reviewing the
transition pathway from CAMHS to adult
services, peer specialists are part of this
review process.

Waiting area which was described as
being sterile and an unwelcoming
environment

Changes made to the area with plants, a
water dispenser and radio were added to the
area.

Felt unsafe and chaotic on the ward,
transferred to Linden ward which felt
calm and peaceful and enabled me to
recover.

A monthly patient safety questionnaire has
been introduced to monitor the patients’
experience on the ward with the aim to
identify any area of improvement that can be
addressed immediately and also
complements the Friends and Family Test
questionnaire which is completed on
discharge.
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We carry out a quarterly review of all themes from serious incidents and compare them
with those identified in the previous quarter. This helps to identify areas where repeat
recommendations have been made, highlighting the need to review the actions identified
to change practice and to consider alternative recommendations. We are seeing an
increase in the number of incidents that did not require any recommendations following the
review. This indicates that learning and changes in practice from similar incidents are
happening. One example of an improvement is in the completion of the falls risk
assessment on admission.
The Trust has developed a process to share a selection of comments from service users
who have completed the Family and Friends Test (a national patient and service user
satisfaction survey). These are posted on Twitter and shared via the Trust Facebook page
every Friday, known in the Trust as ‘Feedback Friday’.
The latest Feedback Friday comments have been positive and include:


Good friendly and informative service with only a short wait.



Speedy, efficient, friendly staff.



I felt very listened to, I was never made to feel that my thoughts or feelings were stupid
or wrong, this was very important to me whilst I was feeling frightened and vulnerable.



The service has helped me. I am pleased with the service and it was very professional.



I have had so much support with my problem.



Because the service is confidential and extremely trustworthy



Friendly staff



Very friendly advice given

We do not often receive negative comments however one that we have received is


Poor availability of help. My psychiatrist: half hour every 4 months? Would be nice to
see a CPN every 2 weeks or so for a chat.

This comment has been shared with the team who are reviewing processes to see if
improvements can be made.

Going forward
Improving the quality of our services through learning from our patient experiences, from
incidents, complaints and other data sources is an ongoing priority for the Trust. The
diversity and complexity of the organisation makes this a challenge, particularly finding
ways that learning from an incident in one team can be shared across all teams to ensure
others do not make the same mistake.
The Trust has introduced innovative ways of sharing the learning over the past year – staff
welcome this and changes are being made in services as a result. However, we recognise
the ongoing need for learning to take place at individual, team and organisational level and
we will continue to run learning events and work with our staff and patients.
The Trust continues to review and develop complaints training for staff and e-learning
packages are now available. The content will support learning of complaint handling
procedures followed by classroom teaching to consolidate the learning. The Trust will be
focusing on learning from complaints and patient feedback from the Friends and Family
Test and will look to develop more robust ways to share lessons learnt with complainants
and patients.
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PATIENT SAFETY
To promote safe and therapeutic staffing levels within community mental health
teams (including home treatment) and community nursing teams.

Rationale for selection
Over recent years several national inquiries (Francis 2010 & 2013, Berwick 2013, and
Keogh 2013), have identified the impact inadequate staffing levels have played in poor
patient experiences and excess mortality rates. Safe staffing requires that there are
sufficient staff available to meet the needs of patients and that these staff are appropriately
skilled, are well led and that there are systems in place to enable them to deliver the best
possible care.
In July 2014 the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) produced its
guidance ‘Safe Staffing for Nursing in Adult Inpatient Wards in Acute Hospitals’. This was
to be supported by a programme to review safe staffing levels in other settings including
community nursing teams and mental health community teams; however, this guidance
was not developed as expected.
In 2014/15 one of the Trust’s quality priorities was to ensure all Trust in-patient units had
safe and therapeutic staffing levels. Good progress was made in monitoring and acting on
staffing levels in in-patient settings. This work continued, but the focus was extended in
2015/16 to community teams, to ensure the same level of scrutiny is achieved. In 2015/16
the Trust widened the scope of this priority to include community mental health teams
(including home treatment) and community nursing teams.

Progress made
Progress with this priority was monitored through three indicators;
1. Review activity and caseloads within community nursing teams (physical and
mental health)
2. A reduction in avoidable, community acquired pressure ulcers, grade three or above
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3. A reduction in the number of patients committing suicide, with the aspiration to
achieving zero tolerance

Community Nursing Teams
Over the past year we have reviewed activity and caseloads within community nursing
teams and implemented a community-based Quality Effectiveness and Safety Trigger
Tool. This tool acts as an early indicator of potential safety issues, enabling teams to
proactively manage their caseloads, and provides assurance on the quality of care
provided by the teams.
Feedback gathered from the district nurses shows that the tool has proved very useful in
practice to highlight teams at potential risk and has provided a framework for discussion
and action within the localities. The locality managers are looking at enhancing some of
the criteria to make it as relevant as possible for future use.
Community Mental Health Teams
We carried out a comprehensive review of the Community Mental Health Teams (CMHT),
to look at the demands, current resources available and the patient journey.
Our aims for this review were to:


Identify the clear function and role of the CMHT



Develop, in partnership with Dorset Mental Health Forum, care pathways that are NICE
compliant and based on best available clinical guidance and peer user experience



Provide an equitable service across the county,



Have staff who are appropriately skilled, resourced and supported to provide high
quality care.

Alongside this we have been working closely with the Dorset Clinical Commissioning
Group (CCG) on the Acute Care Pathway review. This review has been carried out to
develop mental health services in Dorset that meet the needs of communities now and
over the next 20 years. The review is being led by Dorset CCG in partnership with Dorset
HealthCare and the three local authorities and includes:


People who use services



Carers



Service providers including the voluntary sector

This work is ongoing and once agreed will provide the framework for future models of
service delivery.
Reducing pressure ulcers
Work linked to our ‘Sign up to Safety Campaign’ has led to a reduction in the number of
avoidable community acquired pressure ulcers, grade three or above. We established a
baseline and developed a three year trajectory aiming to reduce incidence of pressure
ulcers by 50 percent. The table below shows the trajectory over three years to reach a 50
percent reduction from 2014/15.

15

Baseline
2014/15

Year 1
2015/16

Year 2
2016/17

Year 3
2017/18

25.80%

21.50%

17.20%

12.90%

Inpatient

7

6

5

4

Community

45

37

29

21

Total

52

43

34

25

Trajectory

The table below shows the current position against the target as at 4 May 2016. These
figures will require refreshing on completion of the remaining 2015/16 incidents that are
still under investigation.
Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Total

Inpatient

1

0

4

0

5

Community

9

9

10

1

29

Total

10

9

14

1

34

It is evident that there has been a reduction in the overall number of avoidable pressure
ulcers for 2015/16 and the overall 21.50 percent reduction has been achieved by a
greater reduction in community incidents that in inpatient settings. Progress against this
aim will continue to be reported as part of the ‘Sign up to Safety’ work.
Completion of pressure ulcer Root Cause Analysis (RCA) within 3 weeks
Any incidents of pressure ulcers acquired in care provided by the Trust are investigated
using the Root Cause Analysis technique which identifies the underlying causes for the
incident occurring. This method of investigation also identifies any contributory factors and
can inform any systemic changes needed to support best practice.
The current status as at 4 May 2016 for the completion of pressure ulcer RCAs is shown
below. The figures are refreshed each quarter to reflect the changes in completion of
reviews since last reported.

Quarter

Number of RCAs
requested

Number of
completed within
<= 21 days

Compliance

83

64

77%

129

93

72%

135

91

67%

137

85

62%

484

333

69%

1
2
3
4

Total
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Completing the RCA investigations promptly allows staff to have a better recall of the
incident and this supports more accurate and timely learning. Although there has been a
decrease in the compliance rate since quarter one, there has been an increase in the
number of pressure ulcer reviews being completed by 58 percent from quarter one to
quarter four. The volume of reviews has impacted on the ability to meet the three week
target resulting in a 15 percent decrease in reviews being completed in three weeks from
quarter one.
Training to support reduction in pressure ulcers
The SSKIN Care Bundle is a powerful tool as it defines and ties best practices in pressure
ulcer prevention together. The bundle also makes the actual process of preventing
pressure ulcers visible to all, minimising variation in care practices. The bundle consists of
a group of interventions to ensure the correct assessments, training, systems and
processes are in place.
To support pressure ulcer reduction in the community we introduced SSKIN bundle
training to community nursing teams. This is a five-step model for pressure ulcer
prevention - the acronym stands for:

Surface

ensure patient is on the right mattress, cushion, there are no
creases or wrinkles

Skin

early inspection of our patient’s skin to identify early signs of
pressure and take action

Keep moving

encourage self-movement, reposition patient and inspect skin

Incontinence/moisture meet patient’s toileting or continence needs
Nutrition/hydration

keep well hydrated, meet patient’s nutritional needs

By following these five steps we are able to prevent or take early action should there be an
indication of pressure on the skin for our patients. The training on the SSKIN bundle has
been incorporated into the monthly pressure ulcer updates. Senior clinical leaders were
required to attend workshop training and all other staff were to receive tool box training. 96
percent of relevant staff have been trained to date.
Reducing suicide
Within the work to deliver the patient safety quality priority we have also taken steps to
reduce the number of our patients who commit suicide. This also links to our work under
the ‘Sign up to Safety Campaign’ which is a three year programme of work. We have
established a Suicide Prevention Group which has developed the Trust’s suicide
prevention aims. These aims will inform the pan-Dorset strategy work we need to take
forward for all people of Dorset. Other work includes:


The Ligature Audit Process and Review Group is well-established and reviews all
incidents of inpatient self-harm alongside environmental reviews carried out by the
ward, Health and Safety team and the estates department staff. A central catalogue of
anti-ligature fixtures and fittings is being developed.
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A virtual ward has been created within the Patient Administration System to enable an
overview of those patients requiring support while awaiting an admission and highlight
where there are difficulties in accessing an inpatient bed.



Co-produced safety and crisis plans have been developed between staff and service
users.



The clinical risk training and three-yearly updates have been reviewed and a new
training package has started.



A library of videos featuring carers/families and staff sharing their experiences following
a sudden death has been developed and is used in training and feedback for staff.



We have reviewed communications with families’ post-suicide/unexpected deaths and
we now also provide the Help is at Hand leaflet for families affected by suicide/sudden
deaths.

Going forward
The ‘Sign up to Safety Campaign’, which includes pressure ulcer reduction and suicide
prevention, will continue. We are committed to improving our services to ensure our
patients receive the best possible care. We aim to contribute to the campaign’s overall aim
to halve avoidable harm in the subsequent three years and across the UK, saving 6,000
lives.
We will continue to engage with Dorset CCG as they develop the Acute Care Pathway and
other models of service delivery through their Clinical Services Review. We will be working
to develop a pan-Dorset suicide prevention strategy, engaging stakeholders from a wide
range of statutory, voluntary and third sector organisations. From April 2016 we have
reinstated inquest training for staff and will be developing carer involvement within the
work stream.
Our Care Quality Commission report highlighted that some teams namely Child and
Adolescent Health Services (CAMHS), School Nursing, and Crisis needed a review of
staffing levels to ensure we had enough adequately experienced and trained staff to meet
the needs of our patients. Much work has taken place to ensure that staff numbers are
correct and that staff are supported via clinical supervision.
CAMHS have a dedicated programme of work to review the service across Dorset and
address the national issue to reduce waiting times for young people accessing our service.
Dorset HealthCare also has an active recruitment campaign to enable us to promote the
Trust and develop into an ‘Employer of Choice’.
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CLINICAL EFFECTIVENESS
Support staff to implement the National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
(NICE) quality standards with accessible, user-friendly guidelines and policies to
enable the provision of high quality evidence-based care to our patients.

Rationale for selection
The Trust is committed to ensuring that the interventions and treatments that we provide
are evidence-based, effective and based on the principles of good practice. Clinical
effectiveness is a commitment to quality, which includes monitoring and improving the
outcomes of patients and service users by:
 Ensuring health professionals are up to date in their practices and properly supervised
where necessary
 Implementing best practice including National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
(NICE) guidance and quality standards; and implementation of care pathways
 Being involved in local and national clinical audits
We recognise that to support our staff to deliver effective, evidence-based care we need to
have robust and effective clinical policies, guidelines and procedures that are up to date
and easily accessible to all our staff. The Morecombe Bay investigation, led by Dr. Kirkup
and published in March 2015, highlighted a key failing in that “clinical competence of a
proportion of staff fell significantly below the standard for a safe, effective service.
Essential knowledge was lacking and guidelines were not followed”.
In light of this during 2015/16 we endeavoured to review our clinical procedural documents
to ensure they are up to date, evidenced-based and user-friendly.
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Progress Made
Progress has been monitored against the following three indicators;
1. Review existing clinical policies and guidelines to ensure they are evidence based
and support excellence in practice.
2. Local clinical audits will be aligned to NICE guidance
3. All actions arising from NICE guidance and quality standard baseline
assessments will be implemented within the agreed timescales.
In 2015/16 we established a Clinical Policy Review Group (CPRG), with robust processes
to monitor and oversee timely policy review. The first meeting took place on 15 June 2015
and monthly meetings continue to take place.
The aim of the CPRG was to review existing clinical policies and guidelines to ensure
they are evidence-based and support excellence in practice. It was agreed that all
updated policies should have a brief summary highlighting the key components of the
policy where appropriate.
Our measures specified that 100 percent of all relevant policies reviewed by the Clinical
Policy Review Group in 2015/16 should have a brief summary. During 2015/16 all policies
that have been reviewed and approved by the Clinical Policy Review Group had a brief
summary.
The Trust’s National Institute for Health Care Excellence (NICE) Assurance group, which
started in October 2014, has a role to ensure that all new NICE guidance and quality
standards are aligned to relevant clinical guidance and policy. We were keen to evidence
that all relevant new NICE guidelines published were linked with the relevant policy.
Throughout the year all NICE guideline leads updated any relevant policies as part of the
actions to achieve compliance. We have also ensured that our internal Quality Matters
newsletter has a monthly NICE update which includes the latest quality statements in
bite-sized chunks to further raise awareness of NICE standards.
The Trust agreed that all local clinical audits will be aligned to NICE guidance. Therefore
all local audit notification forms were screened by the Clinical Audit Team to ensure the
audit tools selected were aligned to NICE guidelines, where appropriate. The Trust set
itself the target to establish a baseline in quarter one (April – June 2015) and work to
achieve 90 percent compliance by quarter four (January – March 2016). Over the year we
achieved 80 percent in quarter one, 80 percent in quarter two, 100 percent in quarter
three, and 93 percent in quarter four. We are continuing to work with clinicians by
designing electronic audit tools and developing evidence-based audit criteria.
The Clinical Effectiveness team uses a database for recording local clinical audits with the
ability to link audit standards to NICE guidelines. We aimed to expand the database with
wider-reaching reporting capabilities by the end of the financial year 2015/16.
A new audit data base on the Ulysses system with greater reporting capabilities has been
developed and a small-scale pilot has been carried out. Full roll-out is expected from July
2016. In the interim, there is currently an excel database in place and all new audit
notifications are assessed against NICE guidelines manually on receipt.
The Trust reports monthly to the Board on actions arising from NICE guidance and quality
standard baseline assessments which have been implemented within the agreed
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timescales. The NICE Assurance group’s main role is to assure robust action plans exist to
ensure compliance with these guidelines and standards.
Going forward
The Clinical Policy Review Group and NICE Assurance Group will continue to monitor and
align any newly published guidance and update policies. We will also ensure that any
local clinical audits tools have criteria which have been designed to reflect any recent
national guidance.
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QUALITY IMPROVEMENT PRIORITIES 2016/17

We are committed to providing the highest standard of care. To determine our quality
priorities we listen to the views of our patients, our staff, our commissioners and other
stakeholders to ensure we continue to deliver improvements.
Internally we triangulate information from many sources including patient and service
user feedback, staff feedback, incidents, complaints, and performance against our key
quality indicators. We also look at recommendations from external inspections including
the Care Quality Commission and NHS England.
Using this information we draft our proposed quality priorities and carry out a wide
consultation with our staff, stakeholders and Governors.
We consulted staff at the Trust’s local Quality Matters Conference held on the 26
January 2016 which was attended by 150 staff, Governors and stakeholders. Further
consultation took place through the Quality Matters newsletter shared with all staff. The
priorities have also been discussed at the Executive Quality and Clinical Risk Group, the
Clinical Executive Meeting and the Leadership Forum.
As a new initiative this year we invited stakeholders from the three local authorities and
the voluntary sector to a consultation event held after the Quality Matters Conference to
discuss the proposed quality priorities and indicators. This was well-received and
enabled a discussion to consider how the proposed priorities linked to the priorities of
the Health and Wellbeing Boards and the Better Together programme.

PRIORITIES 2016/17

PATIENT EXPERIENCE
Patients and carers are engaged and active participants in care planning and care
delivery. The Trust recognises and acts quickly when care goes wrong and talks
openly and honestly to patients and carers.
Over the last year we focused on lessons learnt from the findings of investigations and
reviews and sharing these beyond the team involved to improve the experience of our
patients. This work will continue and this year we will focus on how we engage patients,
families and carers in their care plan and treatment. The rationale behind selecting this as
the 2016/17 patient experience priority is as follows:


The impact of “John’s Campaign” calls for the families and carers of people with
dementia to have the same rights as the parents of sick children, and be allowed to
remain with them in hospital for as many hours as they are needed, and as they are
able to give. Many Trusts have signed up to developing carers’ passports and we want
to develop this approach within the Trust this year.



We will endeavour to make patient participation part of everything we do in Dorset
HealthCare - it is the right thing to do, and national reports including the Francis Inquiry,
the Keogh Mortality Review and the Berwick Review into Patient Safety reports all
22

concluded that the NHS must listen to and have patients, families and local people as
equal partners in care and in the design and delivery of services.


The NHS Constitution and section 242 (duty to involve) of the NHS Act 2006 (as
amended by the 2012 Health Act) includes a duty to involve patients in their care and in
the development of services.

There is a proven association (Coulter and Ellins 2006) between the engagement of
patients in their health, care and treatment and the outcomes in relation to:


Patient reports of their experiences, and of their satisfaction with care.



Patients’ recall of information, knowledge and confidence to manage their condition.



The likelihood of patients reporting that the chosen treatment path was appropriate for
them.

We are committed to making sure that staff are skilled and able to have open and honest
conversations with patients, families and carers and this forms part of our Sign Up To
Safety Campaign pledge ‘Be transparent with people about our progress to tackle patient
safety issues and support staff to be candid with patients and their families if something
goes wrong.’ We will do this by:


Providing staff with support and guidance to enable them to be open with patients and
carers throughout contact with our services in line with the duty of candour principles.



Talking with and apologising to patients/families and carers following a patient safety
incident that resulted in harm.

To support progress with this priority there are three quality indicators which will be
implemented during 2016/17:


We will develop a carers’ passport/care plan with carers in three different services
across the organisation.



As a partner agency we will adopt the pan-Dorset Carers Strategy



We will sign up to the Quality Mark for Elderly Friendly Hospital Wards

These indicators will be monitored quarterly to ensure there is steady progress being
made and that we are achieving our priority.
PATIENT SAFETY
To reduce the number of patients using our service who experience an unexpected
deterioration in their physical condition which results in a potentially avoidable
admission to an acute general hospital.
Over the past year we have focused on safe and therapeutic staffing levels within
community mental health teams (including home treatment) and community nursing
teams. This year we have recognised an area which requires focus and attention is the
number of patients who experience an unexpected deterioration of their physical health
while in our care. When patients come into hospital they put their trust in the professionals
caring for them. They assume they are being monitored and that any deterioration in their
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condition will be detected and acted on quickly. The rationale behind selecting this as the
2016/17 patient safety priority is as follows:


There have been cases highlighted from incident investigations and audit findings
where monitoring of physical health care and rapid awareness of a deteriorating patient
was delayed as staff failed to spot or act on changes in their condition.



The Wessex Academic Health Science Network (AHSN) has identified ‘the
deteriorating patient’ as a key priority for 2016/17 and there will be opportunities to
share and develop practice in this area at regional learning events.



Findings from clinical audit and project work completed in 2015/16 have shown that
there is a need for the Trust and its partner organisations to improve communication
and working practices when patients are transferring between services.

The Southern Health NHS Foundation Trusts’ review of deaths of service users (Ref:
Independent review of deaths of people with a Learning Disability or Mental Health
problem in contact with Southern Health NHS Foundation Trust April 2011 to March 2015)
identifies the need for improved mortality governance processes for mental health and
community services trusts. This report has great significance for the Trust and work will
progress this year on the mortality governance processes as a quality priority within the
Trust and across the wider health community.
Three indicators will be implemented to support this priority:


We will reduce the number of unnecessary emergency transfers from inpatient settings
to acute hospitals.



We will communicate vital signs and National Early Warning Scores at the point of
transfer to other care settings following deterioration in the patient’s condition.



We will develop a Trust and pan-Dorset mortality reporting and review process.

CLINICAL EFFECTIVENESS
Support staff to implement NICE quality standards of care to enable the provision of
high quality evidence-based care to our patients.
Over the last year we have focused on developing a Clinical Policy Review Group and
ensuring all updated policies have a brief summary where appropriate. The Clinical Audit
Group also reviewed all local audit tools and assessed their alignment with relevant
national guidance. We have been working to build and implement a Ulysses database to
improve the recording of all clinical audits with the ability to link audit standards to NICE
Guidelines.
This year we will build on the work already done to support staff to deliver evidence-based,
clinical care. The rationale behind selecting this as the 2016/17 clinical effectiveness
priority is as follows:


We will build on the work carried out last year with the NICE Assurance Group which
reviews NICE Guidance and Quality Standards and aligns them to clinical policies and
aligning local clinical audits to NICE guidance.



Over the past year we have not been performing well against the Venous Thrombo
Embolism (VTE) assessment standards and need to improve on this position.
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The CQC Inspection report highlighted a number of areas for improvement within our
End of Life Services and we propose to develop this further over the next year. This
will include developing a Trust vision for community End of Life services and working
with our commissioner to integrate End of Life Care Pathways.

Progress with this priority will be supported by the following three indicators:


We will reduce risk to patients by ensuring they receive timely venous
thromboembolism preventative management (prophylaxis)



We will support staff to provide optimal end of life care, by the right person, in the right
place and at the right time



We will support staff to undertake robust clinical audit aligned to national standards, as
a quality improvement initiative to drive up the quality of care.
QUALITY IMPROVEMENT - SIGN UP TO SAFETY CAMPAIGN

Dorset HealthCare) pledged a commitment to the NHS England ‘Sign Up to Safety’
campaign in November 2014 and has made the following five pledges.
Put safety first

a commitment to reduce avoidable harm.

Continually learn

acting on the feedback from patients and constantly measuring
and monitoring how safe services are.

Honesty

be transparent with people about our progress to tackle patient
safety issues and support staff to be candid with patients and
their families if something goes wrong.

Collaborate

take a leading role in supporting local collaborative learning, so
that improvements are made across all of the local services that
patients use.

Support

help people understand why things go wrong and how to put them
right. Give staff the time and support to improve and celebrate the
progress.

The nine workstreams with a focus to reduce avoidable harm are:










Pressure Ulcers
Sepsis
Care Planning
Suicide prevention
Deteriorating patients
Medicine errors
Safe transfers of care
Falls
Reducing restrictive interventions

The Director of Nursing and Quality chairs the steering group which meets quarterly to
monitor progress against the campaign action plan.
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CAMPAIGN PROGRESS
Over 100 staff have attended one of the Sign up to Safety steering groups. These staff are
integral to the success of the campaign as they support and empower front-line staff to be
innovative and improve patient safety.
We continue to share progress on the campaign at the Patient and Public Quality
Improvement Group. While there is involvement from patient representatives within the
Falls and Suicide Prevention, there is further work to do to involve them in the other seven
work streams.
Consultants and team leaders attending the Trust’s Empowering Leaders, Empowering
Teams (EL:ET) leadership pathway are being taught the Institute of Health Improvement
(IHI) methodology by the Patient Safety Manager. They are encouraged to empower
teams to make small changes in practice to improve the quality of care delivered. To date
161 delegates have attended the EL:ET pathway and as a result some of their associated
assignments have focused on a quality improvement related to one of the nine work
streams.
Supported by the Patient Safety Manager, two groups of Bournemouth University third
year students are using IHI improvement methodology to implement their Service
Improvement Module (SIP). One of the multidisciplinary groups plans to develop a falls
prevention training app while another is considering how it can raise awareness of suicide
prevention.
The previous section on patient safety has described the progress made in pressure ulcer
reduction and suicide prevention.
Progress to date from the other work-streams includes:
 Involving patients and carers in investigations and saying sorry when things have gone
wrong. This is has led to a library of videos of carers telling their stories and
experiences which are used in staff training and are available on the Trust intranet.
 A reduction in the use of restrictive interventions in mental health as demonstrated in
the graph below.
 A pilot of telephone support provided post-discharge from a community hospital which
has resulted in patient feedback of improved experience and confidence at the point of
discharge.
 Reviews of medication incidents and sharing of learning.
 Medicines management training has been reviewed.
 The competency assessment for nurses administering medication has been reviewed
and updated.
 The list of critical medicines in the Trust-wide standard operating procedure, ‘Omitted
Delayed Medicines’ has been reviewed and updated. A medicines safety bulletin
highlighting critical medicines will be circulated. A medicines management eLearning
portal is being developed.
 Community hospital inpatient wards have agreed the individualised care plan and it has
been uploaded to the electronic patient record.
 Co-owned safety plans and inpatient ward support plans are being formulated within 72
hours by consultants directing care planning and this is being piloted on an adult mental
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No. of incidents



health ward.
“Just say sepsis” self-assessment has been completed to establish a baseline to
measure the impact of sepsis awareness work.
Review and delivery of falls prevention training.
A review of interventions used in better balance clinics.
Obtaining coloured Zimmer frames for patients with visual impairment or dementia.
All Intermediate Care Rehabilitation Teams (ICRT), inpatient wards (physical health)
and adult inpatient mental health wards have nominated named falls champions who
receive education to be shared with colleagues. 5,000 copies of the “Get Up and Go”
patient information booklet have been distributed to all ICRT and relevant in-patient
wards.
Review and pilot of the multifactorial falls risk assessment.

The trend line shown relates to the combined interventions that sit under the overall
category of restricted interventions. Data is sourced from the Ulysses system which is the
Trust’s incident reporting database.
CELEBRATING ACHIEVEMENT

ROAD TO WELLNESS
The Road to Wellness Awards are organised by Dorset HealthCare to celebrate people
across the county who have battled – or helped others – to overcome debilitating physical
or mental health problems.
More than 40 individuals and groups were put forward for recognition this year. The
shortlisted finalists, their nominators and other guests gathered at Kingston Maurward,
near Dorchester, to hear outstanding stories of kindness, courage and innovation as the
winners across eight categories were unveiled.
27

These included:


Group Award winners: Young Persons Group (Weymouth) – young people with
mental health problems formed their own support group, building friendships and
improving their self-confidence. Since the group formed, many of its members now live
independently and have started college or found work.



Kindness Award: David Sheppard (Bridport) – despite his own health issues, David
took on the role of cook at Bridport’s Harmony Centre for people with mental health
problems. He provides help, support and mentoring, and even delivers foods and
magazines to people’s homes when they are unwell.



Inspiration Award: Julie Whitmarsh (Swanage) – in partnership with Dorset
HealthCare, Julie made a video sharing her experiences of recovering from chronic
fatigue. This film is now a key tool in helping other patients find the confidence and
belief to get better, showing the light at the end of the tunnel



Courage Award: Ronaldo Rodriguez Kretz (Dorchester) – Ronaldo, aged ten, has
cerebral palsy, uses a wheelchair and has speech problems. Yet his determination and
positive personality has enabled him to cope with the demands of mainstream
schooling, and charm everyone around him with his smile and perseverance.



Communication Award: Bill Lindsay (Poole) –a stroke left Bill with severe speech
and writing difficulties. Following therapy, he has worked tirelessly to help others facing
similar problems, visiting stroke patients in hospital and giving talks and presentations
to a host of organisations about the impacts of the condition.



Carers Award: Enid Coward (Poole) – For the past decade, Enid, 93, has been
caring for her daughter, who has dementia. Despite the many challenges presented by
the illness, Enid has always retained her cheerfulness and sense of humour, and cares
for her daughter as independently as possible.



Outstanding Achievement Award: Hannah Hobbs (Ferndown) – Overcoming
problems with low mood and anxiety, Hannah set up a Community Interest Company to
deliver a range of projects to support people from troubled backgrounds. She inspires
people through her passion and genuine desire to make a difference.



Panel’s Choice Award: Chris Phillips (posthumous award) (Bournemouth) – Chris
joined the steering group of the 'STOP! Chronic Back Pain' project in 2011 and helped
establish the Pain Chain peer support network. He worked constantly to improve
services for people living with pain until his death last year. His award was collected by
his wife, Janet.

QUALITY MATTERS
Our Quality Matters Conference was held on Tuesday, 26 January at the Hamworthy Club
in Canford Magna. The event brought more than 100 staff together to celebrate quality
improvement initiatives and unveiled the winners of the service improvement, clinical audit
and research project of the year awards for 2015. The awards were presented by Fiona
Haughey, Director of Nursing and Quality.
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Clinical Audit Award

Amelia Whale (WINNER)
Reducing Do Not Attend rates for
St Leonards Hospital Musculo-Skeletal
Outpatient Physiotherapy
Service.
Amelia, is the physiotherapy team leader for
the St Leonard’s Outpatient physiotherapy,
Musculo-Skeletal service who were able to
significantly reduce their waiting list by using
an SOS process approach which was
sustainable over time.

Sarah Wastell (Runner-up)
How do the patient reported outcomes
compare in demonstrating effectiveness of
the hand therapy service at Victoria
Hospital Wimborne.
Sarah is a hand Occupational Therapist who
used the Patient Specific Functional Scale
with patients to measure improved outcome
of the therapy she provided.

Research Project Award
Charlotte Wallis (WINNER)
Behind Bars: the risk of sight threatening
diabetic retinopathy in prisoners.
Charlotte and the Dorset Diabetic Screening
Team had been involved in a multi-centre
research trial investigating and highlighting
the importance of screening for Diabetic
retinopathy in Prisoners.
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Service Improvement Award

Chris Clarke (WINNER)
Herm ward: Improving use of therapeutic
activity and person centred care.
Chris is the manager for the older People’s
ward based at Alderney Hospital. – Herm
As part of their service improvements the
staff on the ward have been busy turning
their dining room into an old fashioned tea
room where they have hosted tea dances.
They have also turned a Consultation room
into a hairdressing salon. Both of these
initiatives have improved the quality of care
they have provided.

Heather Stacey (Runner-up)
Peer led music in Acute inpatient mental
health (Waterston Unit, Dorchester).
Heather is the ward manager at Waterston
and she was instrumental in Providing Peer
led music therapy to the Service users on her
unit with good feedback and outcomes.

DUTY OF CANDOUR

Health professionals must be open and honest with patients when things go wrong. This is
also known as the Duty of Candour. Candour is defined in Robert Francis’ report as: “The
volunteering of all relevant information to persons who have or may have been harmed by
the provision of services, whether or not the information has been requested and whether
or not a complaint or a report about that provision has been made.”
The Duty of Candour is a legal duty on hospital, community and mental health trusts to
inform and apologise to patients if there have been mistakes in their care that have led to
significant harm. The Duty of Candour aims to help patients receive accurate, truthful
information from health providers. All NHS provider bodies registered with the Care
Quality Commission (CQC) have to comply with a new statutory Duty of Candour.
The Trust has implemented the Duty of Candour requirements and advises staff in section
8 of the Trust’s policy for Reporting and Management of Incidents and section 6 of the
Trust’s Being Open policy.
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As a Trust we are committed to being open with patients and carers when events such as
these occur so that we gain a shared understanding of what happened, and what we can
do to prevent it from happening again.
The table below shows the number of incidents where the formal Duty of Candour process
has been actioned during 2015/16.
April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec
Death of
a Patient
Pressure
Ulcers
Slips, Trips
and Falls
Violence /
Assault
Total

Jan

Feb

Mar

Total

-

-

-

1

-

-

1

-

-

-

-

-

2

3

2

2

-

4

5

5

4

3

4

5

4
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-

-

-

-

-

1

-

-

-

1

1

-

3

-

-

-

1

-

-

-

-

-

-

1

-

2

3

2

2

2

4

6

6

4

3

5

7

4
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All patient safety incidents reported that result in moderate harm or above are investigated.
The investigation process includes involvement of the patient and carers where possible.
In those incidents where Duty of Candour has been identified due to an act or omission by
the Trust, the Locality managers have a responsibility to manage the Duty of Candour
process and ensure the process is carried out in line with the prescribed steps. They are
also responsible for liaising with patients/service users and their family and confirming
what action is being taken.
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STATEMENTS OF ASSURANCE FROM THE BOARD
REVIEW OF SERVICES
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust is responsible for community and
mental health services across Bournemouth, Poole and Dorset. The Trust also provides
prison healthcare in Dorset and Devon and Steps2Wellbeing services in Southampton.
The Trust serves a population in excess of 750,000 people, employing some 5,640 staff
with an income of £252,746,000.

Mandatory Statement One
During 2015/16 the Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust
provided and/or sub-contracted 103 relevant health services.
The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust has reviewed all the
data available on the quality of care in 103 of these relevant health services.
The income generated by the relevant health services reviewed in 2015/16
represents 95.72 percent of the total income generated from the provision of
relevant health services by the Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation
Trust for 2015/16.

Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust provides 103 services and has
reviewed them in the following ways:

The Board
The Board receives a monthly integrated corporate dashboard which sets out performance
across a range of quality metrics under the domains of safe, effective, caring, well-led and
responsive. The dashboard includes exception reports where further information is
provided to explain performance and actions being taken to improve the position.
The Board also receives annual reports in respect of patient experience, complaints,
safeguarding and infection prevention and control.
The Board receives a patient story at each meeting.
The Quality Governance Committee
The Quality Governance Committee, which meets quarterly, receives reports on:


Serious incidents requiring investigation



Progress with recommendations following review of serious incidents requiring
investigation



Inpatient staffing assurance
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The Audit Committee
The purpose of the committee is to acquire and scrutinise assurances during the year as
to the integrity of the Trust’s principal disclosure statements, including financial
statements. This is carried out by scrutinising assurances on the design and operation of
controls. The Committee will acquire and scrutinise assurances relating to the following:


Annual Governance Statement relating to the system of internal control, which may
include letters of representation;



Annual Report and Accounts, with accounting policies, and Notes to the Accounts;



Compliance with the Monitor Licence and, in particular, the Corporate Governance
Statement;



Annual disclosures in relation to Monitor’s Code of Governance;



To set and agree the internal audit plan and review the findings and recommendations
of the reports received.

Mental Health Legislation Assurance Committee
The committee, which meets quarterly, is the specialist arm of the Quality Governance
Committee.
The committee receives a quarterly dashboard on Mental Health Act compliance metrics.
Executive Quality & Clinical Risk Group
The monthly meeting of the Group receives reports on:


Moderate, major and catastrophic incidents



A summary of reviewed serious incidents, falls and pressure ulcers



Screening incidents and reports



A staffing assurance report

Director Visits
Underpinning the formal reporting to groups is a system of director visits to Trust services
and sites.
Information relating to patient experience
Regular performance reports to the Trust Board incorporating measures on patient
experience including: percentage of patients that felt safe, Friends and Family Test (FFT)
scores, complaints and compliments.
Reports to the Board, Quality Governance Committee, Executive Quality and Clinical Risk
Group:


National and local service user survey results



Real time feedback



Quarterly Patient Experience report



Quarterly Complaints Board report (available on the Trust Website)
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Annual compliments and complaints reporting including lessons learnt (available on the
Trust website).

In addition the Trust Non-Executive Directors have undertaken announced visits to the
wards and units.
The Trust has been using QUIS as a tool to capture patient experience. The Quality of
Interaction Schedule (QUIS) pioneered by the Patient Association is a systematic way of
observing the quality of interactions of care between staff and patients. It is an additional
way of capturing patient experience, pioneered to understand the care experiences of
people who are unable to tell us themselves. Observations are recorded if the interaction
was positive, basic care/ neutral care or negative care. Feedback is given directly to the
manager at the time of observation. The observations are carried out for a 40 minute
period. Feedback overall is collated and a written account is produced to share with staff
and wider to see if there is any further learning.
Trust staff members trained in QUIS have in 2015/16 undertaken a number of patient
observations. These have been in our community hospital wards and mental health units.
Overall the majority of interactions have been positive with very few being basic or neutral.
Examples of positive interactions include


A patient was helped back to her room from the toilet. The nurse was talking and
encouraging her all of the time. There was a good flow of conversation.



A patient in the corridor and she was visibly upset. A nurse was talking to her and
encouraged her to enter the music room. The patient went into the room with the nurse.

An example of a basic interaction was, a staff member handing medication to a patient and
waiting until it was taken but the staff member did not engage the patient in conversation.
In 2016/17 this programme will continue as part of our patient experience programme. The
Trust will also be trialling QUIS in community areas in 2016/17.
Information relating to patient safety
A range of reports are sent to the Board, Quality Governance Committee, Executive
Quality and Clinical Risk Group, including


Incident report included within the monthly directorate reports.



Moderate Harm and Above Incidents monthly report.



Early Warning Trigger Tool and Quality, Effectiveness and Safety Trigger Tool reports.



Central Alerting System compliance reports.



Safety Thermometer reports.



Quarterly report of serious incident recommendations and progress.



Quarterly safeguarding children and vulnerable adult report.



Six-monthly National Reporting and Learning Service Cluster Report.



Quarterly and Annual Sign Up To Safety reports
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Information relating to clinical effectiveness
Regular performance reports to the Board incorporating measures on clinical effectiveness
include: the number of inpatients having an annual physical health check, the percentage
of patients screened for malnutrition (within 24 hours) and the number of patients admitted
to a ward without a vacant bed (mental health).
Reports to the Board, Quality Governance Committee and, Executive Quality and Clinical
Risk Group, include:


Monthly reporting on compliance with NICE Technology Appraisals and Guidelines.



Report on the annual clinical audit programme.



Report on Patient Reported Outcome Measures / Goals.



Quarterly Mortality Report.



Monthly report on Care Quality Commission action plans.

While the Trust has reviewed information across the three domains of quality, we
recognise that reporting and reviewing data at a more granular level i.e. team / ward is
required. We took this forward throughout 2015/16 and have implemented the following
actions:


Weekly automated complaint reports providing information on all open complaints
shared with all locality leads and directors.



Online real-time reports available for all inpatient and community teams which provide
a Friends and Family Test (FFT) breakdown for their team.



Quality notice boards on all inpatient wards summarising compliments, complaints,
‘You said…we did’ (response to patient feedback) and patient experience survey
results for the quarter.



Team-based outcome reports which provide an overview of quality indicators
including: patient safety, staffing, early warning indicators, and patient and staff
experience, along with a section on how the service has been improved through
patient involvement events or partnership working. These are available at a team,
super-locality and Board level.



Audit reports are given to teams, providing information on how clinical practice is
complying with standards.



Internal quality assurance visits which help services evidence compliance with CQC
regulations.

35

PARTICIPATION IN CLINICAL AUDITS AND NATIONAL CONFIDENTIAL ENQUIRIES

Mandatory Statement Two
Participation in Clinical Audit
During 2015/16, seven national clinical
audits and two national confidential
enquiries covered relevant health
services that Dorset HealthCare
University NHS Foundation Trust
provides.
During that period Dorset HealthCare
University NHS Foundation Trust
participated in 100 percent national
clinical audits and 100 percent national
confidential enquiries of the national
clinical audits and national confidential
enquiries which it was eligible to
participate in.
The national clinical audits and
national confidential enquiries that
Dorset HealthCare University NHS
Foundation Trust was eligible to
participate in during 2015/16 are as
follows:

National Clinical Audits - 2015/16
Elective Surgery (National PROMs Programme)
National Audit of Intermediate Care
UK Parkinson’s Audit
Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) Audit - Pulmonary Rehabilitation
Prescribing in Mental Health Services (POMH)
Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP)
Royal College of Psychiatry
National Confidential Enquiries - 2015/16
National Confidential Enquiry into suicide and homicide by people with mental illness
National Confidential Enquiry into patient outcome and death - Sepsis
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Mandatory Statement Two – continued
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that Dorset
HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust participated in during
2015/16 are as follows:

National Clinical Audits - 2015/16
Elective Surgery (National PROMs Programme)
National Audit of Intermediate Care
UK Parkinson’s Audit
Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) Audit - Pulmonary Rehabilitation




Prescribing in Mental Health Services (POMH)
Prescribing for ADHD for Children, Adolescents and Adults (Topic 13b)
Prescribing valproate for bipolar disorder, (Topic 15a)
Prescribing for substance misuse: alcohol detoxification (Topic 14b)
Sentinel Stroke National Audit Programme (SSNAP)




Royal College of Psychiatry
Mental Health CQUIN 2015/16 (Indicator 4a)
Early Intervention in Psychosis Audit
National Confidential Enquiries - 2015/16
National Confidential Enquiry into suicide and homicide by people with mental illness
National Confidential Enquiry into patient outcome and death - Sepsis

Mandatory Statement Two – continued
The national clinical audits and national confidential enquiries that Dorset
HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust participated in, and for
which data collection was completed during 2015/16, are listed below
alongside the number of cases submitted to each audit or enquiry as a
percentage of the number of registered cases required by the terms of
that audit or enquiry.
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National Clinical Audits
2015/16

Participation Number of
cases
submitted

% cases
submitted

Prescribing in mental health
services (POMH):
 Prescribing for ADHD for
Children, Adolescents and
Adults (Topic 13b)



8 Teams
185

100%

 Prescribing valproate for
bipolar disorder, (Topic 15a)



13 Teams
123

100%

 Prescribing for substance
misuse: alcohol
detoxification (Topic 14b)
National Audit of
Intermediate Care



In progress



22 teams

100%

UK Parkinson’s Audit



20

100%

Chronic Obstructive
Pulmonary Disease (COPD)
Audit - Pulmonary
Rehabilitation
Elective Surgery (National
PROMs Programme)



Sentinel
Stroke
Audit Programme



National

National Confidential Inquiry
into Suicide and homicide by
people with mental illness

100%
52

168

100%

117 to Q3

100%


Q4 data not
available until
August 2016
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97%

Mandatory Statement Two – continued
The reports of four national clinical audits were reviewed by the
provider in 2015/16 and Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation
Trust intends to take the following actions to improve the quality of
healthcare provided:




Action plans arising from the Prescribing in Mental Health Services (POMH) audit
results are developed and agreed at the Medicine Management Group.
The EQ5D system (a standardised tool to measure health outcomes) used in patientreported outcome measures provides two measures of pre- and post-operative health;
the EQ5D (a descriptive system) and the EQ-VAS (a visual analogue scale). The
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Trust’s EQ5D index average adjusted health gain (the rate by which patient’s feel their
condition has improved following surgery) was 0.094, above the national average of
0.084. The Trust’s EQ5D VAS average adjusted health gain was -1.64 against an
average of -0.5 (a negative score would indicate that a patient felt their condition had
worsened following surgery), these results are discussed with the surgeons to inform
how they manage the expectations they set with patients.
It is also noted that:


The results from the Sentinel Stroke audit, which compares provision of therapy
services in the Early Supported Discharge (ESD) team, show above average
incidences of daily therapy treatments given when compared with the national average.
The demand on this service is growing and there is work in progress to improve the
pathway of care for this patient group as they are discharged to the Integrated
Community Rehabilitation Teams. This aligns with the national focus of this audit.



The process for 2015/2016 national audit of intermediate care had been streamlined
and all teams were engaged with the new process. The report highlighted our twentytwo team’s results on individual dashboards enabling locally owned actions. The reaudit aims are to continue to streamline the local data collection to enable quality
improvement to occur.

Mandatory Statement Two – continued
The reports of five local clinical audits were reviewed by the provider in
2015/16 and Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust
intends to take the following actions to improve the quality of healthcare
provided:
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Audit

Action

Due Date

Discharge

The improvement of compliance over the year is
mainly due to the successful implementation of a
new discharge checklist (standard 5), completion
of this form has helped provide evidence that other
standards are being met.

Re-audit
June 2016

Transition from
Child Adolescent
Mental Health
Service (CAMHS)
to Adult Mental
Health Service

Transition group established. Developing three
May 2016
pathways of care for patients reaching their 17th
birthday:
 Discharge
 Simple transition
 Complex transition.
We are working with teams to agree pathways and
embed in practise.

Physical Health
Inpatient services have continued to show an
checks for patients improvement in undertaking physical health checks
with Psychosis
during admission.

May 2016

Improvements have been made to RiO to help
capture health check results in one place and
evidence when a patient has declined a test or
treatment or if a test / treatment has been
completed by the patients G.P.
Health check teams in East and West Dorset help
to support inpatient units with physical health
information and health promotion leaflets.
Care Plans
/ Record keeping







Many teams are using the Excel work books for
regular clinical audit of their documentation. We
are collating trust wide results for the following
teams; Community Hospitals, Community Mental
Health Teams, Child and Adolescent Mental Health
Services, Community Matrons, District Nurses,
Health Visitors, ICRT and Physiotherapy.
The level 1 recommendation:
All clinicians should be aware that keeping
accurate records of their work is part of their
professional code of practice and documentation
needs to stand up in a court of law.
The level 2 recommendations:
Team leaders should use the record keeping audit
tools
to
benchmark
individual
clinician’s
documentation to discuss at clinical supervision or
appraisal. We are suggesting that when
undertaking supervision, each team lead looks at
around 2 client records randomly for each clinical
supervisee.
To use the audits results to develop team actions
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Quarterly
re- audits

Audit

Action





Due Date

agreed by all members.
The level 3 recommendation:
Service leads or Locality Managers to monitor the
implementation of any action plans to ensure
quality improvements in the standard of record
keeping.
The level 4 recommendation:
Each team throughout the Trust should undertake
an annual record keeping audit as a minimum. In
some teams there is an expectation that more
frequent clinical audits should be completed.

National Early
Warning Score
(NEWS)

2015/16 audit results indicate high compliance in
completing the NEWS tool according to guidance.
Audits have helped to identify team training and
education needs.
Training has been completed within the ward
environment and has proven to be effective in
improving compliance.
Quarterly audits will continue to take place in
2016/17 with additional criteria added to capture
the escalation processes taken when a patients
NEWS Score indicates possible signs of
deterioration. This audit will link with the Sign up to
Safety work stream on Deteriorating patient.

Re-audit
June 2016

Chronic
Obstructive
Pulmonary
Disease (COPD)

This quarterly audit indicates patients receive care
aligned to the COPD bundle however further work
is required.
A review of documentation has commenced and
initial findings have identified several documents
are available within SystmOne, these documents
will be amalgamated into one COPD care plan
document incorporating NICE Guidance and Trust
Policy standards.
Discussions are taking place with SystmOne team
to ascertain whether all care plans can be aligned
into one easy to use template that links with patient
admission assessments / documentation. This
would enable improved visibility of a patient’s
holistic needs and the personalised centre care
and treatment provided.

June 2016
(re-audit)
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PARTICIPATION IN CLINICAL RESEARCH

Mandatory Statement Three
Participation in clinical research
The number of patients receiving
relevant health services provided or
sub-contracted
by
Dorset
HealthCare
University
NHS
Foundation Trust in 2015/16 that
were recruited during that period to
participate in research approved by a
Research Ethics Committee was
262.

Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust’s research and development
function has continued to promote participation in clinical research throughout 2015/16,
expanding the number of people participating and the areas of the Trust engaging in
research activity.
Research helps the NHS to improve the quality of care and the future health of the
population. The continued participation in clinical research demonstrates Dorset
HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust’s commitment to improve the quality of care
that the Trust offers users of the services it provides.
The Trust has developed its research activity expanding into a number of new areas. More
staff have gained experience in research, both as being part of a collaborating centre and
as local Principal Investigators. Alongside the studies adopted on the National Institute for
Health Research (NIHR) portfolio the Trust has supported non-portfolio research lead by
its own staff. The topic areas for all types of research include:












Dementia and neurodegenerative illness.
Treatment resistant depression.
Eating disorders.
Prison healthcare.
Perinatal mental health.
Speech and language therapy.
Adding Cognitive Behavioural Therapy as an intervention to Clozapine treatment.
Cancer screening in those with mental health problems.
Quality of life in mental health.
Psychosis.
Incontinence care.

This expansion has been supported by the increase in staff resources to assist clinicians /
researchers in the delivery of research as well as the development of strong research
governance systems in collaboration with Salisbury NHS Foundation Trust.
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Collaborative Working
The Trust continues to work in collaboration with other NHS Trusts within Dorset working
to develop research across the patient pathway where a joint approach to studies is
necessary to ensure robust results. During the year we also made contact with the local
primary care research and development lead for Dorset and have had discussions to
explore research we could collaborate on. The Trust maintained its links with national
research centres such as Kings College London and The Maudsley Hospital expanding
the range of research that can be accessed by those who use our services.
Trust staff collaborate in research with staff at Bournemouth and Southampton
Universities - an example is Thinking Styles in Depression. They also collaborate on
grant applications seeking funding to support research, for example in the areas of
Dementia and Eating Disorders. The Trust is a member of the Dorset Research Group
hosted by Bournemouth University with an aim to enhance collaboration across the
health sector in Dorset. The Trust is also one of the organisations supporting a
prestigious National Institute for Health Research (NIHR) Fellow research development
programme looking into falls reduction in dementia with Bournemouth University and
Southern Health Foundation Trust.
Research studies
During 2015/16 the Trust participated in 19 NIHR research studies - nine are open to
recruitment and one is closed and is currently being followed up in accordance with
protocol. The Trust is involved in research within the prisons which became a part of the
Trust’s portfolio of services for research. The Trust publishes its performance in research
on its website. In 2015/16 the Trust has further developed its capacity and capability to
deliver commercial research studies and is aiming to participate in a number of these in
the coming year.
The Trust has recruited 232 participants into NIHR research studies, which is a 50
percent increase on the previous year. The Trust has successfully increased its
recruitment figures year on year and this has led to increased investment from the NIHR
into the Trust to support capacity to deliver research.
Going forward
As this report shows, the Trust has maintained momentum and enthusiasm for clinical
research and the plan is to continue to develop its clinical research activity and capacity.
Successful recruitment to build research capacity has taken place with new staff starting
in post in 2015 and we anticipate that this will increase further in the coming years. The
planned Research Strategy covering the years 2016-2019 will set out the aims and the
objectives of the Trust for the coming years with a focus on more research activity in a
greater number of the Trust’s services by a greater number of Trust staff. In support of
this strategy the Trust will support the development of its staff in the delivery of portfolio
research and in the creation of their own research activities to promote, quality,
innovation and participation whether adopted onto the NIHR portfolio or not.
This is supported by the establishment of the capacity to deliver commercial research
activity in selected areas of the Trust where experience exists within our staff teams. The
income generated from this development will hasten the growth of the research capacity
of the Trust and greatly increase the opportunity for patients and carers to participate in
clinical research within our services.
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COMMISSIONING FOR QUALITY AND INNOVATION (CQUIN) FRAMEWORK
Mandatory Statement Four – Commissioning for quality and
innovation (CQUIN) framework
A proportion of Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust
income in 2015/16 was conditional upon achieving quality improvement and
innovation goals agreed between Dorset HealthCare University NHS
Foundation Trust and any person or body they entered into a contract,
agreement or arrangement with for the provision of relevant health
services, through the Commissioning for Quality and Innovation payment
framework. Further details of the agreed goals for 2015/16 and for the
following twelve month period are available online at:
https://www.england.nhs.uk/nhs-standard-contract/cquin/cquin-16-17/

The amount of income in 2015/16 conditional upon achieving quality improvement and
innovation goals is £4,696,009. The Trust did not achieve the target related to cardio
metabolic assessment and treatment for patients with psychoses. However, our
commissioners reviewed the other work and innovative practice regarding the physical
health and wellbeing of patients with a mental health condition. They deemed we would
receive the payment as we had implemented demonstrably effective activity that is
improving patients’ physical health and wellbeing.
The progress of the CQUIN targets is monitored on a monthly basis to the Executive
Performance and Corporate Risk Group, and quarterly to the Trust Board. As at the end
of Quarter 4 the position was the amount of income in 2015/16 conditional upon
achieving quality improvement and innovation goals is £4,696,009. The outcome of this
year’s CQUIN programme is currently under consideration by Dorset CCG and the Trust
will be notified of this by the end of May 2016.
The progress of the CQUIN targets is monitored on a monthly basis to the Executive
Performance and Corporate Risk Group, and quarterly to the Trust Board.
Areas where we did not achieve full compliance are as follows:


9a Cardio Metabolic assessment – patients on CPA with a diagnosis of schizophrenia
or psychotic disorder including Bi-Polar or identified within the psychotic super-cluster.
To date 18.5% (against a target of 20%) is confirmed but additional field completions,
where GPs have completed checks, have not been included at this stage. It is
expected that once the report is amended to include this, data compliance will be met.



PH1 Child Health Information Service Interoperability –The Trust was successful in
acquiring money to support transformation for wider changes to Child Health
Information Department (CHID) over the next 12-14 months. The milestones for
quarters one and two were met and it has been proposed by NHS England that we will
receive £4000 of the £8000 value of this CQUIN.



PH2 Health Visiting.
Despite significant activity as part of the recovery plan, this CQUIN has fallen short of
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the overall compliance target of 96%. We are in discussion with NHS England with
regard the outcome of this CQUIN.
During 2015/16 Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust agreed twenty six
CQUIN goals as indicated below:

Deliverable
3a Dementia and Delirium - Find, Assess, Investigate, Refer and Inform
(FAIRI)
Carry out case finding question for patients over 75 years of age admitted or
accepted for emergency unplanned care to community hospital or community
services, with length of stay >72 hours,90% or more of patients asked
Dementia finding question from the start of Q3
Collect the number of above patients with a clinical diagnosis of dementia and a
new assessment is indicated or who have answered positively on the dementia
case finding question90% or more of patients referred for diagnostic
assessment from the start of Q3
Share the diagnostic assessment and plan of care on discharge with GPs for
above patients. 90% or more of patients have plan of care on discharge for the
whole of Q4
3b Dementia and Delirium – Staff Training
90% of staff have received training by March 2016
3c Dementia and Delirium - Supporting carers
Carry out survey of carers of people with dementia and delirium and report to
Board bi-annually
4a Cardio Metabolic Assessment and Treatment for Patients with
Psychoses
90% (inpatients) and 80% (EIS) compliance in national audit of schizophrenia in
Q2/Q3 NB Relates to CQUIN M11
4b Communication with General Practitioners
90% compliance in audit in Q2
8b Reduction in A&E MH re-attendances
Number of times a re-attendance occurred within 7 days following attendance
with diagnosis of mental health. Baseline to be agreed
9a Cardio metabolic assessment - patients on CPA with a diagnosis of
schizophrenia or psychotic disorder including Bi-Polar or identified within
the psychotic super cluster
Number of cohort who have received cardiometabolic assessment and pulse
check. Number who are identified at risk who have received life-style advice.
9b Learning Disability and Autism reasonable adjustments
Assessment of patients with LD and/or autism and where necessary care plan
within 24hrs of admission to mental health inpatient ward (48hrs if out of hrs
admission)
10 Admission avoidance - early diagnosis and intervention in people with
atrial fibrillation
Set up systems to report on patients 65 years and over who have a pulse check
and if required ECG.
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Current
RAG
Rating

G

G

A/G

G
G

G
G
G

A

G

G

Current
RAG
Rating

Deliverable
11a Reduction in the number of late discharges and transfers
Reduction in the number of late discharges and transfers
11b Increase Weekend discharges
Physical Health services to review discharges with packages of care to determine
if facilitated support would increase weekend discharges
11c Improve the timeliness of discharge summaries quarter on quarter
Number of all discharge summaries sent within 24 hours
11d Improve the quality of discharge summaries
Quarterly audit 50 discharge summaries and action plan
13a Acute Kidney Injury
Improve diagnosis and treatment of people with AKI
14a Reducing the proportion of avoidable emergency admissions to
hospital
Reduce the number of patients with ambulatory care conditions being admitted to
hospital through provision of urgent care services outside hospital.
MH1 Secure Service Users Active Engagement Programme

G
G
G
G
G

G
G

MH2 Supporting Service Users in Secure Services to Stop Smoking
G
MH6 Perinatal Specific Involvement and Support for partners
G
MH8 Mental Health Carer Involvement Strategies
G
MH9 Assuring the Appropriateness of unplanned CAMHS admissions
60% improvement in number of reviews held within 5 working days of unplanned
admission
MH10 Adult Eating Disorders Outcome Measures year 2
90% inpatients have outcome measures completed
MH11 Improving Physical Healthcare to Reduce Premature Mortality in
People with MH
90% (inpatients)

NB Relates to CQUIN 4a

Key
Partially met –A/G

In progress - A
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G

G

PH1 Child Health Information Service - Interoperability
2.5% of the total contract value, including all Public Health Services within the
contract
PH2 Health Visiting
Health, wellbeing and development of the Two year old review (integrated review)
and support to be ‘ready for school’
CQUIN payments will be made in =12ths with 50% payable on a monthly basis
with the remaining 50% payable following quarterly reconciliation once quarterly
PH3 Local Dental network
CN/A

Met - G

G

Not met - R

A/G

A

N/A

REGISTRATION WITH THE CARE QUALITY COMMISSION (CQC)

Mandatory Statement Five – Registration with the Care Quality Commission (CQC)
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust is required to register with the
Care Quality Commission and its current registration status is ‘without restrictive
conditions’.
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust has the following conditions on
registration ‘licensed to provide the following regulated activities’:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Personal care
Termination of pregnancies
Nursing care
Family planning
Treatment of disease, disorder or injury
Assessment or medical treatment for persons detained under
the Mental Health Act 1983
Surgical procedures
Diagnostic and screening procedures

The Care Quality Commission has not taken enforcement action against Dorset
HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust during 2015/16.

Meeting Care Quality Commission Fundamental Standards
The CQC carried out a comprehensive announced inspection of the Trust in the week
commencing 22 June 2015. They inspected 14 core services and two specialist services
against the five domains of quality:






Were services safe?
Were services effective?
Were services caring?
Were services responsive to people’s needs?
Were services well-led?

The inspection followed a 20-week lead-in period which involved three thorough data
collections, including details of all the clinics taking place during the inspection week. The
CQC also held events for service users to seek feedback on their experience of our care.
During the inspection week one hundred and thirteen CQC inspectors spent four days
inspecting the 16 service areas and conducted Mental Health Act monitoring visits to
locations where people are detained.
They also:






Collected feedback from 182 people who use services, using comment cards
Spoke with over 429 patients, carers and family members
Observed how staff were caring for people in all community hospitals and mental health
in-patient units, including 52 locations delivering care in the community
Observed 91 episodes of care in the community
Looked at the personal care or treatment records of 539 patients
47








Interviewed over 624 individual frontline members of staff and 67 managers
Held focus groups on several different sites across the region for a range of staff
groups
Attended multidisciplinary team meetings
Observed handovers
Liaised with local stakeholders, commissioners and local authority representatives
Interviewed corporate staff and members of the board



Met with the Trust Chair and Non-executive Directors.

The final reports were published on the CQC website on Friday 16 October 2015.
We have been rated for each core service against the five domains. The CQC ratings are
described in the following table.

CQC Ratings
Outstanding

The service is performing exceptionally well.

Good

The service is performing well and meeting our
expectations.

Requires
improvement

The service isn't performing as well as it should and
we have told the service how it must improve.

Inadequate

The service is performing badly and we've taken
action against the person or organisation that runs it.

These are then combined to give a Trust score for each of the domains and an
overarching rating.
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The Trust’s overarching rating is ‘requires improvement’ and this is made up by:
Domain

Overall Rating

Are services safe?

Requires improvement

Are services effective?

Requires improvement

Are services caring?

Good

Are services responsive

Requires improvement

Are services well-led?

Requires improvement






RAG

Two services are rated as Outstanding
Four services are rated as Good
Ten services are rated as Requires Improvement
No service was rated as Inadequate.

The two services rated as outstanding are the acute wards for adults of working age and
psychiatric intensive care units and the community forensic service. The CQC informed
the Trust that this is the first time an ‘outstanding’ rating had been awarded to acute wards
for adults of working age and psychiatric intensive care units in England.
The majority of services were rated either good or outstanding for the caring domain.
The full report is available at www.cqc.org.uk/provider/RDY
Areas of good practice
It was very pleasing to see that the CQC identified 14 areas of good practice and 41
specific points of good practice across all areas in the Trust. The lead inspector stated
that this figure is high compared to other inspections. These are areas where the
inspectors noted practice that was ‘above and beyond’ good care.
The areas of good practice include:
•

Kind, caring, compassionate and passionate staff who treated people with dignity and
respect, want to deliver good quality care and want to improve

•

Good multidisciplinary team working in many areas across the Trust

•

Outstanding and good care and treatment in both community health and mental health
services.

For in-patient mental health services the CQC found that the model of care and acute care
pathway optimised patients’ recovery. There was a strong emphasis on recoveryorientated therapeutic programmes, many of which were instigated by patients.

49

The Forensic Community Pathfinder service worked with patients with a personality
disorder who were at risk of offending to improve their outcomes and at significantly lower
cost than being in hospital.

‘It is our view that the provider had made significant progress in
developing services and bringing about improvements. We saw
that it was well-led by its new leadership team and was in the
process of deploying effective systems that we were confident
would result in the delivery of improved, high quality services for
the patients it serves in the near future.’
CQC Report October 2015
Quote from CQC r

Actions in response to the CQC findings
Areas identified for improvement following the CQC inspection in 2015 were formed into a
CQC Action Plan with priorities specified “must do” and “should do”. This plan is
monitored by the Programme Management Office (PMO) and evidence of delivery is
reviewed by the Quality Assurance team. For each of the 16 core services, a single
business owner is charged with providing to the PMO a consolidated update against action
plans for reporting purposes. The PMO maintains a dashboard on delivery against plan,
reporting monthly to the Trust’s executive team and escalating issues when
appropriate. The Quality Assurance team reviews evidence provided, re-inspects where
appropriate, shares lessons learned and reports findings to the quality executive.
Across the 16 core service lines the Trust was found to be in breach of eight (of the 13)
Regulations as indicated below:

Regulation
Number
10
11
12
13
15
17
18
20

Subject

Must Do
actions

Dignity and respect
Need for consent
Safe care and treatment
Safeguarding service users from abuse and improper treatment
Premises and equipment
Good governance
Staffing
Duty of Candour
Total

50

5
1
19
1
3
19
11
1
60

Must Do Actions
A total of 60 ‘must do’ actions have been identified through the inspection process. 27 of
the must do actions are within the mental health core service areas (45%) with 33 (55%)
attributed to the community core service areas.
The most frequent breaches involve Regulation 12: Safe Care and Treatment (19);
Regulation 17: Good Governance (19) and Regulation 18: Staffing (11).
Should Do Actions
Across the core service reports there are a total of 89 ‘should do’ actions. 62 of these
actions are within the mental health core services (70%) and 27 (30%) within the
community core services.
Collectively there are 149 must / should do actions which translate across the 16 service
lines into detailed action plans with a total of 352 actions.
Progress is reported monthly to the Trust Executive Board and the latest reports can be
accessed via the Trust’s website https://dorsethealthcare.nhs.uk/
In March 2016 the CQC carried out a focused inspection of services which were rated as
required improvement within the Trust. The CQC visited seven core services:








Community Mental Health teams
Crisis Teams and Health Based Place of Safety
Older people mental health wards
Long stay rehabilitation wards
Community Child and Adolescent Mental Health Service
Older people mental health community
Minor Injury Units/urgent care

The purpose of this inspection was to evaluate the progress being made by the Trust
against the Quality Improvement Plans for these core services from the CQC
Comprehensive inspection in June 2015.
At the time of producing this report the inspection reports have yet to be published.
Once the reports have been published they will be available on the CQC website at
http://www.cqc.org.uk/provider/RDY
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THEMATIC REVIEWS
As well as conducting comprehensive and focused inspections with care providers, CQC
carry out thematic reviews. These reviews focus on particular themes or aspects of health
and social care including pathways of care and groups of people or services. They review
the quality of care across care providers and look at how well the system delivers joinedup care for people under specific circumstances.
The Trust took part in two thematic reviews undertaken by CQC in Dorset during 2015/16.
Inequalities and variations in end of life care
Evidence shows that people from particular groups, including people with the most
complex conditions and those who are vulnerable because of their circumstances,
experience end of life care which is of poorer quality and does not always meet their needs
Variations in care, and coordination of care, at local level contribute to this. However CQC
know that there are examples of good practice at local level which they want to identify
and document to enable others to learn from what works well.
The aim of this thematic review was to enable CQC to understand the barriers which
prevent people with the poorest experience of care from receiving good quality joined-up
care at the end of life. From the review CQC identified actions which national and local
stakeholders, including commissioners, can take to address inequalities.
Dorset HealthCare took part in this thematic review in October 2015. The review was led
by Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group and involved all NHS care providers in Dorset.
The review was carried out in three phases: phase one explored geographical variations in
the quality of end of life care; phase two involved CQC gathering qualitative evidence
about people’s experience of end of life care; phase three brought together the evidence
and identified areas where people experience good quality care and describe how this is
achieved.
An overview report ‘A different ending. Addressing inequalities in end of life care.’ was
published by CQC in May 2016. The reports’ findings are that where commissioners and
services are taking an equality-led approach that responds to people’s individual needs,
people receive better care.
The report can be found on the Care Quality Commission web site at;
http://www.cqc.org.uk/content/different-ending-end-life-care-review
Review of health services for children looked after and safeguarding in Dorset
From 16 - 20 November 2015 CQC undertook a thematic review of the health services in
Dorset for looked after children and safeguarding.
The review explored the effectiveness of health services for looked after children and the
effectiveness of safeguarding arrangements within health for all children. The focus was
on the experiences of looked after children and children and their families who receive
safeguarding services.
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CQC looked at:





the role of healthcare providers and commissioners.
the role of healthcare organisations in understanding risk factors, identifying needs,
communicating effectively with children and families, liaising with other agencies,
assessing needs and responding to those needs and contributing to multi-agency
assessments and reviews.
the contribution of health services in promoting and improving the health and
wellbeing of looked after children including carrying out health assessments and
providing appropriate services.

The report was published on 1 February 2016 and follows the child’s journey reflecting the
experiences of children and young people or parents/carers to whom CQC spoke, or
whose experiences were tracked or checked.
A joint action plan involving Dorset HealthCare, Dorset CCG, Dorset County Hospital and
NHS England has been developed to address the recommendations in the report and is
led by Dorset CCG.
The full report can be found at;
http://www.cqc.org.uk/content/child-safeguarding-and-looked-after-children-inspectionprogramme

Mandatory Statement Seven
Registration with the Care Quality Commission (CQC)
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust has not participated in any special
reviews or investigations by the Care Quality Commission during the reporting period.

STAFF SURVEY
Each year NHS Staff are offered the opportunity to give their views on the range of their
experience at work by completing a staff survey questionnaire. The questions are grouped
around the key areas highlighted in the NHS staff pledges and include:





appraisal and development
health and wellbeing
staff engagement and involvement
raising concerns.

The NHS staff pledges provide the framework within which organisations in the NHS
develop their approach to improving staff experience. Research has shown that improved
staff experience is closely linked to improved patient care. The pledges cover all the main
areas of the treatment of staff at work.
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Overall in the 2015 staff survey, for those questions with a direct comparator in the 2014
survey, there is an improvement across 67.4 percent of questions, a decline across 20.2
percent of questions and 12.4 percent of responses remained at the same percentage.
Positives include percentage increases of 5 percent or more in those who:










Look forward to going to work.
Are enthusiastic about their job.
Say there are frequent opportunities to show initiative in their role.
Say they are able to make improvements happen at work.
Say they are satisfied with the support received from their manager, including - help
with difficult tasks, being asked for their opinion, managers taking a positive interest
in health and wellbeing.
Believe that care of patients is the Trust’s top priority.
Would recommend the Trust as a place to work.
Would be happy with the standard of care provided by the Trust if a friend or relative
needed treatment..

Percentage increases of 5 percent, but still low numbers overall include:





Satisfaction with the extent to which the Trust values their work 41 percent.
Effective communication between senior management and staff 36 percent.
The belief that senior managers try to involve staff in important decisions 31 percent
Belief that managers act on staff feedback 28 percent.

A new requirement for inclusion in the Quality Report this year is our performance against
two specific indicators which are detailed below:
Percentage of staff experiencing harassment, bullying or abuse from staff in the last
12 months.
Dorset HealthCare score is 22 percent, an increase from the previous year’s score of 18
percent. The national average for this indicator for our type of trust is 21 percent.
The highest incidence was amongst mental health nurses, followed by medical staff. An
action from the Doctors and Dentists Joint Negotiating Committee is for a focus group of
medical staff to consider the survey outcomes for that professional group.
We are working to continue to improve this indicator, with a series of action learning sets
taking place in May and June, one of which focuses on ‘keeping you safe’ to understand
some of the issues and identify potential solutions to continuing to address these
concerns. We have recently developed our Trust Behaviours Framework, building on the
NHS values, setting out what we should expect of ourselves and each other.
Our 5 behaviours are:




Supportive
Reliable and trustworthy
Positive
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Proactive
Respectful

More than 900 employees helped to design the framework through workshops and
surveys. It helps all of us to think about how we approach our work, each other, our
patients and carers. It will help us to create an environment where people feel valued and
where everyone is proud to work for Dorset HealthCare, and enable us to challenge such
behaviours which can be perceived as bullying, harassment or abuse from other staff.
Percentage of staff believing that the trust provides equal opportunities for career
progression or promotion.
The Trust’s score for staff believing we provide equal opportunities for career progression
or promotion is 88 percent. The national average for this indicator is 89 percent. This
result is a slight decrease from last year when 92 percent of respondents felt the trust
provides equal opportunities.
Overall, the survey shows some very positive improvements but it also highlights
significant areas where staff want the Trust to be much better. It is really important for
staff to feel that Dorset HealthCare is a great place to work if we are to achieve our
ambitions for delivering the best possible care to the people of Dorset. Individual staff and
teams are at their best when they feel valued and supported and it is clear that we still
have much more to do before all staff feel so positive.
To understand what we can do to become a better place to work, a series of staff
conferences have been organised and staff have been invited to attend one of the
following:




Wednesday 18 May 13.30-15.30, Function Room, Hamworthy Club, Magna Road,
Wimborne BH21 3AP
Monday 23 May 9.30-11.30, Blandford Corn Exchange, Market Place, Blandford
Forum, DT11 7AF
Tuesday 31 May 13.00-15.00, Weymouth Sailing Academy, WPNSA, Osprey Quay,
Portland, DT5 1SA

Some other initiatives which will be implemented by the Organisational Development
service include:



Listening into action events
Air and Share events.

The communications team will lead an action which includes an organisational
development project to improve communication for staff who do not have regular IT
access. Staff views are important and the 2015 Staff Survey reports have been published
on the Trust’s intranet and publicised in the Weekly Roundup. Throughout 2016
communications will periodically publish “You said - we did” bulletins to share with staff the
actions the Trust is taking on the survey findings.
The survey results have been sent to directors to enable them to carry out staff briefings
and to consider actions for specific groups and directorates.
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The Equality and Diversity Group has considered equality areas. A particular area of
concern and for attention from an equality impact assessment perspective (that also
applies to other NHS organisations) is how staff with a disability have a less favourable
experience of work compared with staff without a disability. The Equality and Diversity
steering group want to support a group for employees experiencing disability issues to try
and improve experiences for this group.
In addition, the survey results have received attention at the Trade Union Partnership
Forum, the Health and Safety Committee, and Security Advisory Group, and a detailed
report has been discussed by the Trust Board.
Staff Governors and Trade Union representatives met with the Executive Director of
Organisational Development and Participation and Director of Human Resources on 17
March 2016 to review the results of the survey. Follow-up meetings are planned to
discuss how the improvement measures are being implemented and the impact they are
having on staff.
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QUALITY OF DATA

Mandatory Statement Eight – Quality of data
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust submitted records during
2015/16 to the Secondary Uses service for inclusion in the Hospital Episode
Statistics which are included in the latest published data. The percentage of
records in the published data:
Which included the patient’s valid NHS Number was:




99.9% for admitted patient care;
100% for outpatient care; and
97.9% for accident and emergency care.

Which included the patient’s valid General Practitioner Registration Code was:
 100% for admitted patient care;
 99.9% for outpatient care; and
 100% for accident and emergency care.

Mandatory Statement Nine – Information Governance (IG)
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust Information Governance
Assessment Report overall score for 2015/16 was 69% and is graded ‘Green’
(satisfactory) from the Information Governance Toolkit Grading Scheme.

The Trust is required to achieve level two for each of the 45 standards. Each standard
contains criteria which must be satisfied to achieve each of the levels from 0 (insufficient
evidence) to achieve level one, up to level three – processes are in place to monitor
implementation of the standard. The criteria are specific to each standard.
IG training remains a challenge and in order to ensure the Trust achieved level two in
2015/16, managers received regular reports highlighting staff that have not attended or
are not booked to attend training. An on-line training package was developed to enable
staff to undertake the training at their workplace. The Trust has met the national target
of 95 percent and achieved 95.86 percent as at 31 March 2016.
In January 2015 a review of the IG Group took place, based on exemplar terms of
reference for IG Groups published by the Health and Social Care Information Centre. In
March 2015 a revised set of terms of reference including IG Group membership was
agreed. A comprehensive Information Governance programme of work is in progress to
ensure compliance with regulations and identification of any lessons to learn from.
In addition to the above the Trust’s internal auditors undertook an audit of the evidence to
demonstrate compliance with the toolkit requirements had been uploaded to the HSCIC's
57

online IG toolkit. Evidence containing personal and/or confidential information had been
stored in a local evidence folder on the Trust’s network.
Internal Audit agreed with the Trust’s current scoring of 14 of 15 requirements reviewed
with one requirement being not relevant. In summary internal audit gave an assurance
level as ‘Substantial’, concluding:



14 Level two scores were agreed.
One requirement was not relevant (Requirement 209 - the Trust had not
identified any overseas processing).

INFORMATION ON PAYMENTS BY RESULTS

Mandatory Statement 10 – Payment by results
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust was subject to the Payment by
Results clinical coding audit during the reporting period by the Audit Commission and
the error rates reported in the latest published audit for that period for diagnoses and
treatment coding (clinical coding) were for primary diagnosis 96% for Mental Health
Services and 92% for Community Health Services. The secondary diagnosis results are
92.6% mental health services and 98.45% community health services.

A more detailed breakdown of the audit findings is shown below.
Mental Health Services

Community Health Services

Primary diagnosis

96.00%

92.00%

Secondary diagnosis

92.60%

98.45%

Primary procedures

n/a

95.92%

Secondary procedures

n/a

90.77%

It should be noted that the results of the external audit should not be extrapolated further
than the actual sample audited.
The Trust’s Clinical Coding Department was audited by the external auditors D&A
Clinical Coding Consultancy Limited on 1-3 of March, 2016. The trust achieved a score
of level 3 which is the highest score in the audit.
Fifty episodes of care were audited for mental health and one hundred episodes of care
for community health. The one hundred episodes for community health included patients
admitted for rehabilitation as well as the specialities General Surgery, Oral Surgery,
Trauma and Orthopaedics, Gynaecology, Urology, General Medicine and
Gastroenterology.
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The quality of information found on the system for mental health episodes of care was
found to be of a high standard. The documentation provided by the clinicians on the
discharge letters was excellent, timely and included definitive primary diagnostic
information, active comorbidities and other conditions treated during the inpatient care.
The coding for the community health services was also found to be of a high standard
and the coding of secondary diagnoses has improved, whilst there were no major issues
a few trends were noted. On rehabilitation transfers, it was at times difficult to determine
what had taken place at which hospital as the discharge letter covered the whole spell;
coders also need to consider that this is a continuation of the care of the original
diagnosis.
Facet joint injections are usually undertaken by image control, this was not obvious from
the operation note, but was identified in GP letters which are not available at the time of
coding. A local policy will be developed to cover the image control of these injections.
(Facet joints are small joints at each segment of the spine that provide stability and help
guide motion. The facet joints can become painful due to arthritis of the spine, a back
injury, or mechanical stress to the back. Injections into these joints can reduce pain).

Mandatory Statement 11 – Payment by results
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust will be taking the following
actions to improve data quality:


Refresher training for the coders to refresh knowledge and to cover the
basic steps of clinical coding as well as cover the current NHS rules and
conventions – these are planned for May 2016.



Regular monthly meetings are held to discuss any changes in coding and to
discuss any queries that arise.



IAll mandatory and relevant co-morbidities are extracted from the patient’s
medical records are indexed and coded to the most specific code.



Improve the timeliness and quality of discharge letters.



Last year work was done on the pre-operation assessment as per the
recommendations of the clinical coding audit. This has been completed and
the auditors were happy with the new layout of the form.
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PERFORMANCE AGAINST THE KEY NATIONAL PRIORITIES – QUALITY INDICATORS 2015/16
The following table provides an overview of the Trust performance against a core set of indicators set by the Department of Health and
Monitor. Data relates to the end of 2014/15 and the end of 2015/16 as published on the Health and Social Care Information Centre
website.

Prescribed information
The percentage of patients on Care
Programme Approach who were
followed up within 7 days after
discharge from psychiatric inpatient
care during the reporting period.
(the year end position for this
indicator has been reviewed by
PWC )

National
average
2014/15
74.7%

DHC
2014/15
Position
Q1:95.47%
Q2:96.83%

Comparison
with other
Trusts
Highest
–
100%
Lowest
–
92.5%

Q3:98.32%
Q4: 97.04%

National
average
2015/16
72.5% (based
on national
submission
data as at
November
2015)

DHC 2015/16
Position
Q1: 95.82%
Q2: 97.27%

Comparison
with other
Trusts
Highest
–
100%
Lowest
–
0%

Q3. 97.32%
Q4. 97.63%
Year end.
97.01%

The Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons:



DHC has exceeded the target of 95% for both 2014/15 Q4 and 2015/16 Q1-Q4
This data is taken directly from the RIO (electronic patient records) and is audited daily to check accuracy.
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Dorset Healthcare University NHS Foundation Trust has taken the following action to improve this percentage, and so the quality
of its services, by continuing to follow up patients within seven days of discharge.
The breach recording tool is still in use and identifies any electronic patient record that is potentially in breach. The record is then
investigated against the criteria and appropriate action taken.
The reported indicator performance has been calculated based on all adult patients discharged from an inpatient setting followed up
within 7 days of said discharge. Completeness of this information is therefore dependent on the complete and accurate entry of data at
source by the clinician who carries out the follow up appointment. Exemptions to this indicator are – clients who have died within 7 days
of discharge, Patients discharged to another NHS psychiatric inpatient ward. Therefore, the data is, to the best of our knowledge,
complete.
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Prescribed information
The data made available to the
National Health Service Trust or
NHS Foundation Trust by the
Health and Social Care Information
Centre with regard to the
percentage of admissions to acute
wards for which the Crisis
Resolution Home Treatment Team
acted as a gatekeeper during the
reporting period.

National
average
2014/15
National
average
data is not
available

DHC
2014/15
Position
Q1: 87.46%
Q2: 97.38%

Comparison
with other
Trusts

National
average
2015/16

National
average data
for other Trusts
is not available

At the time of
reporting,
national data is
unavailable

DHC 2015/16
Position
Q1: 96.85%
Q2: 97.37%

Q3: 98.83%

Q3: 96.38%

Q4: 98.83%

Q4: 97.45%

Comparison
with other
Trusts
Comparison
data with other
Trusts is not
available

Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons:



This is being regularly monitored and staff have been reminded of the requirements to involve the crisis service in assessments
prior to a person being offered a hospital bed to help decide if an admission may be avoided through additional support at home
Since the review of this indicator in 2013/14, clinical staff are continuously reminded of how to record in a consistent manner.
Dorset Healthcare University NHS Foundation has taken the following action to improve this percentage, and the quality of its
services by:




Reinforcing the requirement of gatekeeping via the Crisis Resolution Home Treatment Team including Section 136 assessments.
Providing clear guidance to staff regarding the crisis admission process, specifically recording a declaration when non face to face
assessment was not clinically appropriate.
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Prescribed information

National
average
2014/15

The data made available to the 11.6%
National Health Service Trust or
NHS Foundation Trust by the
Health and Social Care Information
Centre with regard to the
percentage of patients aged –
0 to 151; and
16 or over,
readmitted to a hospital which
forms part of the trust within 28
days of being discharged from a
hospital which forms part of the
trust during the reporting period.

(i)
(ii)

DHC
2014//15
Position
7.39% (YTD
position for
Adults as at
March 2015)

Comparison
with other
Trusts
Below average

National
average
2015/16
10.45%

DHC 2015/16
Position
14% (Monthly
position as at
March 2016)

Comparison
with other
Trusts
Highest - 40%
Lowest – 0%

Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons:


Readmission information is routinely reported at Board level and is consequently part of the Trust’s Data Quality Assurance Framework
(DQAF). Being part of the framework ensures robust measures to test the quality through sample checking, with samples rising in
number as confidence rises.
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and the
quality of its services by:




Continuing to ensure effective discharge planning to minimise the risk of re-admission.
Information is available at ward level to inform decision makers connected with service improvement.

1

The Trust does not report for patients under the age of 18, this does not form part of the current compliance or risk assessment framework guidance for
Foundation Trust’s.
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Prescribed information
The Trust’s “Patient experience of
community mental health services”
indicator score with regard to a
patient’s experience of contact
with a health or social care
worker
during
the
reporting
period.
(Trust
performance
identifies whether a trust has been
performing ‘better’, ‘on par’ or
‘worse’ in comparison to other
trusts. These categories are based
on the ‘expected range’ that is
calculated for each question, for
each trust. This is the range in
which a particular trust is expected
to score if it performed ‘about the
same ‘as most other trusts in the
survey).

National
average
2014/15

DHC
2014/15
Position

National
average
data is not
available

7.7

Comparison
with other
Trusts
Highest: 8.4
Lowest: 7.3
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National
average
2015/16
National
average data
is not
available

DHC 2015/16
Position
7.8

Comparison
with other
Trusts
Highest: 8.2
Lowest: 6.8

Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons:
 Data is as provided by the CQC.
 The Trust saw an increase of 0.1 in the Health or Social Care worker section in 2015/16; increasing from 7.7 in 2014/15 to 7.8 in
2015/16. The Trust is still performing on a par (‘about the same’[1]) with other Trust’s that took part in the survey, and is just below the top
20 performing Trusts who scored 8.2 - 8.4 within this section.

 The Health or Social Care Worker section score of 7.8 for 2015/16 is made up of the following, a comparison against last year’s score for
each individual question has been provided:
Question

2014/15

2015/16

Did the person you saw most recently listen carefully to you

8.4

8.4

Were you given enough time to discuss your needs and treatment

7.7

7.9

Did the person you saw most recently understand how your mental health needs affect other areas of 7.0
your life

7.1

[1]

‘About the same’ is the wording used by the CQC to describe when a Trust’s performance is average. The CQC website states “the trust is performing about the same for that
particular question as most other trusts that took part in the survey”.
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Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust intends to take the following actions to improve the score, and so the quality
of its services by:


Undertaking a full review of community mental health teams and as part of this the Trust is co-producing pathways of care based on
service user experiences, clinical best practice and NICE compliance. The Trust is looking to realign resources to ensure a more
equitable mental health service across Dorset.



Continuing to work closely with Dorset CCG and their review of mental health services across Dorset. This review is looking at what
services are currently provided and how they can be improved.



Each of the CMHTs undertaking a Team Recovery Improvement Plan (TRIP) which is facilitated by the Mental Health Forum, enabling
the teams to explore how to build best practice around recovery orientated practice within the team.



Currently undertaking a Support Time and Recovery pilot in Dorchester and Bridport which is targeted at people who are currently
receiving standard care within the CMHT, supporting them with transitions, sign post to community assets and resources, employment,
housing and community engagement and help to identify strengths and plans for the future.



Psychology services have been reconfigured to improve access and reduce waiting times out of hours.
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Prescribed information
The number and, where available,
rate of patient safety incidents
reported within the Trust during the
reporting period, and the number
and percentage of such patient
safety incidents that resulted in
severe harm or death.

National
average
2014/15
134,187
patient
safety
incidents
reports (rate
not known)

DHC
2014/15
Position
5,362 patient
safety
incidents
reported
(55% of all
incidents)

1,361 (464
severe, 897
death) (1%)

51 incidents
(0.91%)
resulted in
severe harm
(7) or death
(44)

1.1% from
NRLS
cluster data
October 1,
2014 to
March 30
2015

Comparison
with other
Trusts
Below average
for the rate of
patient safety
incidents that
resulted in
severe harm or
death.

From
internal
incident
reporting
data April 1,
2014 –
March 31,
2015.

National
average
2015/16
1% from
NRLS cluster
data from
April 1 2015
to September
30 2015
(most up to
date data
available)

DHC 2015/16
Position

Comparison with
other Trusts

5987 patient
safety
incidents
reported
(58% of all
incidents)

Below average
for the rate of
patient safety
incidents that
resulted in
severe harm or
death

47 incidents
(0.78%)
resulted in
severe harm
(10) or death
(37)
From internal
incident
reporting data
April 1 2015 –
March 31
2016.

Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust considers that this data is as described for the following reasons:
The Trust was the third highest reporter of incidents within the mental health reporting organisations reporting to the National Reporting
and Learning System (NRLS) and levels of severe harm or death continue to be below the comparison data provided by the NRLS
report. There has also been a continued reduction in the percentage of incidents reporting severe harm or death from 2013/14, 2014/15
and 2015/16 within the Trust’s internal incident reporting data.
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Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust has taken / intends to take the following actions to improve this percentage, and so
the quality of its services by:
In order to share lessons learned from significant events and Root Cause Analysis investigations the Trust is continuing to hold ‘Learning
Events’ in 2016-17 across the localities. These will provide an opportunity for teams involved in serious incidents to share their learning
and changes in practice following significant events and for staff to be updated on findings and promote the importance of reporting and
learning from incidents in order to reduce avoidable harm.
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Prescribed information
The Trust’s patient reported
outcome measure
scores for
groin hernia surgery (2013/14
and April – September 2014
(published
February
2015)
information is provisional data
provided by the HES website
(PROMs data is derived from pre and
post-operative questionnaires sent to
patients undergoing groin hernia surgical
procedures. All patients, irrespective of
their condition, are asked to complete a
common set of questions about their
health status. The EQ-5D health
questionnaire asks patients to classify
their health based on self-assessed levels
of problems (“no”, “some”, “extreme” in
the following five areas: mobility, selfcare, usual activities, pain/discomfort and
anxiety/depression.
The second is the
EQ-VAS, which asks patients to indicate
their overall health on a simple scale from
0 to 100, 0 being the worst and 100 being
the best state. The average adjusted
health gain is the difference between the
pre and post-operative scores, a negative
score would denote that an individual’s
health has deteriorated.)

National
average
2014/15
EQ-5D Index
Average
adjusted
health gain
(April-Sept
2014): 0.081
EQ-5D VAS
Average
adjusted
health gain
(April-Sept
2014): -0.04

DHC
2014/15
Position
EQ-5D Index
Average
adjusted
health gain
(April-Sept
2014):
0.124

Comparison
with other
Trusts
EQ-5D Index
Lowest
adjusted
health gain
0.019
EQ-5D Index
Highest
adjusted
health gain
0.138

EQ-5D VAS
Average
adjusted
health gain
(April-Sept
2014):
-1.325

EQ-5D VAS
Lowest
adjusted
health gain
-5.962
Highest
adjusted
health gain
3.471

National
average
2015/16
EQ-5D Index
Average
adjusted
health gain
(April-Sept
2014): 0.088
EQ-5D VAS
Average
adjusted
health gain
(April-Sept
2014): -1.232

DHC 2015/16
Position
EQ-5D Index
Average
adjusted
health gain
(April-Sept
2015):
0.071
EQ-5D VAS
Average
adjusted
health gain
(April-Sept
2015):
-3.941

Comparison
with other
Trusts
EQ-5D Index
Lowest
adjusted
health gain
(April-Sept
2015): -0.000
EQ-5D Index
Highest
adjusted
health gain
(April-Sept
2015): 0.149
EQ-5D VAS
Lowest
adjusted
health gain
(April-Sept
2015):
-7.460
Highest
adjusted
health gain
(April-Sept
2015): 3.067
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Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust) considers that this data is as described for the following reasons:
The Trust undertakes a relatively small number of operations at three of its Community Hospitals.
The patients are carefully screened for surgery in a community hospital and are therefore relatively otherwise healthy individuals
whose scores for health state are generally high on the first assessment. The Trust continues to monitor all PROMS data on an
ongoing basis.
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust) intends to take the following actions to improve this score, and so the quality of
its services, by continuing to regularly review detailed patient level data to identify issues/trends which may impact on patients’ health
following surgery and take action if issues are identified.
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PART THREE: REVIEW OF QUALITY PERFORMANCE

QUALITY INDICATORS 2015/16

This section of our Quality Report highlights how we have performed as a Trust against a
core set of national quality indicators. Some of the indicators have changed from those
used in 2014/15 and the following table provides an overview of the reasons for these
changes.
QUALITY DOMAIN

INDICATOR

REASON FOR CHANGE

Introduction of innovative
methods and new ways of
sharing learning

Patient Experience

All teams across the
organisation will be aware of
and learn from lessons that
have arisen outside of their
own service

Dorset HealthCare achieved
these indicators in 2015/16
and will continue to embed
processes going forward

Evidence of changes in
practice as a result of lessons
learned
Review activity and caseloads
within community nursing
teams (physical and mental
health)

Patient Safety

There is a reduction in
avoidable community acquired
pressure ulcers grade three or
above

This work will continue as
part of our Sign up to Safety
Campaign work streams

There is a reduction in the
number of patients committing
suicide, with the aspiration to
achieving zero tolerance)
Review existing clinical policies
and guidelines to ensure they
are evidence based and
support excellence in practice
Clinical Effectiveness

Local clinical audits will be
aligned to NICE guidance
All actions arising from NICE
guidance and quality standard
baseline assessments will be
implemented within the agreed
timescales
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Achieved in 2015/16 and
being embedded during
2016/17

Progress with our Quality Indicators 2015/16
Indicator

Outcome

Patient Experience



Introduce innovative methods and new ways of
sharing learning



All teams across the organisation will be aware of and
learn from lessons that have arisen outside of their
own service



Evidence of changes in practice as a result of lessons
learned



Patient Safety



Review activity and caseloads within community
nursing teams (physical and mental health)



There is a reduction in avoidable, community
acquired pressure ulcers, grade three or above



There is a reduction in the number of patients
committing suicide, with the aspiration to achieving
zero tolerance





Clinical Effectiveness
Review existing clinical policies and guidelines to
ensure they are evidence based and support
excellence in practice.



Local clinical audits will be aligned to NICE guidance.



All actions arising from NICE guidance and
quality standard baseline assessments will
be implemented within the agreed
timescales.



Indicator achieved Indicator partially achieved  Indicator not achieved

72

PATIENT EXPERIENCE
Introduce innovative methods and new ways of sharing learning
The Trust achieved 23 learning events during 2015/16 as detailed below.
A series of 15 half-day learning from serious incident events were held throughout the Trust
during 2015/16, which were facilitated by the Medical Director or Director of Nursing and
Quality. Evaluation of the learning events shows that 96% of attendees have benefitted from
the learning shared. These events included learning from;










Clinical Effectiveness and Audit
Customer Complaints
CQC findings
Duty of Candour
Infection Prevention and Control
Patient Safety
Safeguarding [Adults and Children]
Serious Incidents (e.g. pressure ulcers, falls, suicide)
Sign Up To Safety

There were 7 Quality Matters Roadshows across the county and information was shared in
an interactive way about the Trust’s Quality Priorities for 2015-16, the national ‘Sign up to
Safety’ campaign, lessons learnt from serious incidents, patient stories and how the Nursing
and Quality team can support teams in making service improvements.
The annual Quality Conference took place in January 2016 and covered a number of quality
improvement projects which included:











Antibiotic stewardship - Promoting awareness of Antibiotic usage and clinicians / staff
individual responsibilities
CQC evidence - Evidencing good practice in the work place which will stand up to
challenge under scrutiny
Domestic abuse - Domestic Violence & Abuse: Recognise – Risk Assess – Respond. An
overview and update concerning domestic abuse matters, risk assessment tools and
support networks available.
End of life care - How undertaking Gold Standards Framework within the community
hospital has improved anticipatory care, leading to successful accreditation.
Falls prevention - How a Falls clinic works in practice to assess the risks for patients and
reduce the prevalence of falls.
Human factors - Introducing the concept of human factors and how it influences the
quality of care we provide.
Isolation infection prevention and control - Change of practice in order to achieve robust
Isolation precautions and subsequent improvements in quality of care.
Patient experience - Patient experiences of Dorset Healthcare services. Highlighting
changes / improvements made following the sharing of patient stories
Physical health monitoring - A model of integrating physical and mental health screening
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of service users to enable good health and wellbeing.
Rockwood frailty score - Introducing the Rockwood frailty score through audit comparing
the PICS patients and Alderney inpatients in conjunction with PGH to identify the complex
needs of patients referred to these units.
Values and behaviours for quality – a group exercise to identify the values and
behaviours which promote quality
‘Bitten by a shark’ personal experience shared by the Associate Director of Nursing and
Quality
Quality Priority ideas going forward – consultation on the quality priorities for 2016/17

12 lessons learnt videos have been produced during 2015/16 and are available to staff on
the Trust intranet. Staff can view the videos to see how they can apply the learning to their
own teams.
They feature actual learning situations experienced by our teams or carers and families and
cover topics such as pressure ulcer prevention, reducing restrictive interventions, suicide
prevention and falls prevention.
All teams across the organisation will be aware of and learn from lessons that have
arisen outside of their own service
Examples of lessons learned and common trends arising from complaints are shared with
team managers via the monthly locality reports and quarterly to the Executive Quality and
Clinical Risk Group. An example of learning from the March 2016 locality report relates to a
patient attending a Minor Injuries Unit at 1740 hours to find that the last patient was seen at
1730. The NHS Choices website and the Trust website stated the opening hours were until
1800 hours. Both websites have now been updated to state that the last patient will be seen
at 1730 hours.
The current key themes of the complaints received relate to attitude of staff and breach of
confidentiality, access to treatment and drugs and clinical treatment.
Over the year the Trust has developed a Complaints Review Group. The group is chaired by
the Trust Chief Executive and is attended by service users, frontline clinicians, managers and
other stakeholders, for example, members of Dorset Mental Health Forum and Bournemouth
Older People’s Forum. The quarterly meeting focuses on a number of selected anonymised
case studies, which are analysed for key learning points. Crucial to this learning is the
feedback from service users.
During quarter four (01/01/2016 to 31/03/16) the Patient Experience and Complaints Team
undertook a review of the effectiveness of the Complaints Review Group in sharing learning
and changes in practice. A total of 29 representatives were asked to complete the survey
(those who are standing members and those who are invited to discuss their specific
complaint). To date nine responses have been received.
Evidence of changes in practice as a result of lessons learned
Lessons learned and service improvements as a result of complaints and feedback from the
Friends and Family Test are shared in the monthly locality report and quarterly at the
Executive Quality and Clinical Risk Group. These detail what we did well, what we didn’t do
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so well and what we should have done. This learning can then be disseminated to teams.
An example of this learning relates to a complaint that a home visit was delayed due to a
communication breakdown.
What we did well was that once the mistake had been identified the team ensured that the
patient was well supported and had received the prescribed treatment.
What we didn’t do so well was to communicate with the patient at a time when there were
high demands on the service.
What we should have done, once the visit was identified as delayed, was communicate with
the patient so they knew when to expect a visit.

PATIENT SAFETY
Review activity and caseloads within community nursing teams (physical and mental
health)
We have carried out a comprehensive review of the community mental health teams, to look
at the demands, current resources available and the patient journey.
Alongside this work we have been working closely with the Dorset Clinical Commissioning
Group on the Acute Care Pathway review. This review has been carried out to develop
mental health services in Dorset that meet the needs of communities now and over the next
twenty years. The review is being led by NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group in
partnership with Dorset HealthCare and the three local authorities.
Whilst we have not implemented a recognised productive tool, much work has been carried
out to review activity and this links to the joint work with Dorset CCG.
The Quality, Effectiveness and Safety Trigger Tool (QuESTT) is a nationally developed tool
which provides a systematic way of identifying, at individual team level, any potential
deterioration in the standards and safety of care. It is a quick and simple self-assessment
which provides team leaders with key information about any pressures which may affect care
and take early action.
All district nursing team leaders were trained to use QuESTT during quarter one in 2015/16
and monthly reporting commenced in quarter one.
Feedback from the district nurses is that the tool has proved very useful in practice to
highlight teams at potential risk and has provided a framework for discussion and action
within the localities.
The Community Mental Health Teams review has been completed and a review workshop
was held on 1 December to assimilate the findings of the review and agree a proposed future
model. This is now feeding into the Acute Care Pathway being led by the CCG (events held
in January and March 2016) with full engagement and involvement of the Trust. This work
will continue throughout 2016/17 as part of the joint work with CCG.
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There is a reduction in avoidable, community acquired pressure ulcers, grade three or
above
The pressure ulcer indicator performance has been calculated based on all grade three and
above pressure ulcers reported on the Ulysses incident reporting database. Completeness
of this information is therefore dependent on complete and accurate entry of data at source
by clinical staff. Incidents of pressure ulcers not reported via Ulysses will not be included in
the indicator calculation. Therefore, the data is, to the best of our knowledge, complete.
Financial
Year

Total Number
of pressure
ulcers grade 3
and above

Avoidable Inpatient

Avoidable
Community

Total

316

5
(1.6%)

29
(9.2%)

34
(10.7%)

2015/16

In line with the national Sign up to Safety Campaign the Trust aims to reduce avoidable harm
by 50 percent over the next three years. A three-year trajectory to reduce the proportion of
avoidable, community acquired pressure ulcers has been set.
The table below shows the trajectory over three years to reach a 50 percent reduction based
on baseline data from 2014/15.
Baseline

Year 1

Year 2

Year 3

2014/15

2015/16

2016/17

2017/18

25.80%

21.50%

17.20%

12.90%

= to Inpatient numbers

7

6

5

4

= to Community numbers

45

37

29

21

Total

52

43

34

25

Median trajectory: avoidable, community
acquired pressure ulcers

2015/16 year end trajectory is 37 community avoidable pressure ulcers and 6 inpatient
avoidable pressure ulcers. Data as at 4 May 2016 shows that we are on track to meet
trajectory however there are quarter four incidents still under review.

Inpatient
Community
Total

Q1
1
9
10

Q2
0
9
9
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Q3
4
10
14

Q4
0
1
1

Total
5
29
34

Training in use of SSKIN bundle on SystmOne was provided in quarter two. Ongoing training
is embedded in monthly pressure ulcer updates and SystmOne training. The current
percentage of relevant staff being trained is 96 percent.
The percentage of avoidable pressure ulcers reported fluctuates due to the ongoing review
process that is in place and the table below shows the refreshed position for quarter one to
quarter four of 2015/16 as at 4 May 2016.
Data includes those where a Root Cause Analysis (RCA) was received but later withdrawn
from RCA process if it became apparent that the pressure ulcer has been acquired in care
not provided by the Trust.
There has been a decrease in the compliance rates alongside an increase in the number of
reviews being completed (with an overall decrease in those deemed to be avoidable). There
has been an increase in the number of RCAs by 58 percent from quarter one to quarter
four and a decrease in compliance to completing the review within 3 weeks by 15 percent.

Total Quarter 1
April 2015
May 2015
June 2015
Total Quarter 2
July 2015
August 2015
September 2015
Total Quarter 3
October 2015
November 2015
December 2015
Total Quarter 4
January 2016
February 2016
March 2016
Total

Number of
RCA’s
requested
83
29
24
30
129
52
39
38
135
32
46
57
137
38
41
58
484

Number of RCA’s
completed within
<= 21 days
64
17
21
26
93
35
30
28
91
25
29
37
85
24
29
32
333

Compliance

77%
59%
88%
87%
72%
67%
77%
74%
67%
78%
63%
65%
62%
63%
71%
55%
69%

There is a reduction in the number of patients committing suicide, with the aspiration
to achieving zero tolerance
Risk assessments and care plans are key to supporting the reduction of patients committing
suicide. The target of 95 percent of mental health patients on
1) Care Programme Approach or
2) Standard Care
will have a risk assessment completed or updated within the past year are monitored within
the Trust Quality Metric. As at March 2016 compliance stood at 85% for all patients.
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Compliance for patients on standard care and CPA is shown below:

Level of Care
CPA
Standard Care
End Q1 2015-16
CPA
Standard Care
End Q2 2015-16
CPA
Standard Care
End Q3 2015-16
CPA
Standard Care
End Q4 2015-16

%
Compliance
93%
81%
83%
93%
82%
84%
96%
83%
84%
96%
83%
85%

Number of
patients
1897 / 2030
9343 / 11543
11240 / 13573
2019 / 2179
5742 / 6987
7761 / 9166
2485/2589
8602/10356
11087/12945
2363/2458
8002/9698
10365/12156

This indicator is on an improving trajectory. It indicates 2,180 individual patients’ risk
assessments have not been updated within the past 12 months from over 9,000 people with
an open referral.
Of the exceptions 515 (24%) do not have a Care Co-ordinator or Health Care Professional
allocated and have not been updated since they were migrated to the electronic patient
record. The 515 are split across localities as follows:
Bournemouth and Christchurch
Dorset
Poole & East Dorset
No locality (blank)

194
111
199
11

A random sample audit (across all localities) has been completed. 55 cases (>10% of the
515) were reviewed of which 50 were on standard care or had a null status recorded.
Of the 50 on no CPA/null status there was evidence in the clinical record that a review of risk
had been completed and correspondence sent to GPs within the past 12 months for 37 cases
(74 percent). A further nine cases were re-referrals to teams (risk assessments cannot be
closed in RiO, therefore when a patient is re-referred the risk assessment becomes "live" and
will automatically be out of date until the person has been assessed and the risk assessment
updated).
A number of actions are being taken to improve compliance:
 Exceptions continue to be sent to all teams to address.
 Reports have been updated to include the person who completed the risk as well as the
person’s care coordinator who is responsible for their ongoing care.
A review of the indicator is being completed to determine the appropriate parameters as
there is under-reporting of what is happening in clinical practice.
78

A target of 95 percent qualified mental health staff to have completed clinical risk update
training within the next 3 years was set.
At the end of quarter four a total of 243 (47 percent) qualified mental health staff have
completed clinical risk update training. This is above the year one trajectory for 130 (23
percent) staff to complete this training.
A target to establish a Suicide Prevention Workstream Group who will provide a quarterly
update to the Trust’s Sign up to Safety Steering Group and develop a Suicide Prevention
Strategy linked to its 90 day Sign up to Safety plan was set.
The suicide prevention group have met regularly and are reporting to the Sign up to Safety
Group and Executive Quality and Clinical Risk Group. The Head of Patient Safety and Risk
for Dorset HealthCare and Head of Patient Safety for Dorset CCG are working together on
the Pan-Dorset Suicide Prevention Strategy.
We have developed our suicide prevention aims which are centred on the six key areas for
action set out in the national strategy ‘Preventing Suicide in England’ (2010) and form our
strategic goals for suicide prevention. These aims were adopted by the Trust in March 2016
and will be taken forward via the Sign up to Safety Campaign suicide prevention workstream.
CLINICAL EFFECTIVENESS
Review existing clinical policies and guidelines to ensure they are evidence-based and
support excellence in practice.
The Clinical Policy Review Group (CPRG) was established in June 2015 and meets monthly
to review clinical policies when they are due for review. The group reviews the format of the
policies and decides if they would be better presented as guidelines. The group is wellattended and includes operational staff with an interest in policy development to support
clinical practice.
All clinical policies reviewed by the CPRG have a brief summary highlighting the key
components of the policy, better known as a ‘grab sheet’.
Local clinical audits will be aligned to NICE guidance.
The Trust agreed that all local clinical audits will be aligned to NICE guidance. Therefore all
local audit notification forms were screened by the clinical audit team to ensure the audit
tools selected were aligned to NICE guidelines, where appropriate. The Trust set itself the
target to establish a baseline in quarter one and work to achieve 90 percent compliance by
quarter four. Over the year we achieved 80 percent in quarter one, 80 percent in quarter two,
100 percent in quarter three, and 93 percent in quarter four.
The clinical effectiveness team uses a database for recording local clinical audits with the
ability to link audit standards to NICE guidelines. We aim to expand the database with widerreaching reporting capabilities by the end of the financial year 2015/16.
A new audit module within the Ulysses database with wider-reaching reporting capabilities
has been developed and a small-scale pilot has been carried out. Full roll-out is expected
from July 2016. In the interim, there is currently an excel database in place and all new audit
notifications are assessed against NICE guidelines manually upon receipt.
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All actions arising from NICE guidance and quality standard baseline assessments will
be implemented within the agreed timescales.
The Clinical Audit Team are continuing to work with clinicians by designing electronic audit
tools and developing evidence based audit criteria.
Whilst there has been a slight decrease in compliance from Q3 to Q4, overall Q4 shows a
13% increase from Q1 and the improvement action was met in Q4.
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PERFORMANCE AGAINST KEY NATIONAL QUALITY INDICATORS

Monitor
performance
indicator:
92% <18 weeks

Year End
Position

Referral to treatment
waiting times (patients on
an incomplete pathway)
(the year end position
for this indicator has been
reviewed by PwC
)

Q4 March
16 Position

Monitor
performance
indicator:
95%< 18 weeks

Q3 Dec 15
Position

Referral to treatment
waiting times (nonadmitted)

Q2 Sept 15
Position

Monitor
performance
indicator:
90%< 18 weeks

Q1 June 15
Position

Referral to treatment
waiting times (admitted)

Q4 March
15 Position

Target threshold
values

March 14
position

Monitor Mandatory
Service Targets –
Compliance framework

March 13
Position

In addition to our achievements of quality priorities, we are monitored on our compliance against national standards and targets, as set
out below.

97.94%

96.89%

94.61%

94.77%

90.94%

N/A

N/A

N/A

98.95%

98.50%

98.87%

99.63%

99.30%

N/A

N/A

N/A

98.61%

97.73%

98.13%

97.94%

97.63%

95.15%

97.51%

97.06%

The reported indicator performance has been calculated based on all patients having an RTT clock started for each consultant led
pathway. Controls are in place at each site to ensure that all referrals that come into a consultant led service have an RTT clock started,
regardless of referral method, on relevant systems. Therefore, the data is, to the best of our knowledge, complete
A&E maximum waiting
time of 4 hours from
arrival to admission /
transfer / discharge

Monitor
performance
indicator:
95% <4 hours

98.61%

100%

99.98%
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99.97%

99.97%

99.99%

99.96%

99.97%

95.19%

95.28%

96.92%

96.10%

96.71%

96.63%

95.82%

94.20%

97.27%

95.60%

97.32%

97.63%

95.00%

95.80%

Year End
Position

Q4 March
16 Position

Q3 Dec 15
Position

Q2 Sept 15
Position

Q1 June 15
Position

Monitor
performance
indicator 95%

Q4 March
15 Position

Care Programme
Approach (CPA) patients
receiving follow up
contact within seven days
of discharge from
hospital.
CPA patients having
formal review within 12
months
(the year end position
for this indicator has been
reviewed by PwC
)

March 14
position

Target threshold
values

March 13
Position

Monitor Mandatory
Service Targets –
Compliance framework

97.01%

95.80%

The reported indicator performance has been calculated based on all adult patients discharged from an inpatient setting followed up within
7 days of said discharge. Completeness of this information is therefore dependent on the complete and accurate entry of data at source
by the clinician who carries out the follow up appointment. Exemptions to this indicator are – clients who have died within 7 days of
discharge, Patients discharged to another NHS psychiatric inpatient ward. Therefore, the data is, to the best of our knowledge, complete.
Admissions to inpatient
services had access to
Crisis Resolution /
Home Treatment Teams
Meeting commitment to
serve new psychosis
cases by early
intervention teams
C.difficile –meeting the
C.difficile objective
MRSA - meeting the
MRSA objective
(cumulative total)

Monitor
performance
indicator 95%

100%

Monitor
performance
100%
indicator 95%
to serve new psychosis cases
Monitor
13
performance
indicator: 0
Monitor
0
performance
indicator: 0

Not
available

99.12%

96.86%

97.32%

96.35%

97.45%

100%

103.00%

170.45%

89.67%

108.93%

107.4%

119.12%

1

1

5

6

1

2

14

0

0

0

0

0

0

0
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97%

Q4 March
16 Position

Q3 Dec 15
Position

Q2 Sept 15
Position

Q1 June 15
Position

Q4 March
15 Position

Monitor
performance
indicator: < 7.5%

5.59%

12.64%

8.76%

5.26%

5.48%

7.12%

8.23%

6.52%

Mental Health data
completeness: identifiers

Monitor
performance
indicator 97%

99.47%

99.58%

99.68%

99.70%

99.75%

99.70%

99.70%

99.71%

Mental Health data
completeness: outcomes
for patients on CPA

Monitor
performance
indicator 50%

84.26%

65.72%

54.3%

54.30%

54.83%

55.00%

55.00%

54.78%

Certification against
Compliance with
requirements regarding
access to health care for
people with a learning
disability

N/A
6 of 6

6 of 6

6 of 6

6 of 6

6 of 6

6 of 6

6 of 6

6 of 6

Data completeness:
Community services
comprising

Referral to
treatment
information 50%

79%

84.82%

92%

92.38%

92.38%

92.64%

92.33%

92.43%

Referral
information 50%

39%

78.99%

94%

95.1%

97.67%

98.59%

97.60%

97.25%

Treatment activity
information 50%

24%

67.29%

86%

87.54%

91.2%

92.20%

91.63%

90.64%
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Year End
Position

Minimising delayed
transfers of care

March 14
position

Target threshold
values

March 13
Position

Monitor Mandatory
Service Targets –
Compliance framework

Early intervention in
Psychosis (EIP): People
experiencing a first
episode of psychosis
treated with a NICE
approved care package
within two weeks of
referral
Improving access to
psychological therapies
(IAPT):
 People with common
mental health
conditions referred to
IAPT programme will
be treated within 6
weeks of referral


People with common
mental health
conditions referred to
IAPT programme will
be treated within 18
weeks of referral

Year End
Position

Q4 March
16 Position

Q3 Dec 15
Position

Q2 Sept 15
Position

Q1 June 15
Position

Q4 March
15 Position

March 14
position

Target threshold
values

March 13
Position

Monitor Mandatory
Service Targets –
Compliance framework

Monitor
performance
indicator 50%
Indicator introduced part year and reported in Q4

71.67%

71.67%

Monitor
performance
indicator 75%

Monitor
performance
indicator 95%

Indicator introduced part year and reported in Q3

91.46%

90.98%

91.22%

Indicator introduced part year and reported in Q3

99.81%

99.87%

99.84%
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HOW TO CONTACT US
TO CONTACT U
LET US KNOW WHAT YOU THINK
We hope that our Quality Report has been informative and interesting to you. We welcome
feedback, along with any suggestions you may have for next year’s publication. Please get
in touch with:
The Director of Nursing and Quality
Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust
Trust Headquarters
Sentinel House
4-6 Nuffield Industrial Estate Nuffield Road
Poole Dorset BH17 0RB
Email: fiona.haughey@dhuft.nhs.uk

JOIN US AS A MEMBER AND HAVE YOUR SAY IN OUR FUTURE PLANS
A representative and meaningful membership is important to the success of the Trust and
gives members of our local communities the opportunity to be involved in how the Trust and
its services are developed and improved. Membership is free and the extent to which our
members are involved is entirely up to them. Some are simply happy to receive a newsletter
four times a year, while others are keen to be involved in consultations and come along to
meetings. Some have even become members of our Council of Governors.
For further information please contact our Membership Office on:
0808 100 3318 or email: membership@dhuft.nhs.uk
CHECK OUT OUR WEBSITE
Our website provides comprehensive details of the Trust’s services and where they are
provided, including information about mental health, learning disabilities and community
health services, what to do in a crisis, updates on Trust initiatives and links to other useful
websites.
There is also a section about Foundation Trust membership under the ‘About the
Trust/Membership’ heading, where there is an opportunity to sign up online. One of the
benefits of becoming a member is that you have a vote when elections for public governors
are held and thereby a say in who represents you.
Visit: http://www.dorsethealthcare.nhs.uk/
This Quality Report can be found on the NHS Choices website at www.nhs.uk. This report
can be made available in a variety of formats, available on request.
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ANNEX 1:
FEEDBACK FROM OUR STAKEHOLDERS
Comments from the Council of Governors on the Trust Quality Report 2015/16
The Council of Governors welcomes the opportunity to comment on the Trust Quality Report
for 2015/16.
The Council holds the view that the quality of the services delivered must be the measure by
which the Trust is judged. The Quality Report is, therefore, an important element of our
overall approach to holding the Board, through the Non-Executive Directors, to account for
the performance of the Trust.
The Council is generally satisfied with the progress being made by the Trust in maintaining
and improving the quality of the services delivered to our community and beyond. The
commitment of the Board and our staff to deliver nothing less than services of the highest
quality is something which continues to impress, and is a source of great pride to the
Council.
The Care Quality Commission (CQC) inspection in June was an important test of the quality
of services provided. The Council is pleased with the many positive comments made by the
CQC and the number of ‘outstanding and ‘good’ ratings. However, the CQC report
highlighted a number of areas where our services must be improved for the benefit of
patients. The report and actions that have followed set out a clear programme for change in
these areas and they have the full support of the Council. We urge the Board to progress
these plans as a priority. The Crisis Service, in particular, has been a matter of concern to
the Council and we hope to see improvements in the near future.
Public understanding of the quality of Trust services is key. The Quality Report, given the
mandated content, does not lend itself to review by the public at large. The Council has
proposed that a shorter, publicly focused and more accessible document should be produced
to provide a summary of the progress being made by the Trust, the issues to be addressed,
the priorities for the year and the achievements and ambitions of the organisation.
The Council fully supports the Trust in taking forward its commitment to participation and
engagement. The Council encourages the Trust to continue to engage with patients and the
public on the range and quality of services provided. This will help develop a deep
understanding of what quality means to our patients and the community in general.
The Council has a number of other observations on the document. These are set out below:

The Council recognises that two of the quality priorities for 2015/16 have been achieved.
However, the Council notes there is still considerable work to be done to fully achieve the
third priority ‘promoting safe and therapeutic staffing levels within community mental
health teams (including home treatment) and community nursing teams’. It will be
necessary for the Board and Council to be assured that progress continues to be made in
2016/17.
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The results of the staff survey still give the Council cause for concern. We would like to
see a detailed plan of how the Trust will achieve better staff feedback in the future in all
areas.



The Council supports the selection of the priorities for 2016/17.



The Annual Members Meeting is an opportunity for the Trust to connect with the
communities served. The Council supports a much greater emphasis being placed on
increasing public members attending so views can be fed back.



We are aware from Council of Governors meetings and from our staff members that the
recruitment of nurses continues to be a challenge for the Trust. Continued emphasis must
be exerted to meet the staffing challenge. The Council hopes to see further emphasis
being given to this in the coming year, perhaps through investment in staff
accommodation.

In conclusion, the Council recognises the progress being made by the Trust, the
commendable attitude and the effort being displayed by staff, and the results being achieved
in improving the quality of services delivered to the community.
May 2016
Comments from Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group
Thank you for asking NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) to review and
comment on your Quality Accounts for 2015/16. Please find below the statement for inclusion
in the final document:
“The CCG has been working closely with the Trust during the year, gaining assurance of the
delivery of safe and effective services. A range of indicators in relation to quality, safety and
performance is presented and discussed at regular meetings between the Trust and CCG.
The information presented within the quality accounts is consistent with information supplied
to the commissioner throughout the year. We can confirm that we have no reason to believe
this Quality Account is not an accurate representation of the performance of the organisation
during 2015/16.
The CQC rating for the Trust reflects the areas identified for improvements within an
improvement action plan and the CCG continues to work with the Trust in reviewing these
actions to provide additional assurance on the quality of services. Members of CCG staff
have undertaken commissioner led visits during the year and feedback from CQC aligns to
our own observations.
The focus on learning from investigations and reviews and sharing with the wider team has
recorded many areas of improvement and development over the last year which is pleasing
to note as is the implementation of NICE quality standards. An area for further work is noted
in relation to staffing levels within community mental health teams.
The CCG is supportive of the maintained focus of quality priorities for 2016/17 and has been
actively engaged in the development of the Quality Improvement Priorities that the Trust has
set for 2016/17 and will work with the Trust over the coming year to ensure all quality
standards are monitored as set out in the reporting requirements of the NHS Contract and
local quality schedules. “
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Comments from Healthwatch Dorset
In our comments for the 2014/15 Quality Account, we welcomed the Trust's plans to take a
proactive approach to gathering and learning from patient experience in 2015/16. We note
that “lessons learned” are now being shared more comprehensively with staff across the
organisation. We have Healthwatch representation on the Trust’s Complaints Review Group
and can confirm that this group has proved a useful way to review and learn from issues
raised. We also note that the Trust will be reviewing and changing the current formats to
deliver complaints training for staff. This is positive and we look forward to seeing the results.
Over the last year we have continued to work with the Trust on areas such as speech and
language therapy services (SALT) and PLACE (Patient Led Assessment of the Care
Environment).
During the coming year we will continue to liaise and work together on mental health crisis
care and CAMHS (Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services). These are ongoing
concerns for local people and a high percentage of the feedback we receive from patients,
families and carers relates to mental health services, especially access to services (long
waiting times) and crisis care “out of hours”.
We continue to receive very positive feedback about Community Hospital services, with the
majority of negative comments relating to transfers of care (discharge). We understand this is
in the wider context of general issues surrounding access to care packages, whether at
home or in care home environments.
We have also received some concerns from local people about access to services such as
podiatry and hearing aid repair.
We note with approval the Trust’s interest in “John’s Campaign” and the focus on carers and
we look forward to working with the Trust on the 2016/17 Patient Experience priority focusing
on engagement with patients and families.

Comments from Dorset Health Scrutiny Committee
The Task and Finish Group, commenting on behalf of the Dorset Health Scrutiny Committee,
commended the progress made in the Quality Account for 2015/16 and in particular, made
the following comments:
With regard to patient safety, members were particularly interested in the on-going work to
reduce the incidence of pressure ulcers, many of which are community-acquired. It was
noted that these can be difficult to prevent if individuals do not engage with health or social
care services at an early stage.
With regard to clinical effectiveness, members questioned how the Trust intended to improve
on performance and welcomed the staff training which was being undertaken, along with the
exploration of ways to provide prescribed medications.
The outcome of recent inspections by the Care Quality Commission were of particular
interest to members, as the Dorset Health Scrutiny Committee has received a number of
reports on this matter. Members queried the rate of progress against ‘must do’ actions and
were pleased to hear that good progress was being made, along with significant
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improvement, particularly with regard to child and adolescent mental health services and
minor injuries units.
Members noted that objectives for 2015/16 had been fully achieved in two areas (patient
experience and clinical effectiveness), but only partially achieved in the area of patient
safety. Root cause analysis for pressure ulcers and risk assessments for patients with
mental health problems were reported to be the key areas for further development, but
members acknowledged the challenging targets that the Trust had set itself. The staff
training taking place to tackle these objectives was welcomed.
Overall, members recognised that there would always be room for improvement, but
significant progress had been made and was likely to continue in the coming year given the
more robust attitude to the anticipation of issues arising. Members complimented the Trust
for stretching to achieve over and above minimum targets and welcomed the opportunity to
comment on the proposed priorities for 2016/17.

Comments from Borough of Poole’s Health & Social Care Overview and Scrutiny
Committee:
People Overview and Scrutiny Committee {Health and Social Care) POSC{HSC) response to
Dorset Healthcare University Foundation Trust's Quality Account 2015/16.
Members of Borough of Poole's POSC(HSC) would like to thank the Trust for enabling us to
meet with yourselves to discuss quality issues over the last year and also to comment on this
draft Quality Account for 2015/16.
The Report gives a clear outline of how the Trust is endeavouring to deliver high quality care
and the activities undertaken during the financial year to improve services.
The POSC (HSC) are encouraged to note that a Quality Strategy has been written using key
metrics from the NHS Outcomes Framework and also the Quality Priorities for the year. With
regard to the priority areas for improvement for 2015/16 we commend the Trust in achieving
the majority of what it had planned in relation to:
Patient Experience- that the Trust's commitment “lessons learned from the findings from
local investigations and review will be shared beyond the team” has been taken very
seriously using innovative ways to engage staff in learning through the Quality Matters
Roadshows, half day learning events and using blended methods such as video clips,
podcasts and group working. It is also encouraging to note outside voluntary Forums have
been involved in lessons learnt from complaints.
Patient Safety- it is unfortunate that the Trust has not fully met it's commitment to safe and
therapeutic staffing levels, however it is encouraging to note that a risk tool has been
implemented to identify early potential safety issues. The Committee also note that
Community Mental Health Teams are being reviewed dovetailing with the Acute Care
Pathway review. The committee would like to be further appraised of avoidable acquired
pressure ulcers to understand how the Trust is performing compared to other Trusts.
Clinical Effectiveness- the committee are encouraged to note that all policies and audit tools
are being aligned to NICE guidelines and standards and that quick guide style grab sheets
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have been introduced where appropriate to support busy staff in excellence in practice.
The Committee would like to thank the Trust for inviting and engaging with us as
stakeholders in the event held in January 2016 to consult on the Quality Improvement
Priorities for 2016/17 and note that the final choices are:


Patient Experience- ensuring that patients and carers are actively involved in their care
planning and talking open and honestly when things go wrong.

This is commendable, clearly reflecting the Trust's commitment to putting patients at the
centre of care delivery and reflects the duty of candour principles. The Committee would be
very interested to understand how this will be measured and would like to receive a mid-year
update to understand how this is working in practice.


Patient safety- to reduce the number of patients using the service who experience an
unexpected deterioration in their physical condition which results in admission to an acute
general hospital.

It is useful to understand that the Trust recognise this as an area of concern and that regional
learning events linked to the Wessex Academic Science Network can be used to develop
good practice in this area. It would also be useful for the Trust to look at local acute Trust
work in the use of technology such as Vital Pac and the success that has been achieved in
in-patient environments.


Clinical Effectiveness- Implementing NICE quality standards

We would like to be appraised of the audit findings especially in areas the Trust has identified
as needing improvement such as VTE and End of Life Services.
The Committee would like to receive updates over the coming year on progress made from
the 2015 Care Quality Commission inspection which rated the Trust as requiring
improvement. This has led to a comprehensive action plan being put in place and is a key
area the Committee would like to subject to regular scrutiny.
The Committee would also wish to see an update on staffing matters especially with regard
to the specific indicator around staff feeling harassed and bullied. The increase in this trend
is concerning therefore it would be useful to see a more detailed analysis around the issues.
Thank you for the opportunity to comment on an interesting Quality Review and Account. We
look forward to reading the published version but please take this letter as Borough of
Poole's response to that document based on the draft version sent to the Council on 6th April
2016.
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ANNEX 2:
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities
The directors are required under the Health Act 2009 and the National Health Service
(Quality Accounts) Regulations to prepare Quality Accounts for each financial year.
Monitor has issued guidance to NHS foundation trust boards on the form and content of
annual quality reports (which incorporate the above legal requirements) and on the
arrangements that NHS foundation trust boards should put in place to support the data
quality for the preparation of the quality report.
In preparing the Quality Report, directors are required to take steps to satisfy themselves
that:



the content of the Quality Report meets the requirements set out in the NHS Foundation
Trust Annual Reporting Manual 2015/16;
the content of the Quality Report is not inconsistent with internal and external sources of
information including:
o

board minutes and papers for the period April 2015 to April 2016;

o

papers relating to Quality reported to the Board over the period April 2015 to April
2016;

o

feedback from commissioners; NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group
dated 6 May 2016;

o

feedback from governors dated 9 May 2016;

o

feedback from Healthwatch Dorset dated 4 May 2016;

o

feedback from Dorset Health Scrutiny Committee dated 7 May 2016;

o

feedback from the Borough of Poole Health and Social Care Overview and Scrutiny
Committee dated 18 April 2016;

o

the Trust’s complaints report published under regulation 18 of the Local Authority
Social Services and NHS Complaints Regulations 2009, Annual Compliments,
Complaints and PALS Report, dated 3 May 2016;

o

the national patient survey dated 21 October 2015;

o

the national staff survey dated February 2016;

o

the Head of Internal Audit’s annual opinion over the Trust’s control environment
dated 5 May 2016;

o

CQC Intelligent Monitoring Report dated 25 February 2016.

o

Care Quality Commission inspection reports dated 16 October 2015
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ANNEX 3:
DEFINITION OF INDICATORS
These are the detailed definitions for the indicators tested by external audit and are the
subject of their Limited Assurance report on page 96 of this quality report to be confirmed
once external audit received
INDICATOR

DEFINITION

Percentage of
incomplete pathways
within 18 weeks for
patients on
incomplete pathways
at the end of the
reporting period
(relates to consultant
led)

Percentage of incomplete pathways within 18 weeks for
patients on incomplete pathways
Source of indicator definition and detailed guidance
The indicator is defined within the technical definitions that
accompany Everyone counts: planning for patients 2014/15 2018/19 and can be found at www.england.nhs.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2014/01/ec-tech-def-1415-1819.pdf
Detailed rules and guidance for measuring referral to treatment
(RTT) standards can be found at
http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/rttwaiting-times/rtt-guidance/
Detailed descriptor
E.B.3: The percentage of incomplete pathways within 18 weeks
for patients on incomplete pathways at the end of the period
Numerator
The number of patients on an incomplete pathway at the end of
the reporting period who have been waiting no more than 18
weeks
Denominator
The total number of patients on an incomplete pathway at the end
of the reporting period
Accountability
Performance is to be sustained at or above the published
operational standard. Details of current operational standards are
available at: www.england.nhs.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2013/12/5yr-strat-plann-guid-wa.pdf (see Annex
B: NHS Constitution Measures).
Indicator format
Reported as a percentage
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INDICATOR

DEFINITION

Patients on Care
Programme Approach
(CPA) followed up
within 7 days of
discharge from
psychiatric inpatient
stay.

Percentage of patients on Care Programme Approach who
were followed up within 7 days after discharge from
psychiatric in-patient care
Detailed descriptor
The proportion of those patients on a CPA, discharged from
inpatient care who are followed up within seven days.
Date definition
All patients discharged to their place of residence, care home,
residential accommodation, or to non-psychiatric care must be
followed up within seven days of discharge. All possibilities need to
be exploited to ensure patients are followed up within seven days
of discharge. Where a patient has been discharged to prison,
contact should be made via the prison in-reach team.






Exemption:
Patients who die within seven days of discharge may be excluded.
Where legal precedence has forced the removal of the patient from
the country.
Patients transferred to NHS psychiatric inpatient.
CAMHS (children and adolescent mental health services) are not
included
The seven-day period should be measured in days not hours and
should start on the day after discharge.
Accountability
Achieving at least a 95% rate of patients followed up after
discharge each quarter.

This is the definition for the local indicator, selected by the trusts Council of Governors.
INDICATOR

DEFINITION

Reduction in avoidable,
community acquired
pressure ulcers, grade
three or above

In line with the national Sign up to Safety Campaign the Trust
aims to reduce avoidable harm by 50% over the next three
years.
Avoidable Pressure Ulcer Definition
"Avoidable means that the person receiving care developed a
pressure ulcer and the provider of care did not do one of the
following: evaluate the person's clinical condition and pressure
ulcer risk factors; plan and implement interventions that are
consistent with the person's needs and goals, and recognised
standards of practice; monitor and evaluate the impact of the
interventions; or revise the interventions as appropriate."
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INDICATOR

DEFINITION
Unavoidable Pressure Ulcer Definition
"Unavoidable means that the person receiving care developed a
pressure ulcer even though the provider of care had evaluated
the person's clinical condition and pressure ulcer risk factors;
planned and implemented interventions that are consistent with
the person's needs and goals; and recognised standards of
practice; monitored and evaluated the impact of the
interventions; and revised the approaches as appropriate; or the
individual person refused to adhere to prevention strategies in
spite of education of the consequences of non-adherence."
Definitions taken from www.patientsafetyfirst.nhs.uk (2009)
To measure this indicator we calculated a three year trajectory
to reduce the proportion of avoidable, community acquired
pressure ulcers.
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS
Adverse incidents
Any event or circumstance arising that could have or did lead to serious unintended or
unexpected harm, loss or damage. Essentially serious adverse incidents are those which
cause (or have the potential to cause) the most harm either to individuals (staff, service
users, visitors, contractors, others) or to the organisation. These include unexpected
deaths; injuries causing major and permanent physical or psychological harm; large-scale
theft or fraud; outbreak of Legionnaires disease; major fire or flood; etc.
Acute Care
Short-term health care for a severe injury or psychiatric episode.
Avoidable
Avoidable means the patient receiving care developed a pressure ulcer and the provider of
care did not do one of the following: evaluate the patients clinical condition and pressure
ulcer risk factors; plan and implement interventions that are consistent with patient needs,
goals, and recognised standards of practice; monitor and evaluate the impact of those
interventions; or revise the interventions as appropriate (NPSA 2010).
Board of Directors
The Board of Directors agree the future plans of the organisation and consists of NonExecutive Directors, Executive Directors and Locality Directors.
Child and Adolescence Mental Health Services (CAMHS)
CAMHS provides assessment and treatment for children and young people up to the age of
18 years (and their families/carers), who are suffering significant mental health problems
which have not responded to intervention at primary care and early intervention level.
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD)
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a collection of lung diseases including
chronic bronchitis, emphysema and chronic obstructive airways disease.
Care Programme Approach (CPA)
The process that providers of mental health care use to co-ordinate the care, treatment and
support for people who have mental health needs.
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG)
The CCG’s are clinically led NHS organisations which organise the delivery of NHS services
in England.
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Care Quality Commission (CQC)
The CQC is the independent regulator of health and adult social care services in England. It
also protects the interests of people whose rights are restricted under the Mental Health
Act.
Clinical audits
A systematic process for setting and monitoring standards of clinical care. ‘Guidelines’
define what the best clinical practice should be, ‘audit’ investigates whether best practice is
being carried out and makes recommendations for improvement.
Clinical Risk Training
High quality risk assessment and management is an important clinical skill which is
enhanced by training and experience. Clinical risk training equips the health care practitioner
to undertake high quality risk assessments
Commissioning for Quality and Innovation (CQUIN)
A payment framework that has been a compulsory part of the NHS contract from 2009/10. It
allows all local health communities to develop their own schemes to encourage quality
improvement and recognise innovation by making a proportion of NHS service provider’s
income conditional on locally agreed goals.
Community Health Services (CHS)
Provides a range of services to assist people with their physical, emotional and mental
health needs. These services are provided in the community so are close to people’s
homes. Dorset HealthCare works in partnership with GP, Social Services and local health
providers to provide these services.
Community Hospitals
Community Hospitals provide many services including elderly inpatient care, outpatient
appointments, therapy services and theatre.
Community Mental Health Team (CMHT)
Community Mental Health Teams (CMHTs) are multi-disciplinary, multi-agency assessment
teams designed to provide mental health care and treatment for individuals with more
complex and enduring mental health needs in the community.
Council of Governors
The Council of Governors are guardians of the Trust working on behalf of local communities
and staff. The Council ensure that the Trust complies with the terms of its authorisation as
an NHS Foundation Trust and meets regularly to advise the Board of Directors on the
Trust’s development and strategies.
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Dementia
Dementia is associated with an ongoing decline of the brain and its abilities, most notably
including memory, language and understanding.

Foundation Trust
Foundation Trusts are a type of NHS organisation with greater local accountability and
freedom to manage themselves. They remain within the NHS overall, and provide the same
services as traditional trusts, but have more freedom to set local goals. Staff and members
of the public can join their Boards or become members.
Friends and Family Test (FFT)
The FFT asks patients if they would recommend services to their family and friends. The
FFT is now in place in all community hospitals, inpatient mental health hospitals, minor
injury units and all teams in the community.
Gold Standards Framework
The Gold Standards Framework (GSF) is a model that enables good practice to be available
to all people nearing the end of their lives, irrespective of diagnosis
Healthwatch
Healthwatch are an independent organisation which ensures the voice of patients and cares
are heard throughout health and care services. They can raise issues of concern within an
organisation and work with them to improve services. They ensure that patients are getting
the services they need.
Hospital Episode Statistics
Hospital Episode Statistics is the national statistical data warehouse for England of the care
provided by NHS hospitals and for NHS hospital patients treated elsewhere.
Information Governance Toolkit
An online tool that enables organisations to measure their performance against information
governance standards.
There are several elements of law and policy from which information governance standards
are derived. It encompasses legal requirements, central guidance and best practice in
information handling, including:
• The common law duty of confidentiality
• Data Protection Act 1998
• Information security
• Information quality
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• Records management
• Freedom of Information Act 2000.
Mental Health Services (MHS)
Provides a range of treatments for people across Dorset who are suffering from a mental
health problem. These services can be provided at home, in the community or in more
specialised inpatient units.
Minor Injury Unit’s (MIU’s)
MIU’s provide help for people with injuries which are not life threatening, enabling Accident
and Emergency Departments to concentrate on those with serious conditions.
Monitor
The independent regulator of NHS Foundation Trusts, ensuring they are well led and
financially robust.
National Institute of Health and Clinical Excellence (NICE)
NICE provides guidance, sets quality standards and manages a national database to
improve people’s health and prevent and treat ill health.
NICE makes recommendations to the NHS on:
• new and existing medicines, treatments and procedures
• treating and caring for people with specific diseases and conditions
• how to improve people’s health and prevent illness and disease.
National patient surveys
The National Patient Survey Programme, coordinated by the Care Quality Commission,
gathers feedback from patients on different aspects of their experience of recently received
care, across a variety of services/settings.
Non-Executive Director
An outside member of the Board of Directors who is not affiliated with the
organisation, they are sometimes known as independent directors.
Not upheld
If any or all of the complaint is not well founded.
Nursing Red Flag
Events that prompt an immediate response by the registered nurse in charge of the ward.
The response may include allocation additional nursing staff to the ward or other appropriate
responses.
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Patient Reported Outcomes (PROMs)
PROMs assess the quality of care delivered to NHS patients from the patients perspective.
Cover four clinical procedures, PROMs calculate the health gains after surgical treatment
using pre and post-operative surveys.
Patient Advice and Liaison Service (PALS)
PALS is an impartial service designed to ensure that the NHS listens to patients, their
relatives, carers and friends, and answers their questions and resolves their concerns as
quickly as possible. PALS also helps the NHS to improve services and make changes by
listening to what matters to patients and their loved ones.
Patient Experience and Engagement (PPEE) Committee
The Patient and Public Experience and Engagement (PPEE) Committee was developed to
ensure that the voice and experience of patients and carers is at the centre of service
development and delivery within the Trust. This committee strengthens the service user
voice and the pathway from service user to the Trust Board and is co-chaired by a service
user and the Trust Lead for Participation.
Parliamentary Ombudsman
The Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman investigates complaints that patients
have been unfairly treated and received poor health service.
Peer Support Worker
A Peer Support worker is someone who has personal experience of an illness, who then
uses their own experience to help others recover.
POMH
Prescribing Observatory for Mental Health (Royal College of Psychiatrists).
Pressure Ulcer (PU)
Pressure ulcers are a type of injury that break down the skin and underlying tissue. They
are caused when an area of skin is placed under pressure. They are also sometimes known
as 'bedsores' or 'pressure sores'.
Pulmonary embolism
Where a clot breaks away from where it formed and lodges in the lung.
Q1, Q2
Q1 stands for quarter 1. The Trust reports progress with our priorities every 3 months
(quarterly). Quarter one is April – June in any calendar year. Quarter two is July –
September in any calendar year and so forth.
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Research
Clinical research and clinical trials are an everyday part of the NHS. The people who do
research are mostly the same doctors and other health professionals who treat people. A
clinical trial is a particular type of research that tests one treatment against another. It may
involve either patients or people in good health, or both.
RiO
RiO is an Integrated Electronic Health Record (IEHR). RiO is used by the Trust’s mental
health and learning disability teams.
Root Cause Analysis
Root Cause Analysis (RCA) is the structured approach to identifying the factors which
resulted in an incident. The root causes are the fundamental issues which have led to an
incident occurring and must be addressed to improve the delivery of care.
Safeguarding
A term used in conjunction with measures that are taken to protect, safeguard and promote
the health and welfare of children and vulnerable people. Ensuring they live free from harm,
abuse and neglect.
Schizophrenia
Schizophrenia is a mental illness associated with disordered thinking, delusions and
hallucinations. It has a severe effect on the person, affecting all aspects of their life
including their thinking, emotions and motivation.
Secondary Uses Service
The Secondary Uses Service is designed to provide anonymous patient-based data for
purposes other than direct clinical care such as healthcare planning, commissioning, public
health, clinical audit and governance, benchmarking, performance improvement, medical
research and national policy development.
Venous Thrombosis (VTE)
Venous thrombosis or phlebothrombosis is a blood clot (thrombus) that forms within a vein.
Unavoidable
This means that the patient developed a pressure ulcer even though the healthcare provider
had evaluated the patients clinical condition and pressure ulcer risk factors; defined and
implemented interventions that are consistent with patient needs, goals, and recognised
standards of practice; monitored and evaluated the impact of those interventions; and
revised the approaches as appropriate; or the individual refused to adhere to prevention
strategies in spite of education of the consequences of non- adherence (WOCN 2009,
NPSA 2010).
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Risk Identification
This has been delivered in training sessions to staff to understand who is at risk. The tool to
prompt staff is an example of how we are trying to improve awareness.

Risk assessment
The Braden risk assessment is used in our hospitals. This assesses elements of risk that
contribute to either higher intensity and duration of pressure or lower tissue tolerance to
pressure. The lower the score the greater the risk. The assessment is to be completed
within six hours of admission and the target was to reduce this to within four hours by
September 2013. Evidence suggests that this is a key factor in preventing issues and this is
measured on a monthly basis.
SSKIN Bundle
The SSKIN bundle is a collection of elements that are applied to patients at risk of
developing a pressure ulcer or who have a pressure ulcer. The elements include Skin
Inspection, Surface, Keep Moving, Incontinence and Nutrition. The Trust takes a proactive
approach of randomly checking case notes from teams to ensure these aspects are being
covered in the plan of care.
Upheld
If any or all of the complaint was well founded.
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 March 2016

NOTE

2015/16
£000

2014/15
£000

Operating Income from continuing operations

2

252,628

246,001

Operating Expenses of continuing operations

3

(249,931)

(243,355)

2,697

2,646

118
(8)
(15)
(4,695)
(4,600)

133
(27)
(17)
(4,282)
(4,193)

(Deficit) from continuing operations

(1,903)

(1,547)

(DEFICIT) FOR THE YEAR

(1,903)

(1,547)

(3,859)
10,318
243

(8,289)
9,676
-

4,799

(160)

OPERATING SURPLUS
FINANCE COSTS
Finance income
Finance costs - financial liabilities
Finance costs - unwinding of discount on provisions
Public Dividend Capital Dividends payable
NET FINANCE COSTS

5.1
5.2
21

Other comprehensive income
Impairments
Revaluations
Other reserve movements

22
22

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(EXPENSE) FOR THE YEAR

The notes on pages A7 to A50 form part of these accounts.
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS' EQUITY for the year ended
31 March 2016
Total
Taxpayers'
Equity
£000

Public
Dividend
Capital
£000

Revaluation
Reserve
£000

Income and
Expenditure
Reserve
£000

Taxpayers' Equity at 1 April 2015
(Deficit) for the year
Impairments
Revaluations - Property, plant & equipment
Asset disposals
Other reserve movements

170,567
(1,903)
(3,859)
10,318
243

31,080
-

51,044
(3,859)
10,318
(274)
243

88,443
(1,903)
274
-

Taxpayers' Equity at 31 March 2016

175,366

31,080

57,472

86,814
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN TAXPAYERS' EQUITY for the year ended
31 March 2015
Total
Public
Taxpayers' Dividend
Equity
Capital
£000
£000

Revaluation
Reserve
£000

Income and
Expenditure
Reserve
£000

Taxpayers' equity at 1 April 2014
Surplus for the year
Impairments
Revaluations - Property, plant & equipment

170,727
(1,547)
(8,289)
9,676

31,080
-

49,657
(8,289)
9,676

89,990
(1,547)
-

Taxpayers' Equity at 31 March 2015

170,567

31,080

51,044

88,443
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 March 2016
NOTE
Cash flows from operating activities
Operating surplus from continuing operations
Operating surplus
Non-cash income and expense
Depreciation and amortisation
Impairments
Reversal of impairments
Loss on disposal
Income recognised in respect of capital donations (cash and non-cash)
Decrease in Trade and Other Receivables
Decrease in Other Assets
Decrease in Inventories
Increase/(Decrease) in Trade and Other Payables
(Decrease)/Increase in Provisions
Other movements in operating cash flows
Net cash generated from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received
Purchase of intangible assets
Purchase of Property, Plant and Equipment
Sales of Property, Plant and Equipment
Receipt of cash donations to purchase capital assets
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities
Loans repaid to the Foundation Trust Financing Facility
Loans repaid to the Department of Health
Other loans repaid
Capital element of finance lease rental payments
Interest paid
Interest element of finance lease
PDC Dividend paid
Net cash generated used in financing activities

Increase/(Decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and Cash equivalents at 1 April
Cash and Cash equivalents at 31 March

23
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2015/16
£000

2014/15
£000

2,697
2,697

2,646
2,646

7,533
1,199
(619)
(473)
(602)
1,484
243
17
2,089
(330)
13,238

6,868
1,180
(224)
(117)
(624)
607
80
(641)
187
10
9,972

118
(10,132)
1,517
478
(8,019)

133
(10,260)
867
624
(8,636)

(8)
(7)
(1)
(4,585)
(4,601)

(1,443)
(10)
(35)
(2)
(4,329)
(5,819)

618

(4,483)

30,115

34,598

30,733

30,115
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
1.

Accounting Policies and Other Information
Monitor is responsible for issuing an accounts direction to NHS foundation Trusts under the NHS Act 2006.
Monitor has directed that the accounts of NHS Foundation Trusts shall meet the accounting requirements of the
NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual (FT ARM) which shall be agreed with the Secretary of State.
Consequently, the following accounts have been prepared in accordance with the 2015/16 NHS FT ARM issued by
Monitor under the NHS Act 2006. The accounting policies contained in that manual follow International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) and HM Treasury’s Financial Reporting Manual to the extent that they are meaningful
and appropriate to NHS Foundation Trusts. Where the NHS Foundation Trust Annual Reporting Manual permits a
choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most appropriate to the particular
circumstances of Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust (the Trust) for the purpose of giving a true
and fair view has been selected. The accounting policies adopted by the Trust are described below. The
accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the
accounts.

1.1 Accounting Convention
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to account for the revaluation of
Land and Buildings.
1.2 Going Concern
The Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Trust has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing
the accounts.
1.3 Acquisitions and Discontinued Operations
Activities are considered to be 'discontinued' where they meet all of the following conditions:
the sale or termination is completed either in the period or before the earlier of three months after the
a.
commencement of the subsequent period and the date on which the accounts are approved;
if a termination, the former activities have ceased permanently;
b.
the sale or termination has a material effect on the nature and focus of the reporting NHS
c.
Trust's operations and represents a material reduction in its operating facilities resulting either from its
withdrawal from a particular activity or from a material reduction in income in the Trust's
continuing operations; and
d.
the assets, liabilities, results of operations and activities are clearly distinguishable, physically,
operationally and for financial reporting purposes.
Operations not satisfying all these conditions are classified as continuing.
Activities are considered to be 'acquired' whether or not they are acquired from outside the public sector.
For 2015/16 and 2014/15 all operations are continuing and no acquisitions have been made in 2015/16.
1.4 Income
Income in respect of services provided is recognised when, and to the extent that, performance occurs and is
measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable. The main source of income for the trust is contracts
with NHS commissioners in respect of healthcare services.
Where income is received for a specific activity, which is to be delivered in the following financial year, this income
is deferred.
Income from the sale of non-current assets is recognised only when all material conditions of sale have been met,
and is measured as the sums due under the sale contract.
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1.5 Expenditure on Employee Benefits
Short-term Employee Benefits
Salaries, wages and employment related payments are recognised in the period in which the service is received
from employees. The cost of annual leave entitlement earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period
is recognised in the accounts to the extent that employees are permitted to carry forward leave into the following
period.
Pension Costs
NHS Pension Scheme
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pension Scheme. The scheme is an
unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, general practices and other bodies, allowed under
the direction of Secretary of State, in England and Wales. It is not possible for the NHS foundation trust to identify
its share of the underlying scheme liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as a defined contribution
scheme.
Employers pension cost contributions are charged to operating expenses as and when they become due.
Further details are available in Note 4.7.
1.6 Expenditure on other Goods and Services
Expenditure on goods and services is recognised when, and to the extent that they have been received, and is
measured at the fair value of those goods and services. Expenditure is recognised in operating expenses except
where it results in the creation of a non-current asset such as property, plant and equipment.
1.7 Property, Plant and Equipment
Recognition
Property, Plant and Equipment is capitalised where:
●
it is held for use in delivering services or for administrative purposes;
●
it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust;
●
it is expected to be used for more than one financial year;
●
the cost of the item can be measured reliably; and
- they individually have a cost of at least £5,000; or
- they form a group of assets which individually have a cost of more than £250, collectively have a cost of at
least £5,000, where the assets are functionally interdependent, they had broadly simultaneous purchase
dates, are anticipated to have simultaneous disposal dates and are under single managerial control; or
- they form part of the refurbishment or initial equipping and setting-up cost of a new building, ward or unit
irrespective of their individual or collective cost.
Where a large asset, for example a building, includes a number of components with significantly different asset
lives e.g. plant and equipment, then these components are treated as separate assets and depreciated over their
own useful economic lives.
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1.7 Property, Plant and Equipment Continued
Measurement
Valuation
All property, plant and equipment assets are measured initially at cost, representing the costs directly attributable
to acquiring or constructing the asset and bringing it to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management. All assets are measured subsequently at market value in
existing use, except for an item of property, plant and equipment which is surplus with no plan to bring it back into
use which is valued at fair value under IFRS 13, if it does not meet the requirements of IAS 40 or IFRS 5. For
assets other than land and buildings, depreciated value is considered to be equivalent to market value in existing
use.
Properties in the course of construction for service or administration purposes are carried at cost, less any
impairment loss. Cost includes professional fees but not borrowing costs, which are recognised as expenses
immediately, as allowed by IAS 23 for assets held at fair value. Assets are revalued and depreciation commences
when they are brought into use.
Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure relating to an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an increase in the
carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that additional future economic benefits or service potential
deriving from the cost incurred to replace a component of such item will flow to the enterprise and the cost of the
item can be determined reliably. Where a component of an asset is replaced, the cost of the replacement is
capitalised if it meets the criteria for recognition above. The carrying amount of the part replaced is de-recognised.
Other expenditure that does not generate additional future economic benefits or service potential, such as repairs
and maintenance, is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which it is incurred.
Depreciation
Items of Property, Plant and Equipment are depreciated evenly over their remaining useful economic lives in a
manner consistent with the consumption of economic or service delivery benefits. Freehold land is considered to
have an infinite life and is not depreciated.
Property, plant and equipment which has been reclassified as 'Held for Sale' ceases to be depreciated upon the
reclassification.
Assets in the course of construction are not depreciated until the asset is brought into use.
Buildings, installations and fittings are depreciated on their market value in existing use evenly over the estimated
remaining life of the asset as assessed by the Trust’s professional valuers. Leaseholds are depreciated over the
primary lease term.
Equipment is depreciated on current cost evenly over the estimated life.
Details of useful economic lives are as follows:
●
●
●
●
●

Buildings and dwellings have useful economic lives of between 8 and 47 years;
Plant & Machinery have useful economic lives of between 5 and 15 years;
Furniture & Fittings have useful economic lives of between 5 and 10 years;
IT Equipment items have useful economic lives of 5 years, except in the case of servers, which have useful
economic lives of 8 years; and
Transport equipment items have useful economic lives of between 5 and 7 years.
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1.7 Property, Plant and Equipment Continued
Revaluation gains and losses and impairment
Increases in asset values arising from revaluations are recognised in the revaluation reserve, except where, and
to the extent that, they reverse an impairment previously recognised in operating expenses, in which case they
are recognised in operating income.
Decreases in asset values and impairments are charged to the revaluation reserve to the extent that there is an
available balance for the asset concerned, and thereafter are charged to operating expenses.
Gains and losses recognised in the revaluation reserve are reported in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
as an item of 'other comprehensive income'.
In accordance with the FT ARM, impairments that arise from a clear consumption of economic benefits or service
potential in the asset are charged to operating expenses. A compensating transfer is made from the revaluation
reserve to the income and expenditure reserve of an amount equal to the lower of (i) the impairment charged to
operating expenses; and (ii) the balance in the revaluation reserve attributable to that asset before the
impairment.
An impairment that arises from a clear consumption of economic benefit or service potential is reversed when,
and to the extent that, the circumstances that gave rise to the loss are reversed. Reversals are recognised in
operating income to the extent that the asset is restored to the carrying amount it would have had if the
impairment had never been recognised. Any remaining reversal is recognised in the revaluation reserve.
Where, at the time of the original impairment, a transfer was made from the revaluation reserve to the income
and expenditure reserve, an amount is transferred back to the revaluation reserve when the impairment reversal
is recognised.
Other impairments are treated as revaluation losses. Reversals of 'other impairments' are treated as revaluation
gains.
De-recognition
Assets intended for disposal are reclassified as 'Held for Sale' once all of the following criteria are met:
●
The asset is available for immediate sale in its present condition subject only to terms which are usual and
customary for such sales;
●
The sale must be highly probable i.e.:
- management are committed to a plan to sell the asset;
- an active programme has begun to find a buyer and complete the sale;
- the asset is being actively marketed at a reasonable price;
- the sale is expected to be completed within 12 months of the date of classification as 'Held for Sale'; and
- the actions needed to complete the plan indicate it is unlikely that the plan will be dropped or significant
changes made to it.
Following reclassification, the assets are measured at the lower of their existing carrying amount and their 'fair
value less costs to sell'. Depreciation ceases to be charged and the assets are not revalued, except where the
'fair value less costs to sell' falls below the carrying amount. Assets are de-recognised when all material sale
contract conditions have been met.
Property, plant and equipment which is to be scrapped or demolished does not qualify for recognition as 'Held for
Sale', and instead, is retained as an operational asset and the asset's economic life is adjusted. The asset is derecognised when scrapping or demolition occurs.
The revaluation surplus included in equity in respect of an item of property, plant and equipment is transferred
directly to the income and expenditure reserve when the asset is disposed of.
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1.7 Property, Plant and Equipment Continued
Donated assets
Donated property, plant and equipment assets are capitalised at their fair value on receipt. The donation is credited
to income at the same time, unless the donor has imposed a condition that the future economic benefits embodied in
the grant are to be consumed in a manner specified by the donor, in which case, the donation is deferred within
liabilities and is carried forward to future financial years to the extent that the condition has not yet been met.
The donated assets are subsequently accounted for in the same manner as other items of property, plant and
equipment.
1.8 Intangible assets
Recognition
Intangible assets are assets without physical substance which are capable of being sold separately from the rest of
the Trust's business or which arise from contractual or other legal rights. They are recognised only where it is
probable that future economic benefits will flow to, or service potential be provided to, the Trust and where the cost of
the asset can be measured reliably, and where cost is at least £5,000.
Internally generated intangible assets
Expenditure on research is not capitalised.
Expenditure on development is capitalised only where all of the following can be demonstrated:
● the project is technically feasible to the point of completion and will result in an intangible asset for sale or use;
● the Trust intends to complete the asset and sell or use it;
● the Trust has the ability to sell or use the asset;
● how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic or service delivery benefits e.g. the presence of a
market for it or its output, or where it is to be used for internal use, the usefulness of the asset;
● adequate financial, technical and other resources are available to the Trust to complete the development and sell
or use the asset; and
● the Trust can measure reliably the expenses attributable to the asset during the development.
Software
Software which is integral to the operation of hardware e.g. an operating system, is capitalised as part of the relevant
item of Property, Plant and Equipment. Software which is not integral to the operation of hardware e.g. application
software, is capitalised as an intangible asset.
Measurement
Intangible assets are recognised initially at cost, comprising all directly attributable costs needed to create, produce
and prepare the asset to the point that it is capable of operating in the manner intended by management.
Subsequently, intangible assets are measured at current value in existing use. Where no active market exists,
intangible assets are valued at the lower of depreciated replacement cost and the value in use where the asset is
income generating. Revaluations gains and losses and impairments are treated in the sale manner as for property,
plant and equipment. An intangible asset which is surplus with no plan to bring it back into use is valued at fair value
under IFRS13, if it does not meet the requirements of IAS 40 of IRFS 5.
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1.8 Intangible assets continued
Measurement continued
Intangible assets held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying amount or 'fair value less costs to sell'.
Amortisation
Intangible assets are amortised over their expected useful economic lives in a manner consistent with the
consumption of economic or service delivery benefits.
1.9 Fixed Asset Investments
The Trust is the Corporate Trustee to Dorset HealthCare Charitable Fund. The Trust has assessed its
relationship to the charitable fund and determined it to be a subsidiary because the Trust is exposed to, or has
right to, variable returns and other benefits for itself, patients and staff from its involvement with the charitable
fund and has the ability to affect those returns and other benefits through its power over the fund.
Normally such a relationship would require the accounts of the subsidiary to be consolidated by the Trust where
material. The Dorset HealthCare Charitable Fund is not sufficiently large to materially affect the results of the
Trust and the Trust has therefore not consolidated the charity accounts.
1.10 Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value using the First In, First Out method.
1.11 Cash and cash equivalents
Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without penalty on notice of not more
than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition
and that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value.
1.12 Cash, bank and overdrafts
Cash, bank and overdraft balances are recorded at the current values of these balances in the Trust's cash
book. These balances exclude monies held in the Trust's bank account belonging to patients (see “third party
assets" on Notes 1.20 and 23.2). Account balances are only set off where a formal agreement has been made
with the bank to do so. In all other cases overdrafts are disclosed within creditors. Interest earned on bank
accounts and interest charged on overdrafts are recorded as, “Finance income” and “Finance expense - financial
liabilities” respectively in the periods to which they relate. Bank charges are recorded as operating expenditure in
the periods to which they relate.
The Trust does not have an overdrawn balance at the 31 March 2016.
1.13 Financial Instruments and Financial Liabilities
Recognition
Financial assets and financial liabilities which arise from contracts for the purchase or sale of non-financial items
(such as goods or services), which are entered into in accordance with the Trust's normal purchase, sale or
usage requirements, are recognised when, and to the extent which, performance occurs i.e. when receipt or
delivery of the goods or services is made.
Financial assets or financial liabilities in respect of assets acquired or disposed of through finance leases are
recognised and measured in accordance with the accounting policy for leases described in the next section
under 'Leases'.
All other financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when the Trust becomes a party to the
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Page A12

Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust - Annual Accounts 2015/16
1.13 Financial Instruments and Financial Liabilities Continued
De-recognition
All financial assets are de-recognised when the rights to receive cashflows from the assets have expired or the
Trust has transferred substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership.
Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expired.
Classification and measurement
Financial assets are categorised as 'Loans and receivables'.
Financial liabilities are classified as 'Other Financial Liabilities'.
Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments which are not
quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets.
The Trust's loans and receivables comprise: current investments, cash and cash equivalents, NHS receivables,
accrued income and other receivables.
Loans and receivables are recognised initially at fair value, net of transactions costs incurred, and measured
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The effective interest rate is the rate that
discounts exactly estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial asset or, when
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.
Interest on loans and receivables is calculated using the effective interest method and credited to the Statement
of Comprehensive Income.
Other financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred, and measured
subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method except for loans from the Department of
Health, which are carried at historic costs. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts exactly estimated
future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to
the net carrying amount of the financial liability.
They are included in current liabilities except for amounts payable more than 12 months after the Statement of
Financial Position date, which are classified as non-current liabilities.
Interest on financial liabilities carried at amortised cost is calculated using the effective interest method and
charged to Finance Costs. Interest on financial liabilities taken out to finance property, plant and equipment or
intangible assets is not capitalised as part of the cost of those assets.
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1.13 Financial Instruments and Financial Liabilities Continued
Impairment of financial assets
At the Statement of Financial Position date, the trust assesses whether any financial assets, other than those
held at “fair value through income and expenditure” are impaired. Financial assets are impaired and impairment
losses are recognised if, and only if, there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events
which occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and which has an impact on the estimated future cash
flows of the asset.
For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of the revised future cash flows discounted at the
asset’s original effective interest rate. The loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account/bad debt provision.
1.14 Leases
Finance leases
Where substantially all risks and rewards of ownership of a leased asset are borne by the Trust, the asset is
recorded as Property, Plant and Equipment and a corresponding liability is recorded. The value at which both
are recognised is the lower of the fair value of the asset or the present value of the minimum lease payments,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. The implicit interest rate is that which produces a constant
periodic rate of interest on the outstanding liability.
The asset and liability are recognised at the inception of the lease, and are de-recognised when the liability is
discharged, cancelled or expired. The annual rental is split between the repayment of the liability and a finance
cost. The annual finance cost is calculated by applying the implicit interest rate to the outstanding liability and is
charged to 'Finance expense - financial liabilities' in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
Operating leases
Other leases are regarded as operating leases and the rentals are charged to operating expenses on a straightline basis over the term of the lease. Operating lease incentives received are added to the lease rentals and
charged to operating expenses over the life of the lease.
Leases of land and buildings
Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land component is separated from the building component and the
classification for each is assessed separately.
1.15 Provisions
The Trust provides for legal or constructive obligations that are of uncertain timing or amount for which it is
probable that there will be a future outflow of cash or other resources at the Statement of Financial Position date
on the basis of the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation. Where the effect of the time
value of money is significant, the estimated risk-adjusted cash flows are discounted using the discount rates
published and mandated by HM Treasury. Provisions for pensions payable are discounted at 1.37% (2014/15
1.3%).
Clinical negligence costs
The NHS Litigation Authority (NHSLA) operates a risk pooling scheme under which the Trust pays an annual
contribution to the NHSLA, which, in return, settles all clinical negligence claims. Although the NHSLA is
administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal liability remains with the Trust. The total
value of clinical negligence provisions carried by the NHSLA on behalf of the Trust is disclosed at Note 21, but is
not recognised in the Trust's accounts.
The NHSLA also operated a third party liability scheme that the Trust participates in. Liability is limited to £10k
per claim under this scheme.
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1.15 Provisions Continued
Non-clinical risk pooling
The Trust participates in the Property Expenses Scheme and the Liabilities to Third Parties Scheme. Both are risk
pooling schemes under which the Trust pays an annual contribution to the NHS Litigation Authority and in return
receives assistance with the costs of claims arising. The annual membership contributions, and any ‘excesses’
payable in respect of particular claims are charged to operating expenses when the liability arises.
1.16 Contingencies
Contingent assets (that is, assets arising from past events whose existence will only be confirmed by one or more
future events not wholly within the entity’s control) are not recognised as assets, but are disclosed in Note 25
where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.
Contingent liabilities are not recognised, but are disclosed in Note 25 unless the probability of a transfer of
economic benefits is remote. Contingent liabilities are defined as:
●

Possible obligations arising from past events, whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence of
one or more uncertain future events not wholly within the entity’s control; or

●

Present obligations arising from past events but for which it is not probable that a transfer of economic
benefits will arise or for which the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.

1.17 Public Dividend Capital (PDC) and PDC Dividend
Public dividend capital (PDC) is a type of public sector equity finance based on the excess of assets over liabilities
at the time of the establishment of the predecessor NHS trust. HM Treasury has determined that PDC is not a
financial instrument within the meaning of IAS 32.
A charge, reflecting the forecast cost of capital utilised by the Trust, is payable as public dividend capital dividend.
The charge is calculated at the rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average relevant net assets of the
Trust during the financial year. Relevant net assets are calculated as the value of all assets less the value of all
liabilities, except for (i) donated assets, (ii) average daily cash balances held with the Government Banking
Service and National Loans Fund deposits, and (iii) any PDC dividend balance receivable or payable. In
accordance with the requirements laid down by the Department of Health (as the issuer of PDC), the dividend for
the year is calculated on the actual average relevant net assets as set out in the 'pre-audit' version of the annual
accounts. The dividend thus calculated is not revised should any adjustment to net assets occur as a result of the
audit of the annual accounts.
1.18 Value Added Tax
Most of the activities of the Trust are outside the scope of VAT and, in general, output tax does not apply and input
tax on purchases is not recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or
included in the capitalised purchase cost of non-current assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is
recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT.
1.19 Corporation Tax
The Trust has no corporation tax liability at present.
A consultation on revised legislation for Corporation Tax as applicable to Foundation Trust Status is
awaited from HM Revenue and Customs.
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1.20 Third Party Assets
Assets belonging to third parties (such as money held on behalf of patients) are not recognised in the accounts
since the Trust has no beneficial interest in them. However, they are disclosed in a separate note to the accounts
in accordance with the requirements of the HM Treasury Financial Reporting Manual. See Note 23.2.
1.21 Losses and Special Payments
Losses and Special Payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated when it agreed funds for the
health service or passed legislation. By their nature they are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore
subject to special control procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different
categories, which govern the way individual cases are handled.
Losses and Special Payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in the Income and Expenditure
Account on an accruals basis, including losses which would have been made good through insurance cover had
the Trust not been bearing their own risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue
expenditure). Note 30 is compiled directly from the losses and compensations register which is prepared on an
accruals basis with the exception of provisions for future losses.
1.22 Accounting standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted
IFRS 11 - (amendment) - acquisition of an interest in a joint operation
This standard has been amended to clarify the treatment of an acquisition of an interest in a joint operation when
the operation constitutes a business, this was not previously detailed within IFRS 11.
The amendment states that all such acquisitions that meet the definition detailed in IFRS 3 Business Combinations
are required to apply all the principles in IFRS 3 and other IFRSs with the exception of those principles that conflict
with the guidance in IFRS 11.
The amendment applies to new formations, with the exception of those that are forming the business at the same
time, and all existing joint operations of a business.
The Trust does not having any existing joint operations nor has there been a formation of such an acquisition in
the year. Given this there will be no effect on the accounts when this standard is adopted unless such businesses
are formed in the future.
IAS 16 (amendment) and IAS 38 (amendment) - depreciation and amortisation
Both standards have been amended to clarify when a revenue-based amortisation/depreciation method is
acceptable.
The Trust does not use any revenue-based amorisation/depreciation method for either property, plant and
equipment or intangibles assets as such there will be no effect on the Trust when this standard is adopted.
IAS 16 (amendment) and IAS 41 (amendment) - bearer plants
The standards now include the definition of a 'bearer plant.' Entities with such assets are now able to measure
them at cost subsequent to initial recognition or at revaluation.
As the Trust does not hold such biological assets there will be no effect on the accounts.
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1.22 Accounting standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted continued
IAS 27 (amendment) - equity method in separate financial statements
The amendment reinstates the equity method as an accounting option for investments in subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates in an entity's separate financial statements.
The Trust does not have any investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates and as a result there will
be no impact the the Trust.
IFRS 10 (amendment) and IAS 28 (amendment) - sale or contribution of assets
The amendment clarifies the treatment of gain/loss recognition with transations involving an associate or joint
venture.
As the Trust does not hold any associates or joint ventures, there will be no effect on the Trust.
IFRS 10 (amendment) and IAS 28 (amendment) - investment entities applying the consolidation exception
The amendment clarifies a number of standards relating to the format of preparing and disclosing aspects of a
subsidiary.
As the Trust is not the parent of a subsidiary or any other investment entity then there will be no effect on the
Trust.

IAS 1 (amendment) - disclosure initiative
Amendments to this standard have been made to clarify when disclosures should be included and if they can be
aggregated/disaggregated. The aim of this amendment is to address perceived impediments to preparers
exercising their judgement in presenting their financial reports.
It is anticipated that additional disclosures will be required in instances where information is material. In general
the Trust discloses all such material transactions.
IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with customers
IFRS 15 establishes principles for reporting useful information to users of financial statements about the nature,
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity's contracts with customers.
It is anticipated that additional disclosures around contracts will need to be made including performance related
income contracts with the commissioners. However, no significant impact upon actual revenue recognition is
expected.
Depending on the type of arrangements entered into in the future, assets and / or impairment losses may be
recognised and disclosed.
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
IFRS 9 reduced the number of classification categories and provided a clearer rationale for measuring financial
assets. It also applied a single impairment method to all financial assets not measured at fair value and aligned
the measurement attributes of financial assets with the way the entity manages its financial assets and their
contractual cash flow characteristics. There is also guidance included for when a part of a financial asset could
be considered for derecognition. The derecognition principles should be applied to a part of a financial asset only
if that part contained no risks and rewards relating to the part not being considered for derecognition.
The financial assets of the Trust are already aligned with the way the Trust manages its financial assets and the
contractual cash flow characteristics. Therefore no impact is expected for the application of IFRS 9 to financial
assets. In addition, the Trust does not have any financial liabilities held at fair value, so again, no impact is
expected for the application of IFRS 9 to financial liabilities.
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1.22 Accounting standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted continued
Annual Improvements 2012-15
These standards have not yet been endorsed by the EU, and therefore HM Treasury Policy is not
available for NHS Bodies to apply.
1.23 Accounting standards issued that have been adopted early
There are no accounting standards issued that have been adopted early.
1.24 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty
In the application of the Trust's accounting policies, management is required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from those
estimates, and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually reviewed.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects
both current and future periods.
Key sources of estimation uncertainty
Only key sources of estimation uncertainty that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are disclosed as follows:
Contingencies
Advice from the senior executive team is taken when reporting contingencies. In addition, advice from
relevant professionals external to the Trust is taken e.g. when determining whether to make a provision
for a liability or whether to disclose as a contingency. However, the nature of contingencies is such that
uncertainty is inherent.
Valuation of land and buildings and useful economic lives thereon
Professional valuations are obtained from the District Valuer. This includes an assessment of useful
economic lives for each building. We rely upon this professional advice. If there are errors included, this
would affect the value of property, plant and equipment, revaluation reserve and possibly the deficit stated
in the Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year as reported in the accounts.
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2.1 Operating Income from continuing operations
Income from Activities

2015/16
£000

2014/15
£000

Total income from activities

241,283

235,578

Total income from activities

241,283

235,578

178
3,464
12
124
479
3,503
1,854
488
76
619
548

152
3,995
12
624
2,779
2,305
134
35
224
163

11,345

10,423

Total operating income

252,628

246,001

2.2 Income from Activities arising from Commissioner Requested Services

2015/16
£000

2014/15
£000

Income from activities arising from Commissioner Requested Services
All other services

241,282
11,346

235,575
10,426

252,628

246,001

2015/16
£000

2014/15
£000

Operating Lease Income
Rental revenue from operating leases - minimum lease receipts

548

163

Total

548

163

Future minimum lease payments due on leases of buildings expiring:
- not later than one year;
- later than one year and not later than five years;
- later than five years.

175
778
330

60
780

1,283

840

Other Operating Income
Research and development
Education and training
Received from NHS charities: Other charitable and other contributions to expenditure
Received from other bodies: Donation of physical assets (non-cash)
Received from other bodies: Receipt of grants/donations for capital acquisitions - Grant
Non-patient care services to other bodies
Other
Profit on disposal of land and buildings
Profit on disposal of other tangible non-current assets
Reversal of impairments of property, plant & equipment
Rental revenue from operating leases - minimum lease receipts
Total other operating income

2.3 Operating Lease Income

Total
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2.4 Operating Income from continuing operations
Income from Activities

2015/16
£000

2014/15
£000

NHS Foundation Trusts
NHS Trusts
CCGs and NHS England
Local Authorities
Department of Health - other
NHS Other
Non NHS:
- Private patients
NHS injury scheme
Non NHS: Other

511
15
226,691
12,737
73

2,202
85
223,894
8,244
4
1

1
63
1,192

3
101
1,044

Total income from activities

241,283

235,578

Analysis of Other Operating Income: Other

2015/16
£000

2014/15
£000

20
186
77
1,571

26
34
171
72
2,002

1,854

2,305

Car parking
Pharmacy sales
Catering
Property rentals
Other
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2.5 Segmental Analysis
The Trust has four reportable segments based on locality: Bournemouth & Christchurch, Dorset, Poole & East Dorset and Other.
As this model of care provision is designed to deliver an integrated pathway of care to our patients each locality has a combination of the following services;
·
·

Mental Health
o Community Mental Health Teams
Physical Health
o District Nurses
o Health Visitors
o Intermediate Care Teams
o Community Rehabilitation Teams

Each Locality then has a small number of specialist services, which may deliver care across the county, but are contained within a specific locality for the management of those services.
Bournemouth & Christchurch locality has Crisis Teams, Mental Health Inpatient Wards, Psych Liaison Services, Community Learning Disability Teams and Sexual Health Services.
Dorset locality has the remaining Community Hospitals, Prison Healthcare, Addictions and Forensic Services.
Poole & East Dorset locality has our Steps to Wellbeing service, Musculo-Skeletal service and Eating Disorders. Poole also has two Community Hospitals, Wimborne and St Leonards,
delivering the following types of care; elderly care inpatients, rehabilitation, outpatient appointments, theatre, therapy services, radiology and minor injury services.

Year ended 31 March 2016

Bournemouth &
Christchurch

Dorset

Poole & East
Dorset

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

Revenues from external customers

78,521

95,817

78,290

252,628

Reportable segment (deficit)/surplus

(2,944)

(1,505)

2,546

(1,903)

557

62

(1,065)

(134)

Reversal of impairments included above:
Impairments included above:

619
-

(1,199)

Segmental Analysis - reconciliation of segments to statement of comprehensive income
Revenues
Total revenues for reportable segments
Entity's revenues

£000
252,628
252,628

Deficit
Total deficit for reportable segments
Income before corporation tax expense

(1,903)
(1,903)
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2.5 Segmental Analysis Continued
The Trust was restructured from 1/10/2014 into three localities to better serve the people of Dorset. This resulted in a change to the Reporting Segments.
Previously there were seven; Mental Health Inpatients, Mental Health Community Services, Community Hospitals, Community Services, Prisons, Commissioned Care and Other.
This has now become four based on locality; Bournemouth & Christchurch, Dorset, Poole & East Dorset and Other.
As this model of care provision is designed to deliver an integrated pathway of care to our patients each locality has a combination of the following services;
·
·

Mental Health
o Community Mental Health Teams
Physical Health
o District Nurses
o Health Visitors
o Intermediate Care Teams
o Community Rehabilitation Teams

Each Locality then has a small number of specialist services, which may deliver care across the county, but are contained within a specific locality for the management of those services.
Bournemouth & Christchurch locality has Crisis Teams, Mental Health Inpatient Wards, Psych Liaison Services, Community Learning Disability Teams and Sexual Health Services.
Dorset locality has the remaining Community Hospitals, Prison Healthcare, Addictions and Forensic Services.
Poole & East Dorset locality has our Steps to Wellbeing service, Musculo-Skeletal service and Eating Disorders. Poole also has two Community Hospitals, Wimborne and St Leonards, delivering the
following types of care; elderly care inpatients, rehabilitation, outpatient appointments, theatre, therapy services, radiology and minor injury services.

Year ended 31 March 2015
Bournemouth &
Christchurch

Dorset

Poole & East
Dorset

Total

£000

£000

£000

£000

Revenues from external customers

74,179

89,255

82,567

246,001

Reportable segment (deficit)/surplus

(1,575)

310

(282)

(1,547)

195

5

24

224

(387)

(319)

(474)

(1,180)

Reversal of impairments included above:
Impairments included above:

Revenues
Total revenues for reportable segments
Entity's revenues

£000
246,001
246,001

Deficit
Total deficit for reportable segments
Income before corporation tax expense

(1,547)
(1,547)
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3. Operating Expenses from Continuing Operations
3.1 Operating Expenses

Services from NHS Foundation Trusts
Services from NHS Trusts
Services from CCGs and NHS England
Services from other NHS bodies
Purchase of healthcare from non NHS bodies
Purchase of social care (under s.75 or other integrated care arrangements)
Employee Expenses - Executive Directors
Employee Expenses - Non-Executive Directors
Employee Expenses - Staff
Supplies and services - clinical (excluding drug costs)
Supplies and services - general
Establishment
Transport (Business travel only)
Transport (other)
Premises - Business rates payable to Local Authorities
Premises - Other
Increase / (decrease) in provision for impairment of receivables
Increase in other provisions
Change in provisions discount rate(s)
Inventories written down (net, including inventory drugs)
Drug costs (non inventory drugs only)
Inventories consumed (excluding drugs)
Drugs Inventories consumed
Rentals under operating leases - minimum lease payments
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
Amortisation on intangible assets
Impairments of property, plant and equipment
Audit fees:
audit services - statutory audit
other auditor remuneration
Clinical negligence
Loss on disposal of other property, plant and equipment
Legal fees
Consultancy costs
Internal audit costs - (not included in employee expenses)
Internal audit costs and LCFS - (included in employee expenses)
Training, courses and conferences
Patient travel
Car parking & Security
Redundancy - (Not included in employee expenses)
Hospitality
Insurance
Other services
Losses, ex gratia & special payments- (Not included in employee expenses)
Other

Of Which
Related to Continuing Operations
Related to Discontinued Operations

2015/16

2014/15

£000

£000

3,672
18
1
3
10,641
195
1,516
162
181,030
9,027
4,535
2,866
2,715
612
989
7,220
191
11
(9)
1,807
601
2,247
4,710
7,484
49
1,199

3,532
1
29
3
8,732
159
1,443
140
174,293
10,066
4,524
2,794
3,044
632
1,125
6,821
(3)
126
63
25
1,486
1,228
2,311
5,282
6,827
41
1,180

74
12
352
91
276
622
137
165
1,436
1,016
146
427
64
118
490
23
990

87
105
346
52
433
776
136
147
1,362
1,118
165
1,724
67
95
344
23
471

249,931

243,355

249,931
-

243,355
-

3.2 Limitations of Auditors' Liability
The Trust's contract with its auditor has a specified limitation of the auditors' liability of £5m (2014/15 £5m).
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3.3 Arrangements containing an Operating Lease
Leases entered into by the Trust are generally for rent of equipment or premises. There are no special conditions attached to the leases.
2015/16
£000

2014/15
£000

Minimum lease payments
Contingent rents
Less sublease payments received

4,710
-

5,282
-

Total

4,710

5,282

2015/16
£000

2014/15
£000

Buildings

2015/16
£000
Plant &
Machinery

Other

750
2,165
2,232

38
4
-

5,147

42

3.4 Arrangements containing an Operating Lease
2015/16
£000
Future minimum lease payments due:
- not later than one year
- later than one year and not later than five years
- later than five years

2014/15
£000

Buildings

2014/15
£000
Plant &
Machinery

721
523
-

82
-

49
14
-

876
1,140
-

1,244

82

63

2,016

Other

The increase in future minimum lease payments for buildings due reflects the increase in signed contracts that have been put place during 2015/16.
These contracts are the formalisation of the previous arrangements which included properties with expired leases.

Total of future minimum sublease lease payments
to be received at the statement of financial position
dates

2015/16
£000

2014/15
£000

-

-

2015/16
£000

2014/15
£000

12
-

14
91

12

105

3.5 Other Audit Remuneration

Other auditors remuneration paid to the external auditors is analysed as follows:
2. Audit-related assurance services
3. Taxation compliance services
4. All taxation advisory services not falling within item 3 above;
5. internal audit services (only those payable to the external auditors)
6. All assurance services not falling within items 1 to 5
7. Corporate finance transaction services not falling within items 1 to 6 above
8. All other non-audit services not falling within items 2 to 7 above

4. Employee Expenses and Numbers
4.1 Employee Expenses

2015/16
£000
Total

2015/16
£000
Permanent

2015/16
£000
Other

2014/15
£000
Total

2014/15
£000
Permanent

2014/15
£000
Other

Salaries and wages
Social Security Costs
Pension costs - defined contribution plans
Employers contributions to NHS Pensions
Agency/contract staff

143,396
9,300

137,403
8,724

5,993
576

138,106
9,204

129,437
8,622

8,669
582

18,092
11,993

17,415
-

677
11,993

17,209
11,414

16,523
-

686
11,414

Total Staff Costs
of which
Costs capitalised as part of assets
Analysed into Operating Expenditure
Employee Expenses - Staff
Employee Expenses - Executive directors
Internal audit costs
Total Employee benefits excl. capitalised costs

182,781

163,542

19,239

175,933

154,582

21,351

70

70

-

50

50

-

181,030
1,516
165
182,711

161,791
1,516
165
163,472

19,239
19,239

174,293
1,443
147
175,883

152,942
1,443
147
154,532

21,351
21,351

The employer pension contributions above are the Trust's total employer pension contributions.
See also Note 1.5 for more information on pension costs.
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4.2 Average monthly number of employees
(whole time equivalent basis)
Medical and dental
Ambulance staff
Administration and estates
Healthcare assistants and other support staff
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting staff
Nursing, midwifery and health visiting learners
Scientific, therapeutic and technical staff
Healthcare science staff
Agency and contract staff
Bank staff
Total average numbers
of which
Number of Employees (WTE) engaged on capital
projects

2015/16
Number
Total
108
2
997
316
2,355
34
679
18
166
300

2015/16
Number
Permanent
108
2
997
316
2,355
34
679
18
-

2015/16
Number
Other
166
300

2014/15
Number
Total
112
2
929
302
2,266
45
668
16
147
304

2014/15
Number
Permanent
112
2
929
302
2,266
45
668
16
-

2014/15
Number
Other
147
304

4,975

4,509

466

4,791

4,340

451

1

1

-

1

1

-

4.3 Employee benefits
Other than the employee expenses shown in note 4.1 the Trust has no other employee benefits in 2015/16 or 2014/15.
4.4 Early retirements due to ill-health
During 2015/16, there were 9 (12 in 2014/15) early retirements from the Trust on the grounds of ill-health. The estimated additional pension liabilities of
these ill-health retirements will be £329k (£730k in 2014/15) as notified by the NHS Business Services Authority - Pensions Division. The cost of these
ill-health retirements will be borne by the NHS Business Services Authority - Pensions Division.
4.5 Directors' remuneration and other benefits

Directors' remuneration
Employer pension contributions

2015/16
£000
1,368
148
1,516

2014/15
£000
1,293
150
1,443

The number of directors to whom benefits have accrued under defined benefit schemes is 10 (2014/15: 12).
No director has received any advance or benefited from any guarantee in their favour during either the current or the prior year.
The highest paid director received remuneration of £182k (2014/15 £211k) and employer pension contributions were paid on their behalf of £24k
(2014/15 £27k).
4.6 Exit packages
A charge of £427k (2014/15 £1,769k charge) has been recognised in the accounts in exit packages during 2015/16. The exit packages have most
significantly been incurred in respect of the transfer of one service to another NHS body and cessation of another service. Details of the number of exit
packages by cost band are provided in the table below.

Exit Package Cost Band
£1 - £10,000
£10,001 - £25,000
£25,001 - £50,000
£50,001 - £100,000
£100,001 - £150,000
£150,001 - £200,000
Total Number of Exit Packages by Type
Total Resource Cost £'000

Number of Compulsory
Redundancies
2015/16
2014/15
5
6
4
4
4
4
6
5
1
1
14
26
377
1,643
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Number of Other Departures
Agreed
2015/16
2014/15
1
2
1
1
1
1
5
50
126

Total Number of Exit
Packages by Cost Band
2015/16
2014/15
5
7
4
6
4
5
1
7
5
1
1
15
31
427
1,769
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4.6 Exit Packages Continued

Note 4.6 Exit packages: other (non-compulsory)
departure payments - 2015/16

2015/16
2014/15
Payments Total value of Payments Total value
Agreed
agreements
Agreed
of
Number
£000
Number
£000

Voluntary redundancies including early retirement
contractual costs

-

-

-

-

Contractual payments in lieu of notice

1

50

2

82

Non-contractual payments requiring Her Majesty's
Treasury approval
Total

1

50

4
6

44
126

Of which:
non-contractual payments, requiring HMT approval,
made to individuals where the payment value was more
than 12 months of their annual salary

-

-

-

-

Maximum special severance payment: 0
Minimum special severance payment: 0
Median special severance payment: 0
4.7 Pension Costs
Pension Costs
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions Scheme. The scheme is an
unfunded, defined benefit scheme that covers NHS employers, GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the
direction of the Secretary of State, in England and Wales.It is not possible for the NHS foundation trust to identify
its share of the underlying scheme liabilities. Therefore, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined
contribution scheme. Employer's pension cost contributions are charged to operating expenses as and when
they become due.
Additional pension liabilities arising from early retirements are not funded by the scheme except where the
retirement is due to ill-health. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the operating
expenses at the time the trust commits itself to the retirement, regardless of the method of payment.
In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the accounts do not differ materially from those that
would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM requires that “the period
between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments in intervening years”. An outline of
these follows:
a) Accounting Valuation
A valuation of the scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary as at the end of the reporting
period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated
membership and financial data for the current reporting period, and are accepted as providing suitably robust
figures for financial reporting purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2016, is based on
valuation data as 31 March 2015, updated to 31 March 2016 with summary global member and accounting data.
In undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM interpretations,
and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used.
The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the scheme actuary report, which forms part
of the annual NHS Pension Scheme (England and Wales) Pension Accounts, published annually. These
accounts can be viewed on the NHS Pensions website. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery Office.
b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the scheme
(taking into account its recent demographic experience), and to recommend the contribution rates.
The last published actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed for the year
ending 31 March 2012.
Page A26

Dorset HealthCare University NHS Foundation Trust - Annual Accounts 2015/16
4.7 Pension Costs Continued
b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation continued
The Scheme Regulations allow contribution rates to be set by the Secretary of State for Health, with the
consent of HM Treasury, and consideration of the advice of the Scheme Actuary and appropriate employee
and employer representatives as deemed appropriate.
c) Scheme provisions
The NHS Pension Scheme provided defined benefits, which are summarised below. This list is an illustrative
guide only, and is not intended to detail all the benefits provided by the Scheme or the specific conditions that
must be met before these benefits can be obtained:
The Scheme is a “final salary” scheme. Annual pensions are normally based on 1/80th for the 1995 section
and of the best of the last three years pensionable pay for each year of service, and 1/60th for the 2008
section of reckonable pay per year of membership. Members who are practitioners as defined by the Scheme
Regulations have their annual pensions based upon total pensionable earnings over the relevant pensionable
service.
With effect from 1 April 2008 members can choose to give up some of their annual pension for an additional
tax free lump sum, up to a maximum amount permitted under HMRC rules. This new provision is known as
“pension commutation”.
Annual increases are applied to pension payments at rates defined by the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971, and
are based on changes in retail prices in the twelve months ending 30 September in the previous calendar
year. From 2011-12 the Consumer Price Index (CPI) has been used and replaced the Retail Prices Index
(RPI).
Early payment of a pension, with enhancement, is available to members of the scheme who are permanently
incapable of fulfilling their duties effectively through illness or infirmity. A death gratuity of twice final year’s
pensionable pay for death in service, and five times their annual pension for death after retirement is payable.
For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities are not funded by the
scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is charged to the employer.
Members can purchase additional service in the NHS Scheme and contribute to money purchase AVC’s run
by the Scheme’s approved providers or by other Free Standing Additional Voluntary Contributions (FSAVC)
providers.
The Trust does not have employees who are members of other defined benefit schemes.
The estimated employer contributions to the NHS Pension Scheme for 2016/17 are £18,279k.
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5.1 Finance Income

2015/16
£000

2014/15
£000

Interest on bank accounts

118

133

Total

118

133

2015/16
£000

2014/15
£000

Capital loans fron the Dept of Health
Finance leases
Interest on late payment of commercial debt
Other

1
7
-

32
2
3
(10)

Total

8

27

2015/16
£000

2014/15
£000

1,199
(619)

480
700
(224)

580

956

2015/16
£000

2014/15
£000

488
76
(91)

134
35
(52)

473

117

5.2 Finance costs - financial liabilities

6.1 Impairment of Assets (PPE & Intangibles)

Other
Changes in market price
Reversals of impairments
Total impairments

6.2 Profit on Disposal of Non-Current Assets
Profit on the disposal of non-current assets is made up as follows:

Profit on disposal of land and buildings
Profits on disposal of other non-current assets
Loss on disposal of other non-current assets

In addition to a diposal last year, the disposal of land and buildings was a building that was
formerly used for Learning Disabilities. This has been held as an Asset Held for Sale since
the Learning Disabilities Campus Reprovision made this property no longer required for
Commissioner Requested Services.
The other non-current assets disposed in 2015/16 and 2014/15 are in respect of plant and
machinery, information technology and furniture and fittings, which are not Commissioner
Requested Service assets.
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7.1 Intangible Assets 2015/16
Software
licences
£000
Gross cost at 1 April 2015
Reclassifications
Additions donated
Gross cost at 31 March 2016

207
(12)
99
294

Amortisation at 1 April 2015
Provided during the year
Amortisation at 31 March 2016

100
49
149

Net book value
NBV - Purchased at 1 April 2015
NBV - Donated at 1 April 2015
NBV - Total at 1 April 2015

107
107

NBV - Purchased at 31 March 2016
NBV - Donated at 31 March 2016
NBV - Total at 31 March 2016

56
89
145
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7.2 Intangible Assets 2014/15
Software
licences
£000
Gross cost at 1 April 2014 as previously stated
Gross cost at 31 March 2015

207
207

Amortisation at 1 April 2014
Provided during the year
Amortisation at 31 March 2015

59
41
100

Net book value
NBV - Purchased at 1 April 2014
NBV - Donated at 1 April 2014
NBV - Total at 1 April 2014

148
148

NBV - Purchased at 31 March 2015
NBV - Donated at 31 March 2015
NBV - Total at 31 March 2015

107
107

7.3 Intangible Assets acquired by Government Grant
The Trust had no intangible assets acquired by government grant in either 2015/16 or
2014/15.
7.4 Economic Life of Intangible Assets
The economic life of purchased software is between 5 and 7 years.
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8. Property, Plant and Equipment
8.1

Property, Plant and Equipment 2015/16
Land

Buildings Dwellings
excluding
Dwellings

Plant and
Machinery

Transport
Equipment

Information
Technology

Furniture
& Fittings

Total

Valuation/Gross Cost at 1 April 2015
Additions - purchased
Additions - donations of physical assets (non-cash)
Additions - grants/donations of cash to purchase assets
Impairments charged to operating expenses
Impairments charged to the revaluation reserve
Reversal of impairments credited to operating income
Reclassifications
Revaluations
Transfers to/from assets held for sale and assets in disposal groups
Disposals
Valuation/Gross Cost at 31 March 2016

£000
41,283
(310)
2,410
(125)
43,258

£000
105,487
7,204
311
(1,199)
(3,549)
619
3,156
(200)
(58)
111,771

£000
666
(5)
661

£000
8,321
835
167
12
(595)
8,740

£000
669
204
25
898

£000
6,905
980
(13)
7,872

£000
2,098
101
(32)
2,167

£000
165,429
9,324
25
478
(1,199)
(3,859)
619
12
5,561
(325)
(698)
175,367

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2015 as previously stated
Provided during the year
Revaluations
Transfers to/from assets held for sale and assets in disposal groups
Disposals
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2016

-

4,593
4,941
(4,719)
(38)
(50)
4,727

9
38
(38)
9

5,101
873
(379)
5,595

396
92
488

2,106
1,293
(10)
3,389

1,291
247
(28)
1,510

13,496
7,484
(4,757)
(38)
(467)
15,718

Net book value
NBV - Owned at 1 April 2015
NBV - Finance Lease at 1 April 2015
NBV - Donated at 1 April 2015
NBV Total at 1 April 2015

41,283
41,283

91,451
2,597
6,846
100,894

657
657

2,827
10
383
3,220

261
12
273

4,773
26
4,799

790
17
807

142,042
2,607
7,284
151,933

NBV - Owned at 31 March 2016
NBV - Finance Lease at 31 March 2016
NBV - Donated at 31 March 2016
NBV Total at 31 March 2016

43,258
43,258

97,400
2,758
6,886
107,044

652
652

2,765
1
379
3,145

379
31
410

4,470
13
4,483

648
9
657

149,572
2,759
7,318
159,649
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8. Property, Plant and Equipment Continued
8.1

Property, Plant and Equipment 2015/16

Land, buildings excluding dwellings, and dwellings have been revalued as at 31 March 2016 using the
valuation as at 31 January 2016 as an approximation for the year end value. This valuation was carried out
by the District Valuers (independent, professionally qualified valuers) from the Valuation Office Agency, which
is an executive agency of HM Revenue and Customs. The valuations were carried out in accordance with the
Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors' Appraisal and Valuation Standards, in so far as these terms are
consistent with the currently applicable and agreed requirements of HM Treasury and the Trust Regulator,
Monitor. In carrying out these valuations, Modern Equivalent Asset basis was used. In arriving at the
valuation, the District Valuer considered alternative sites, and values for alternative sites were used where
appropriate.
The additions to donated assets in the year are disclosed at market value in existing use and there are no
restrictions on use.
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8. Property, Plant and Equipment continued
8.2

Property, Plant and Equipment 2014/15
Land

Buildings
excluding
Dwellings

Dwellings

Plant and
Machinery

Transport
Equipment

Information
Technology

Furniture &
Fittings

Total

Valuation/Gross Cost at 1 April 2014
Additions - purchased
Additions - grants/donations of cash to purchase assets
Impairments charged to operating expenses
Impairments charged to the revaluation reserve
Reversal of impairments credited to operating income
Reclassifications
Revaluations

£000
40,739
(349)
(1,191)
1
1,933

£000
102,766
6,270
436
(700)
(7,083)
224
3,438

£000
670
(15)
11

£000
7,201
1,084
175
(1)
-

£000
539
179
-

£000
5,558
1,750
13
(1)
-

£000
2,038
96
1
-

£000
159,511
9,379
624
(1,049)
(8,289)
224
5,382

Transfers to/from assets held for sale and assets in disposal groups
Disposals
Valuation/Gross Cost at 31 March 2015

150
41,283

139
(3)
105,487

666

(138)
8,321

(49)
669

(415)
6,905

(37)
2,098

289
(642)
165,429

-

4,080
4,641
131
(4,259)
4,593

6
38
(35)
9

4,395
801
(95)
5,101

394
43
(41)
396

1,384
1,044
(322)
2,106

1,068
260
(37)
1,291

11,327
6,827
131
(4,294)
(495)
13,496

Net book value
NBV - Owned at 1 April 2014
NBV - Finance Lease at 1 April 2014
NBV - Donated at 1 April 2014
NBV Total at 1 April 2014

39,389
1,350
40,739

89,230
2,651
6,805
98,686

664
664

2,416
20
370
2,806

129
16
145

4,161
13
4,174

943
27
970

136,932
4,021
7,231
148,184

NBV - Owned at 31 March 2015
NBV - Finance Lease at 31 March 2015
NBV - Donated at 31 March 2015
NBV Total at 31 March 2015

41,283
41,283

91,451
2,597
6,846
100,894

657
657

2,827
10
383
3,220

261
12
273

4,773
26
4,799

790
17
807

142,042
2,607
7,284
151,933

Accumulated depreciation at 1 April 2014
Provided during the year
Impairments
Revaluations
Disposals
Accumulated depreciation at 31 March 2015
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8. Property, Plant and Equipment Continued
8.3 Property, Plant and Equipment 2014/15
Land, buildings excluding dwellings, and dwellings have been revalued as at 31 March 2015 using the
valuation as at 28 February 2015 as an approximation to the year end value. This valuation was carried
out by the District Valuers (independent, professionally qualified valuers) from the Valuation Office
Agency, which is an executive agency of HM Revenue and Customs. The valuations were carried out in
accordance with the Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors' Appraisal and Valuation Standards, in so far
as these terms are consistent with the currently applicable and agreed requirements of HM Treasury
and the Trust Regulator, Monitor. In carrying out these valuations, Modern Equivalent Asset basis was
used. In arriving at the valuation, the District Valuer considered alternative sites, and values for
alternative sites were used where appropriate.
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9. Assets held under Finance Lease
9.1 Net book value of assets held under finance leases at the statement of financial
position date
Buildings
excluding
Plant &
Total
Land
dwellings
Machinery
£000
£000
£000
£000
Net Book Value at 31 March 2016
Net Book Value at 31 March 2015

2,759
2,607

-

2,758
2,597

1
10

9.2 The total amount of depreciation charged to the income and expenditure account in
respect of assets held under finance leases and hire purchase contracts

Depreciation 2015/16
Depreciation 2014/15

Total
£000

Land
£000

Buildings
excluding
dwellings
£000

64
128

-

55
118
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Total

Intangible
assets

Property,
Plant and
Equipment

£000

£000

£000

2,334

-

2,334

287

-

287

Less assets sold in the year

(813)

-

(813)

NBV of non-current assets for sale and assets in
disposal groups at 31 March 2016

1,808

-

1,808

10. Non-Current Assets for Sale and Assets in
Disposal Groups 2015/16

NBV of non-current assets for sale and assets in disposal
groups at 1 April 2015
Plus assets classified as available for sale in the year

The non-current assets held for sale are properties, encompassing land and building excluding dwellings.
Following a review of the Trust's properties, the properties included in assets held for sale were considered
to be surplus to requirements. These properties are not commissioner requested services properties and
their disposal does not impact upon the Trust's Commissioner Requested Services.

10.1 Non-Current Assets for Sale and Assets in
Disposal Groups 2014/15

NBV of non-current assets for sale and assets in disposal
groups at 1 April 2014
Less assets sold in the year
Less assets no longer classified as held for sale, for
reasons other than disposal by sale
NBV of non-current assets for sale and assets in
disposal groups at 31 March 2015

Total

Intangible
assets

Property,
Plant and
Equipment

£000

£000

£000

3,226
(603)

-

3,226
(603)

(289)

-

(289)

2,334

-

2,334

10.2 Liabilities in Disposal Groups
There were no liabilities in disposal groups in either 2015/16 or in 2014/15.
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11. Investments
The Trust has a fixed asset investment of £1 in Ansbury Limited, a company limited by
guarantee and registered in England. The Trust is one of 15 members, as at 31st March 2016.
There is no requirement to consolidate the financial results of this company in the Trust's
accounts.
In 2014/15 the Trust also had a fixed asset investment of £1 in New Wave Integrated Care
Limited, a company limited by guarantee and registered in England. The Trust was one of 4
members. The treatment of the investment was reviewed and given that there is no expected
flow of future economic benefit, it was deemed not appropriate to treat this investment as an
associate. This company was liquidated in 2014/15.
Dorset HealthCare Charitable Fund is considered to be a subsidiary of the Trust. Whilst the
Trust does not have any investment in the Charitable Fund, the Trustees of the Charitable
Fund are all members of the Trust's board and so is deemed to have control over the
Charitable Fund. It is normally a requirement to consolidate subsidiaries where significant and
the Trust has taken the decision not to consolidate on the basis that the Charitable Fund is not
material to the Trust's accounts.
The principal place of business of the Charitable Fund and the Trust is Sentinel House, 4-6
Nuffield Road, Poole, Dorset, BH17 0RB.
Funds within the Charitable Fund are to be used for the objects of the Charitable Fund. These
are to benefit the staff and patients of the Trust. These funds cannot be used to settle NHS
(the Trust) expenditure.
12. Disclosure of aggregate amounts for assets and liabilities of jointly controlled
operations
There were no jointly controlled operations in either 2015/16 or in 2014/15.
13. Inventories
13.1 Inventories

Drugs
Consumables
Other

13.2 Inventories recognised in expenses

Inventories recognised as an expense in the year
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31 March 2016
£000

31 March 2015
£000

131
20
587

147
48
560

738

755

2015/16

2014/15

£000

£000

(3,549)

(4,367)

(3,549)

(4,367)
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14. Receivables
14.1 Trade and Other Receivables
31 March 2016
£000

31 March 2015
Restated
£000

NHS receivables - Revenue
Provision for impaired receivables
Prepayments (Non-PFI)
NHS Accrued Income
Accrued Income
PDC dividend receivable
VAT receivable
Other receivables

1,354
(237)
1,759
687
174
423
1,726

2,781
(53)
1,608
1,299
225
75
245
1,265

Total current trade and other receivables

5,886

7,445

Total trade and other receivables

5,886

7,445

31 March 2016
£000

31 March 2015
£000

At 1 April
Increase in provision
Amounts utilised
Unused amounts reversed

53
210
(7)
(19)

59
22
(3)
(25)

At 31 March

237

53

31 March 2016
£000

31 March 2015
£000

Ageing of impaired receivables:
In 0 to 30 days
In 30 to 60 days
In 60 to 90 days
In 90 to 180 days
In over 180 days

90
21
12
114

53

TOTAL

237

53

Current

14.2 Provision for Impairment of Receivables

14.3 Analysis of Impaired Receivables

The factors considered when receivables are impaired include whether there is an ongoing
relationship with the debtor, the evidence to support a claim and whether the debtor is disputing a
debt.
31 March 2016
£000

31 March 2015
£000

800
91
425
175
145

1,291
323
83
347
168

1,636

2,212

Ageing of non impaired receivables past their due date:
In 0 to 30 days
In 30 to 60 days
In 60 to 90 days
In 90 to 180 days
In over 180 days
TOTAL
14.4 Finance Lease Receivables
There are no finance lease receivables in either 2015/16 or in 2014/15.
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15. Other Assets
The Trust has no other assets to disclose at 31 March 2016 or 31 March 2015.

16. Trade and Other Payables
31 March 2016
£000

31 March 2015
Restated
£000

1,370
342
1,719
3,001
3,513
10,227
35
20,207

933
12
672
1,969
2,932
2,969
8,926
18,413

Current
NHS payables - revenue
Amounts due to other related parties - revenue
Other trade payables - capital
Other trade payables - revenue
Social Security costs
Other payables
Accruals
PDC dividend payable
Total trade and other payables

16.1 Trade and other payables - early retirements detail included in NHS payables at 31 March
above:
The Trust has no early retirement payables included in NHS payables above as at 31 March 2016 or 31
March 2015.
17. Other Liabilities
There are no other liabilities to disclose as at 31 March 2016 or 31 March 2015.
18. Borrowings

31 March 2016
£000

31 March 2015
£000

Current
Total current borrowings

1

8

Non-current
Total other non current liabilities

-

1
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19. Finance Lease Obligations
Amounts payable under finance leases:
Minimum lease payments
31 March 2016
£000
1
-

31 March 2015
£000
8
1
-

Net lease liabilities

1

9

Net lease liabilities
- not later than one year;
- later than one year and not later than five years;
- later than five years.

1
-

8
1
-

1

9

Gross lease liabilities
- not later than one year;
- later than one year and not later than five years;
- later than five years.
Less future finance charges

Due to the relatively short term nature of the finance leases, the minimum lease payments is the
same as the present value of the minimum lease payments.
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20. Private Finance Initiative (PFI) Obligations (on Statement of Financial Position)
The Trust does not have any PFI schemes in either 2015/16 or in 2014/15.
21. Provisions

Pensions other staff
£000

Other legal
claims
£000

Other
£000

Total
£000

At 1 April 2015
Change in the discount rate
Arising during the year
Utilised during the year
Reversed unused
Unwinding of discount

256
(1)
11
(22)
3

163
106
(61)
(110)
-

3,281
(8)
801
(311)
(735)
12

3,700
(9)
918
(394)
(845)
15

At 31 March 2016

247

98

3,040

3,385

Expected timing of cashflows:
- not later than one year;
- later than one year and not later than
five years;
- later than five years

8

98

1,269

1,375

32
207

-

567
1,204

599
1,411

TOTAL

247

98

3,040

3,385

The provision under "Other Legal claims" is in respect of the Trust's net liability for claims made against the Trust under
the Liability to Third Parties Scheme as administered on the Trust's behalf by the NHS Litigation Authority, and relates
to 15 outstanding cases (2014/15 19 cases). The Trust's liability is capped at £10k per case.

An amount of £857k (2014/15 £884k) is included under "Other" for the provision of Injury benefit as advised by NHS
Business Services Authority - Pensions Division and has been discounted at 1.37% (2014/15 1.3%). This will be
utilised over the lifetime of the claimants.
Other provisions arise from employment issues, dilapidation to property and other contractual obligations.
A provision of £737k is included in the provisions of the NHS Litigation Authority at 31 March 2016 (£533k at 31 March
2015) in respect of clinical negligence liabilities of the Trust.
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22. Revaluation Reserve
Revaluation
Reserve - assets
held for sale

£000

Revaluation
Reserve property, plant
and equipment
£000

Revaluation reserve at 1 April 2015
Impairments
Revaluations
Asset disposals
Other reserve movements

51,044
(3,859)
10,318
(274)
243

49,462
(3,859)
10,318
189

1,582
(274)
54

Revaluation reserve at 31 March 2016

57,472

56,110

1,362

Revaluation reserve at 1 April 2014
Impairments
Revaluations

49,657
(8,289)
9,676

48,075
(8,289)
9,676

1,582
-

Revaluation reserve at 31 March 2015

51,044

49,462

1,582

31 March 2016

31 March 2015

£000

£000

At 1 April
Net change in year

30,115
618

34,598
(4,483)

At 31 March

30,733

30,115

31 March 2016
£000

31 March 2015
£000

457
30,276
30,733
30,733

974
29,141
30,115
30,115

Total
Revaluation
Reserve

23.1 Cash and Cash Equivalents

Broken down into:
Cash at commercial banks and in hand
Cash with the Government Banking Service
Deposits with the National Loan Fund
Cash and cash equivalents as in SoFP
Bank overdraft
Cash and cash equivalents as in SoCF
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23.2 Third Party Assets held by the Trust
The Trust held £35k (2014/15 £33k) in bank accounts on behalf of third parties. These amounts are not included
within the Trust's accounts.
24.1 Contractual Capital Commitments
Commitments under capital expenditure contracts at 31 March 2016 were £954k (£3,490k at 31 March 2015) in
respect of property, plant and equipment.
24.2 Other Financial Commitments
The Trust's commitment to making payments under non-cancellable contracts (which are not leases,
PFI contracts or other service concession arrangements) as at 31st March 2016 are as follows,
analysed by the period during which the commitment expires:
31 March 2016
£000
1,127
2,471
3,598

Expiry not later than 1 year
Expiry after 1 year and not later than 5 years
Expiry thereafter
Total
24.3 Events after the Reporting Period
There are no events after the reporting period to disclose.
25. Contingent (Liabilities)/ Assets

There are no contingent (liabilities) or assets in 2015/16. In 2014/15 the Trust had contingent liabilities of £1.3m
regarding a legal matter.
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26. Related Party Transactions
The Trust is a body corporate established by order of the Secretary of State for Health.
Ron Shields, Chief Executive, resigned as board member of Health Education Wessex during 2014/15, which is part of Health Education England.
Mr Shields's wife is NHS Director of specialist service commissioning (part of NHS England). Ann Abraham, Chair, was a Non-Executive Director of
Health Education England, but resigned in 2014/15. Arms length transactions and balances with these entities are set out below.
Lynne Hunt, (Non-executive Director), serves as special advisor to the Care Quality Commission. Peter Rawlinson, (Non-executive Director),
serves as Vice Chairman & Trustee of the Stroke Association and Independent board member of Bournemouth University. Michael Beesley, nonexecutive director until 30 April 2014, is the Chairman of Standards Committee for Dorset Police Authority and was a Director of New Wave
Integrated Care Limited, a company in which the Trust was a member until its liquidation in 2014/15, see note 11. During 2014/15, New Wave
Integrated Care Limited donated £75,215 to the Dorset Healthcare Charitable Fund. Dorset HealthCare Charitable Fund is a subsidiary of the Trust.
Gill Fozard resigned as Non-Executive Director on 30th April 2014. Gill Fozard is married to the Medical Director of The Royal Bournemouth &
Christchurch Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. Laurence Mynors-Wallis, resigned from Medical Director on 30th June 2015. Dr Mynors-Wallis was a
Registrar for the Royal College of Psychiatrists, the tenure for this post ended on 30th June 2015. David Brook, Non-Executive Director, was a
Director of Royal National Lifeboat Institution from which he resigned of in August 2015. RNLI College Ltd is a related party of the RNLI.
Transactions are set out below.
Linda Boland's (Locality Director for Poole and East Dorset) husband has a contract to provide psychological support to Dorset County Council.
Transactions are detailed below.
During the year no other Board Member, Non Executive Director, Governors or member of the key management staff or parties related to them, has
undertaken any material transactions with the Trust.
Board members have only received short-term employee benefits from the Trust as shown on Note 4.5. No post-employment benefits, other longterm benefits, share based payments or termination benefits have been received by Board Members in 2015/16 or 2014/15.
The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. HMRC is regarded as a related party of the Department of Health. During the year the
Trust has had a significant number of material transactions with the Department of Health, and with other entities (and or/their predecessor bodies)
for which the Department is regarded as the parent organisation. These entities are listed below.
Related parties of minister and senior managers at the Department of Health include British Telecom. Transactions between the Trust and these
bodies are set out below:

Transaction values with related trading organisations:

2015/16
Income
£000

2015/16
Expenditure
£000

31 March 2016
Receivables
£000

31 March 2016
Payables
£000

NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group
NHS England
Health Education England
NHS Pension scheme
Bournemouth University
Care Quality Commission
Dorest County Council
Royal College of Psychiatrists
British Telecom
Stroke Association
RNLI College Ltd
Department of Health
Other NHS Bodies
HMRC

196,474
27,200
3,063
269
12,049
139
8,355
-

1,962
8
10
18,094
95
540
41
1,028
53
2
10
7,502
9,300

111
673
12
62
298
1,257
423

5
3
2,464
288
53
1,397
3,001

Transaction values with related trading organisations:

2014/15
Income
£000

2014/15
Expenditure
£000

31 March 2015
Receivables
£000

31 March 2015
Payables
£000

NHS Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group
NHS England
The Royal Bournemouth & Christchurch Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust
Health Education England
NHS Pension scheme
Bournemouth University
Royal College of Psychiatrists
British Telecom
Stroke Association
RNLI College Ltd
Department of Health
Other NHS Bodies
HMRC

188,087
32,814
599
3,324
215
52
7,399
-

238
4
851
10
17,398
281
27
998
62
6
6
6,784
9,204

1,045
2,050
137
22
32
5
896
245

105
10
247
2,340
1
22
570
2,932
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26. Related Party Transactions continued

In addition, the Trust has had a number of material transactions with other Government Departments and
other central and local Government bodies.
The Trust has also received revenue of non material amounts from Dorset HealthCare Charitable Fund
where the Trustees are also the members of the Trust Board.
The independently reviewed accounts for Dorset HealthCare Charitable Fund are available from the Trust.

In 2014/15 the Trust had an investment relationship with New Wave Integrated Care Limited. No material
transactions arose with this entity in 2014/15. Details about this investment are disclosed in Note 11.
New Wave Integrated Care has been liquidated during 2014/15.
The Trust also has an investment relationship with Ansbury Limited from 2009/10. There were no material
transactions with this entity in 2015/16 or 2014/15.
There are no material transactions that have been concluded under non market conditions.
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27. Private Finance Initiative (PFI) Schemes deemed to be off-SoFP
The Trust has no PFI schemes as at 31 March 2016 or at 31 March 2015 and the Trust has not committed to make any
payments for PFI schemes during the next year.
28. Financial Instruments
28.1 Financial Assets by Category
Total
£000

Loans and
receivables
£000

Assets at
fair value
£000

Availablefor-sale
£000

Trade and other receivables excluding non
financial assets (at 31 March 2016)
Cash and cash equivalents at bank and in hand (at
31 March 2016)

3,704

3,704

-

-

30,733

30,733

-

-

Total at 31 March 2016

34,437

34,437

-

-

The difference between trade receivables and other receivables shown in note 14.1 and note 28.1 relates to nonfinancial assets which are prepayments and VAT receivable.

Trade and other receivables excluding non
financial assets (at 31 March 2015)

Total
£000

Loans and
receivables
£000

Assets at
fair value
£000

Availablefor-sale
£000

5,517

5,517

-

-

Cash and cash equivalents at bank and in hand (at
31 March 2015)

30,115

30,115

-

-

Total at 31 March 2015

35,632

35,632

-

-

The difference between trade receivables and other receivables shown in note 14.1 and note 28.1 relates to nonfinancial assets which are prepayments, PDC receivable and VAT receivable.
The above assets at fair values are through the Statement of Comprehensive Income.
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28. Financial Instruments Continued
28.2 Financial Liabilities by Category

Total
£000

Other financial
liabilities
£000

Liabilities at
fair value
£000

Borrowings excluding Finance lease and
PFI liabilities
Obligations under finance leases
Trade and other payables excluding non
financial liabilities
Provisions under contract

1

1

-

15,041
2,281

15,041
2,281

-

Total at 31 March 2016

17,323

17,323

-

Borrowings and finance leases are shown in note 18.1. The difference between trade and other payables
shown in note 16 and note 28.2 relate to non-financial liabilities of £2,130k shown in Other Payables, £35k
shown in PDC Dividend payable and £3,001k shown in Taxes payable. Provisions are shown in note 21.
The difference between note 21 and note 28.2 relate to non-financial liabilities of Pensions - other staff, and
£857k shown in Other.

Total
£000

Other financial
liabilities
£000

Liabilities at
fair value
£000

Borrowings excluding Finance lease and
PFI liabilities
Obligations under finance leases
Trade and other payables excluding non
financial liabilities (31 March 2015)
Provisions under contract

9

9

-

13,745
2,560

13,745
2,560

-

Total at 31 March 2015

16,314

16,314

-

Borrowings and finance leases are shown in note 18.1. The difference between trade and other payables
shown in note 16 and note 28.2 relate to non-financial liabilities of £1,736k shown in Other Payables and
£2,932k shown in Taxes payable. Provisions are shown in note 21. The difference between note 21 and
note 28.2 relate to non-financial liabilities of Pensions - other staff, and £884k shown in Other.

28.3 Maturity of Financial Liabilities

In one year or less
In more than one year but not more than two years
In more than two years but not more than five years
In more than five years
Total
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31 March 2016

31 March 2015

£000

£000

17,323
17,323

16,313
1
16,314
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28 Financial Instruments Continued
28.4 Financial Instruments - Risks
Market risk
(a) Interest rate risk - The Trust's financial assets and liabilities carry nil, variable and fixed rates of interest. Variable rates are
applicable to the Trust's deposit accounts, the most significant of which is with the Government Banking Service (GBS). GBS interest
rate varies in line with the Bank of England base rates. Other deposits are placed with other organisations for a maximum of 3
months. The rate is agreed in advance which reduces the interest rate risk. The Trust is therefore not exposed to significant interest
rate risk.
(b) Currency risk - The Trust has no significant foreign currency transactions and is therefore not exposed to significant currency
risk.
(c) Credit and liquidity risk - The Trust's significant operating income is incurred under contracts with local NHS Clinical
Commissioning Groups, NHS England and Local Authority, which are financed from resources voted annually by Parliament. The
Trust finances its capital expenditure from internally generated funds. The Trust is therefore not exposed to significant credit or
liquidity risks.
28.5a Fair Values of Financial Assets at 31 March 2016
The book value and market value of non-current trade and other receivables excluding non-financial assets was £nil.
Basis of fair valuation - see note a
28.5b Fair Values of Financial Assets at 31 March 2015
The book value and fair value of non-current trade and other receivables excluding non-financial assets was £nil.
Basis of fair valuation - see note a
Notes
a Fair value is not different from book value.
28.6a Fair Values of Financial Liabilities at 31 March 2016

Non current trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities
Provisions under contracts
Loans
Other
Total

Book Value

Fair Value

£000

£000

934
934

934
934

Book Value

Fair Value

£000

£000

2,560
2,560

2,560
2,560

Basis of fair
valuation

Note b

28.6b Fair Values of Financial Liabilities at 31 March 2015

Non current trade and other payables excluding non financial liabilities
Provisions under contracts
Loans
Other
Total
Notes
b Fair value is not different from book value.
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29. Defined benefit pension schemes and plan assets
29.1 Changes in the benefit obligation and fair value of plan assets during the year for the amounts
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.
There are no pension schemes accounted for as defined benefit schemes and therefore no plan assets during
either 2015/16 or 2014/15.
29.2 Reconciliation of the present value of the defined benefit obligation and the present value of the plan
assets to the assets and liabilities recognised in the statement of financial position
There are no pension schemes accounted for as defined benefit schemes and therefore no plan assets during
either 2015/16 or 2014/15.
30. Losses and Special Payments
Cash losses
Fruitless payments and constructive losses
Damage to buildings and property etc.
Bad debts and claims abandoned (excluding NHS Bodies)
Compensation under legal obligation
Special payments - ex-gratia payments
Special severance payments
Extra statutory and regulatory

31 March 2016
£000
Number
13
28
1
2
3
21
3
2
29
20
1
1
49
75

The ex-gratia payments made were in respect of loss of personal effects/ compensation.
There were no cases exceeding £250,000 for the current year (2014/15 no cases).
These amounts are reported on an accruals basis but exclude provisions for future losses.
31. Discontinued Operations
There were no discontinued operations in either 2015/16 or in 2014/15.
32. Corporation Tax
The Trust had no corporation tax liability for either 2015/16 or 2014/15.
33. Other Financial Assets
The Trust had no other financial assets in either 2015/16 or 2014/15.
34. Other Financial Liabilities
The Trust had no other financial liabilities in either 2015/16 or 2014/15.
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31 March 2015
£000
Number
20
17
118
1
1
4
3
15
2
11
44
4
188
52
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35. Pooled Budget Arrangements
From 1 April 2015 community equipment has been part of the Better Care Fund. Dorset CCG is the only health partner signatory on
the Section 75 Agreement for the Better Care Fund, as such Dorset CCG will be the only health partner to appear on this year’s
Partnership Account issued by Bournemouth Council, and so it will show only the total health partner funding amount of £5,058k.
The fund broke even in 15/16 and there will be no risk share liability for the health partners.
The Trust was part of the Integrated Community Equipment Store Section 75 Agreement for 2014/15 which has since been transferred
to a Better Card Fund in 2015/16. The relevant information for the 2015/16 pooled budget is as follows:
Gross Partner Funding :
Investment and Risk as per Section 75 Agreement
Bournemouth Borough Council
Borough of Poole
Dorset County Council
Dorset CCG
Dorset HealthCare University NHS FT
The Royal Bournemouth & Christchurch Hospitals NHS FT
Dorset County Hospital NHS FT
Poole Hospital NHS FT

Cash

Staff

Other

Total

551,562
552,464
1,439,027
2,751,482
1,600,128
346,294
184,631
175,026
7,600,614

-

-

551,562
552,464
1,439,027
2,751,482
1,600,128
346,294
184,631
175,026
7,600,614

-

-

Partner allocation: Local Authority
Partner allocation: CCG

(68,514)
(139,104)

-

-

(68,514)
(139,104)

Total Funding

7,392,996

-

-

7,392,996

Integrated Equipment Service

7,392,996

-

-

7,392,996

Total Expenditure

7,392,996

-

-

7,392,996

-

-

-

-

7.26%
7.27%
18.93%
36.20%
21.05%
4.56%
2.43%
2.30%
100.0%

Expenditure

Net underspend/overspend

The Trust was part of Section 75 Agreement for 2014/15 and relevant information is as follows:
Gross Partner Funding :
Investment and Risk as per Section 75 Agreement

Cash

Dorset County Council - Adult Services
Dorset County Council - Children's Services
Dorset HealthCare
Dorset HealthCare - Learning Disability
Dorset PCT - (New) Other Acute Hospitals
Dorset PCT - Dorset CHC
Dorset County Hospitals NHS FT
Dorset County Council

1,145,507
165,362
1,703,945
6,486
236,136
106,439
211,096
200,000

-

-

1,145,507
165,362
1,703,945
6,486
236,136
106,439
211,096
200,000

30.34%
4.38%
45.14%
0.17%
6.26%
2.82%
5.59%
5.30%

3,774,971

-

-

3,774,971

100.0%

821,629

-

-

821,629

4,596,600

-

-

4,596,600

Integrated Equipment Service

4,596,600

-

-

4,596,600

Total Expenditure

4,596,600

-

-

4,596,600

-

-

-

-

Sale of Pre-Contract Commissioner Owned Equipment
Total Funding

Staff

Other

Total

Expenditure

Net underspend/overspend

36. The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998
The Trust had £7k (£3k 2014/15) interest paid arising from claims made or compensation paid in 2015/16 in relation to debt recovery
costs under this legislation.
Page A50

